## EVALUATION OF HONG KONG'S INDOOR AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT PROGRAMME: CERTIFICATION SCHEME, OBJECTIVES, AND TECHNOLOGY



By: Arlina Anderson Alan Cheung Melinda Lei

February 27, 2014

## EVALUATION OF HONG KONG'S INDOOR AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT PROGRAMME: CERTIFICATION SCHEME, OBJECTIVES, AND TECHNOLOGY

Interactive Qualifying Project Report completed in partial fulfillment Of the Bachelor of Science degree at Worcester Polytechnic Institute, Worcester, MA

by:

Arlina A. Anderson

Alan Y. Cheung

Melinda W. Lei

In Collaboration with Business Environment Council Limited

Report Submitted to:

Advisor: Professor Constance Clark

Advisor: Professor Zhikun Hou

Date: February 27, 2014

This report represents work of WPI undergraduate students submitted to the faculty as evidence of a degree requirement. WPI routinely publishes these reports on its web site without editorial or peer review. For more information about the projects program at WPI, see <u>http://www.wpi.edu/Academics/Projects</u>.

# Abstract

This study, sponsored by the Business Environment Council, investigated people's perceptions of indoor air quality (IAQ) in shopping malls certified under the Hong Kong IAQ Certification Scheme and uncertified Hong Kong shopping malls. Questionnaires were utilized to collect people's opinions and data were analyzed with statistical tests. Questionnaire results indicated no statistical difference between people's perception of IAQ in certified and uncertified malls. Questionnaire results may be an indication of malls not maintaining IAQ standards post-certification. An update of Hong Kong's IAQ Objectives was recommended after comparison with international IAQ guidelines. Summaries of some of the latest IAQ technologies were included in this report to be used as a potential future resource.

# Acknowledgements

We cannot express enough thanks to Business Environment Council Limited for sponsoring this project and providing their continuous support. Specifically, we would like to thank Dr. Veronica Chan for being the liaison between Business Environment Council Limited and us. She was always willing to take time out of her busy schedule to provide her guidance and assistance to us. Her guidance, feedback, and understanding were greatly appreciated. The completion of this project could not have been accomplished without the help, support, and encouragement of our advisors, Professors Clark and Hou, as well as Professor Zeugner for helping us in our proposal.

Furthermore, we would like to thank Professor Peet, the IGSD office, and WPI for planning and providing this learning opportunity. Without them, this project center would not exist and we are thankful to them for creating this project opportunity for us with the Business Environment Council Limited.

Lastly, we want to offer Mall 3 our most sincere gratitude for permitting us to survey inside their shopping mall. The data from Mall 3 are a valuable part of this project and we were pleased to collaborate with Mall 3 to help improve the indoor air quality.

# Authorship

Title Page:	Melinda Lei
Abstract:	Arlina Anderson
Acknowledgements:	Melinda Lei
Authorship Page:	Melinda Lei
Table of Contents:	Melinda Lei
List of Tables:	Melinda Lei
List of Figures:	Melinda Lei
Executive Summary:	Arlina Anderson, Alan Cheung, Melinda Lei
Introduction:	Arlina Anderson, Alan Cheung, Melinda Lei
Background:	Arlina Anderson, Alan Cheung, Melinda Lei
Methodology:	
A. Objective I:	Alan Cheung
B. Objective II:	Melinda Lei
C. Objective III:	Arlina Anderson
Results and Discussion / Analysis:	
A. Questionnaire Results:	Alan Cheung
B. Standard Results:	Melinda Lei
C. Technology Results:	Arlina Anderson, Melinda Lei
Conclusions and Recommendations:	Arlina Anderson, Alan Cheung, Melinda Lei
References:	Arlina Anderson, Alan Cheung, Melinda Lei
Glossary:	Arlina Anderson, Alan Cheung, Melinda Lei
Appendix A:	Arlina Anderson, Alan Cheung, Melinda Lei
Appendix B:	Melinda Lei
Appendix C:	Alan Cheung

# Table of Contents

Title Page	1
Abstract	2
Acknowledgements	3
Authorship Page	4
Table of Contents	5
List of Tables	6
List of Figures	8
Executive Summary	
1. Introduction	14
2. Background	
2.1. Indoor Air Quality (IAQ) & its Significance	,,,, 20
2.2. IAQ of Hong Kong	
2.3. International IAQ Programs	35
2.4. Review of Hong Kong's IAQ Program	41
2.5. Project Purpose, Goal & Objectives	48
3. Methodology	49
3.1. Objective I: Surveying Shopping Malls and Data Analysis	49
3.2. Objective II: Researching IAQ Parameter Guidelines	62
3.3. Objective III: Researching IAQ Technology	63
4. Results and Discussion/Analysis	64
4.1. Questionnaire Results	64
4.2. Comparing Hong Kong's IAQ Objectives & International Guidelines	112
4.3. Recent IAQ Technology	121
5. Conclusions and Recommendations	126
References	131
	148
Appendix A: Mission and Organization of the Sponsoring Agency	150
Appendix B: Questionnaires	152
Appendix C: Summary of Inferential Statistics	154

# List of Tables

Table 2.1: Examples of Pollutants, Sources, and Health Impacts	22
Table 2.2: Criteria for IAQ Certification Scheme	30
Table 2.3: Measurement Devices for IAQ Parameters	31
Table 2.4: Criteria for individual VOCs for 'Good' class for TVOC objective of IAQ Certification Scheme	33
Table 2.5: Visits to the IAQ Information Centre (2007 to 2010)	42
Table 2.6: Required and Completed School Visits by the IAQ Information Centre	43
Table 2.7: Participation in the IAQ Certification Scheme from 2003 – 2010	47
Table 3.1: Certification Class and Location of the Shopping Malls	51
Table 3.2: Summary of Statistical Tests Used for Analysis of Independent Variables	61
Table 3.3: Summary of Analyzed Independent Variables and their Independent Groups	61
Table 4.1: Mann-Whitney U Test Results for Survey Location	72
Table 4.2: Median of Dependent Variables with Respect to Survey Location	73
Table 4.3: Cross Tabulation of "Air Quality" Question 8 and Survey Location	78
Table 4.4: Chi-Square Test of "Air Quality" Question 8 with Respect to Survey Location	78
Table 4.5: Cross Tabulation of "Air Quality" Question 9 and Survey Location	79
Table 4.6: Chi-Square Test of "Air Quality" Question 9 with Respect to Survey Location	79
Table 4.7: Mann-Whitney U Test Results for Certification Status	82
Table 4.8: Median of Dependent Variables with Respect to Certification Status	83
Table 4.9: Cross Tabulation of "Air Quality" Question 8 and Certification Status	90
Table 4.10: Chi-Square Test of "Air Quality" Question 8 with Respect to Certification Status	91
Table 4.11: Cross Tabulation of "Air Quality" Question 9 and Certification Status	91
Table 4.12: Chi-Square Test of "Air Quality" Question 9 with Respect to Certification Status	92
Table 4.13: Kruskal-Wallis Test Result for the Sum of the Weighted Scores with Respect to Certification Class	93
Table 4.14: Median of Sum of Weighted Scores with Respect to Certification Class	93
Table 4.15: Kruskal-Wallis Test Results for "Air Quality" Questions with Respect to Certification Class	96

Table 4.16: Mean, Standard Deviation, and Median of "Air Quality" Questions	97
Table 4.17: Cross Tabulation of "Air Quality" Question 8 and Certification Class	105
Table 4.18: Chi-Square Test of "Air Quality" Question 8 with Respect to Certification Class	106
Table 4.19: Cross Tabulation of "Air Quality" Question 9 and Certification Class	106
Table 4.20: Chi-Square Test of "Air Quality" Question 9 with Respect to Certification Class	107
Table 4.21: Mean, Number, Standard Deviation, and Median of the Sum of the Weighted   Scores with Respect to the Malls	109
Table 4.22: Carbon Monoxide (CO) Guidelines	113
Table 4.23: Respirable Suspended Particulates (RSP) Guidelines	114
Table 4.24: Ozone (O <sub>3</sub> ) Guidelines	115
Table 4.25: Formaldehyde (HCHO) Guidelines	116
Table 4.26: Radon (Rn) Guidelines	116
Table 4.27: Total Volatile Organic Compounds (TVOC) Guidelines	118
Table 4.28: Carbon Dioxide (CO <sub>2</sub> ) Guidelines	118
Table 4.29: Nitrogen Dioxide (NO <sub>2</sub> ) Guidelines	119
Table 4.30: Airborne Bacteria Count (ABC) Guidelines	120
Table 4.31: Airborne Fungi Guidelines	120

# List of Figures

Figure 2.1: IAQ Management Programme and its Tasks	27
Figure 3.1: Map of Three Regions in Hong Kong	50
Figure 3.2: First Six "Air Quality" Questions in the Questionnaire	53
Figure 3.3: Calculating Weighted Scores of "Air Quality" Questions 1-6	54
Figure 3.4: Sample Questionnaire of Best Weighted-Score Sum	55
Figure 3.5: Sample Questionnaire of Worst Weighed-Score Sum	56
Figure 4.1: Number of Questionnaires Collected at Each Mall	65
Figure 4.2: Survey Location Demographic	66
Figure 4.3: Gender Demographic	67
Figure 4.4: Age Demographic	67
Figure 4.5: Age and Gender Demographics	68
Figure 4.6: Residency Demographic	69
Figure 4.7: Tourist's Country Demographic	69
Figure 4.8: Boxplot of the Sum of Weighted Scores and Survey Location Figure 4.9: Result for "Air Quality" Question 1 with Respect to Survey Location	70 73
Figure 4.10: Result for "Air Quality" Question 2 with Respect to Survey Location	74
Figure 4.11: Result for "Air Quality" Question 3 with Respect to Survey Location	74
Figure 4.12: Result for "Air Quality" Question 4 with Respect to Survey Location	75
Figure 4.13: Result for "Air Quality" Question 5 with Respect to Survey Location	75
Figure 4.14: Result for "Air Quality" Question 6 with Respect to Survey Location	76
Figure 4.15: Result for "Air Quality" Question 10 with Respect to Survey Location	76
Figure 4.16: Result for "Air Quality" Question 11 with Respect to Survey Location	77
Figure 4.17: Result for the Sum of the Weighted Scores with Respect to Survey Location	77
Figure 4.18: Boxplot of the Sum of Weighted Scores and Certification Status	81
Figure 4.19: Result for "Air Quality" Question 1 with Respect to Certification Status	83
Figure 4.20: Result for "Air Quality" Question 2 with Respect to Certification Status	84
Figure 4.21: Result for "Air Quality" Question 3 with Respect to Certification Status	84
Figure 4.22: Result for "Air Quality" Question 4 with Respect to Certification Status	85
Figure 4.23: Result for "Air Quality" Question 5 with Respect to Certification Status	85
Figure 4.24: Result for "Air Quality" Question 6 with Respect to Certification Status	86

Figure 4.25: Result for "Air Quality" Question 10 with Respect to Certification Status	86
Figure 4.26: Result for "Air Quality" Question 11 with Respect to Certification Status Figure 4.27: Result for the Sum of the Weighted Scores with Respect to Certification	87
Status	87
Figure 4.28: Graph of Number of Questionnaires at Certified Malls with Respect to Survey Location	89
Figure 4.29: Graph of Number of Questionnaires at Uncertified Malls with Respect to Survey Location	89
Figure 4.30: Boxplot of Sum of Weighted Scores with Respect to Certification Class	94
Figure 4.31: Boxplot of "Air Quality" Question 1 with Respect to Certification Class	98
Figure 4.32: Boxplot of "Air Quality" Question 2 with Respect to Certification Class	98
Figure 4.33: Boxplot of "Air Quality" Question 3 with Respect to Certification Class	99
Figure 4.34: Boxplot of "Air Quality" Question 4 with Respect to Certification Class	99
Figure 4.35: Boxplot of "Air Quality" Question 5 with Respect to Certification Class	100
Figure 4.36: Boxplot of "Air Quality" Question 6 with Respect to Certification Class	100
Figure 4.37: Boxplot of "Air Quality" Question 10 with Respect to Certification Class Figure 4.38: Pairwise Comparisons Post-Hoc Test of "Air Quality" Question 10 with	101
Respect to Certification Class	102
Figure 4.39: Boxplot of "Air Quality" Question 11 with Respect to Certification Class Figure 4.40: Pairwise Comparisons Post-Hoc Test of "Air Quality" Question 11 with	103
Respect to Certification Class	104
Figure 4.41: Boxplot of the Sum of the Weighted Scores with Respect to the Malls	109
Figure 4.42: Pairwise Comparisons Post-Hoc Test for the Sum of the Weighted Scores	
with Respect to the Malls	110
Figure B.1: Questionnaire English Version	152
Figure B.2: Questionnaire Chinese Version	153

No copyrighted illustrations were used without permission in this project

## **Executive Summary**

Indoor air quality (IAQ) is the comfortable range of parameters that influence the quality of the air such as the temperature, relative humidity, and concentration of gases. Buildings designed to keep outdoor air out of the buildings for energy efficiency coupled with inadequate ventilation can lead to the accumulation of indoor air pollutants. In Hong Kong, air ventilation is often controlled by mechanical ventilating air conditioning systems, or MVAC systems, MVAC systems can have poor ventilation contributing to poor IAQ. Poor IAQ can lead to two major health threats, Sick Building Syndrome (SBS) and Building Related Illnesses (BRIs). Around the year 2000, the government of Hong Kong conducted studies that showed that Hong Kong's IAQ was very poor. A major contributor to Hong Kong's poor IAQ is the ease with which fungi and bacteria can grow in Hong Kong due to its high humidity, temperatures, and crowded spaces.

The Hong Kong Environmental Protection Department (EPD) established the IAQ Management Group to confront the IAQ issue in Hong Kong. The IAQ Management Group initiated four main tasks of the IAQ Management Programme in 2003 to define satisfactory IAQ levels and raise the awareness of IAQ. Of the four main tasks of the IAQ Management Programme, two were focused on in this project, the *IAQ Certification Scheme for Offices and Public Places* and the IAQ Objectives that provided guideline values for a number of air pollutants. The latest study done on people's views and experiences with IAQ in Hong Kong released in March 2010, revealed that the majority of people were dissatisfied with the IAQ and were suffering from illnesses linked to indoor air pollution (Ipsos, 2010). In 2011, the tasks of the IAQ Management Programme were reviewed by the Hong Kong government's Department of Audit Commission, which gave recommendations for the improvement of initiatives carrying out the tasks (Audit Commission, 2011).

This project was another study on people's experiences with IAQ. The effectiveness of the Certification Scheme in improving the IAQ of Hong Kong shopping malls and the public's awareness of the Scheme was evaluated based on people's questionnaire responses. The questionnaires were printed in English and in Chinese. The IAQ Objectives were compared to the World Health Organization's (WHO) and various countries' recommended IAQ guidelines. In addition, the project involved researching newly released or developing products and technologies created to improve IAQ. Through the research, a few technologies were identified as potentially beneficial to Hong Kong buildings.

Questionnaires were conducted for a five-week period and data were analyzed. Comparisons of certification classes and certification statuses of shopping malls were conducted through Pearson's chi-square test, Mann-Whitney U test, Kruskal-Wallis test, and pairwise comparisons. Analyses of questionnaires can be found in the Results section and a copy of the questionnaire has been included in Appendix B.

In order to compare Hong Kong's IAQ Objectives to those of other countries and WHO (World Health Organization), research was conducted online and the standards for different airborne contaminants were put into tables where they could be easily compared. Conclusions were then drawn after evaluating the tables and recommendations were made to update Hong Kong's IAQ Objectives.

Research was also conducted in order to choose recent IAQ products and technologies that might benefit Hong Kong buildings. After research was completed, products were compared according to the needs of Hong Kong buildings so that the most relevant technologies could be recommended for the Hong Kong building owners to further review. The results of this study showed that data collected of people's opinions of the IAQ of uncertified and certified shopping malls were not statistically different and therefore people perceived the IAQ of uncertified and certified malls to be of the same quality. Within the certification classes of 'Excellent,' "Good,' and uncertified, the results showed that people reported the IAQ of 'Excellent' class shopping malls to be worse than that of 'Good' and uncertified shopping malls. From these results, it was concluded that certified Hong Kong shopping malls might be letting their IAQ worsen between certification inspections. The recommendation followed that the physical measurements of the twelve IAQ parameters be taken in certified shopping malls to validate this conclusion. If the measurements support the conclusion, then it is recommended that the IAQ Certification Scheme request more frequent inspections of malls that are certified. From people's opinions of IAQ in uncertified malls, it was also concluded that uncertified malls may meet the requirements to become certified, and it was therefore recommended that uncertified malls that have not yet gone through the certification process do so.

Researching the IAQ Objectives resulted in observations that Hong Kong's IAQ Objectives are on par with those of other countries and WHO for the most part. Nevertheless, it was still recommended that the EPD update Hong Kong's IAQ Objectives due to three parameters that were significantly higher than those of other countries or WHO's. The three parameters were RSP (respirable suspended particulates), TVOC (total volatile organic compounds), and airborne fungi.

Lastly, researching the latest IAQ technology resulted in a synopsis of Enhanced Media Filtration (EMF) technology, Photocatalytic Oxidation, and the Honeywell IAQPoint2. Hong Kong shopping mall owners were advised to look out for updates and more research done on EMF technology and Photocatalytic Oxidation. The mall owners should also determine if investing in the Honeywell IAQPoint2, or similar technologies, would be an asset for them after completing a cost-benefit analysis.

This project, consisting of three objectives, evaluated aspects of the IAQ Management Programme through analysis of questionnaire data, research on the IAQ Objectives, and research on technology that would help Hong Kong shopping malls better adhere to the IAQ Objectives.

# **1**. Introduction

It is not uncommon to spend most of the day inside a building between school, work, and family time. Recently, an investigation of time budgets found that United States residents spend an average of 88% of their day inside buildings and 7% of their day inside vehicles. This meant that only 5% of the residents' time was spent outdoors (Robinson and Nelson, 1995). In 2010, the World Health Organization (WHO) estimated that four million people die every year from causes relating to indoor air pollution which is more than the death toll of acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS) and malaria combined (Bruce, Perez-Dapilla, Albalak, 2010).

Indoor air quality (IAQ) is defined as the comfortable range of "the temperature, humidity, ventilation and chemical or biological contaminants of the air inside a building" (NDSU, n.d.). IAQ is a measure of air cleanliness within a building and is important because people spend most of their time indoors. When IAQ is unsatisfactory, a condition known as Sick Building Syndrome (SBS) can occur in building occupants along with Building Related Illnesses (BRIs). SBS has been reported in many countries, including the United Kingdom, United States, China, Sweden, Denmark, Australia and the Netherlands. Symptoms of SBS consist of headaches, eye, nose, and throat irritation, coughing, nausea, dizziness, and difficulty in concentration (EPA, 2013; Godish 1995). Building occupants experience these symptoms within buildings but the symptoms disappear or improve significantly after the occupant leaves the building. Because the symptoms of SBS disappear or improve significantly after the building occupant leaves, SBS is hard to diagnose and treat. It is difficult to determine if SBS is caused by "insufficient ventilation or thermal control, inadequate maintenance of building systems," lighting, noise, or another factor but it can be determined that SBS is linked to specific buildings

(Godish, 1995). Though the exact cause of SBS cannot be determined, one major cause of the symptoms has been determined to be poor IAQ. Often times, building occupants don't have control over the indoor environment around them, which leads to recurring health problems among building occupants. In addition to health problems stemming from SBS, building occupants affected by BRI experience worsened SBS symptoms. BRIs are diagnosable illnesses whose sources can be traced back to specific air pollutants. Examples of BRIs include allergic reactions, hypersensitivity pneumonitis, humidifier fever, asthma, fiberglass dermatitis, and Legionnaires' Disease. Unlike SBS, BRI symptoms are non-specific and cannot be traced back to specific buildings (Godish, 1995).

The effects of SBS not only cause symptoms but can have additional consequences as well. The Cooperative Research Centres in Australia estimated that because of the lack of concentration and absence from work due to SBS, the Australian economy suffers a loss of \$12 billion a year (CRC Association, 2012). In addition, the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) found that, within its company, the EPA was losing up to \$2 million per year due to SBS among its employees. It is estimated that if office workers in the United States lost "an average of 6 minutes productive concentration per day, the national impact on productivity would be projected to be on the order of \$10 billion a year" (Godish, 1995). A national impact on the order of \$10 billion per year means that each year the United States loses \$10 billion assuming that each day every office worker is unproductive for six minutes due to SBS. This estimation only includes United States office workers and does not take into account other professions and their loss of productivity from SBS. Concerns for IAQ span worldwide as people's health is affected by the unsatisfactory air in buildings. In 2000, indoor air pollution accounted for approximately 41,000 deaths due to respiratory diseases in Africa. Also, in the

year 2000, indoor smoke caused 118,000 deaths in the East-Mediterranean region: 22,000 from respiratory diseases and 95,000 from respiratory infections. In the East-Mediterranean, much of the indoor air pollution can be attributed to indoor smoke from cooking. Similarly, in the same year, 26,000 Americans died from respiratory diseases and infections attributed to indoor smoke (WHO, n.d.). In China particularly where it is known to have bad outdoor air pollution, the improvement of IAQ is essential.

In China, outdoor air pollution is a problematic issue. Smog generated from factories, vehicles, and coal-burning enshrouds many cities. Pedestrians wear dust masks to help shield themselves from harmful air particles. Without much success, Beijing has made many actions to curb the smog problem, such as shutting down polluting factories, limiting the number of vehicles on the road, and banning outdoor barbecues (Li, 2013).

Even still, days when cities are blanketed in smog are not uncommon. On October 21, 2013, the city of Harbin was shut down by severe smog. The airport, elementary and middle schools, and some public bus routes were forced to close as visibility was reduced to ten meters. An index that measures particulate matter (PM<sub>2.5</sub>), which consists of small airborne particles posing the greatest health risk, reached a level 3.3 times greater than the hazardous level. The smog was blamed on the first day of heating being started for winter (Rose, 2013). On November 7, 2013, Shanghai's air quality reached "severe pollution" levels as smog covered the city, forcing many to stay indoors. Shanghai's education authorities warned students to avoid outdoor activities and to stay indoors hoping to protect them from exposure to harmful outdoor air pollutants (Li, 2013).

With more people staying indoors to protect themselves from the outdoor pollution, the demand for cleaner indoor air has significantly increased. Many businesses, such as Central

China Television and China Telecom, and Beijing's local government have sought to install equipment for air pollution control in their offices to lower the concentration of  $PM_{2.5}$ . The Chinese market for air purifiers is expected to grow 34% per year over the next five years, as of 2013 (Shao, 2013).

With a greater demand for cleaner IAQ, the Hong Kong government recognized the problems of IAQ after office building breakouts of illnesses were reported by employees. After some investigation, the cause of these office illness breakouts was traced back to IAQ issues. The Total Exposure Assessment Methodology (TEAM) study conducted by the United States EPA determined that concentrations of air pollutants were significantly higher in indoor air than outdoor air (Wallace, 1987). The fact that in Hong Kong, approximately 40% of citizens are students while another 30% are office workers who spend most of their time indoors, made the results of the TEAM study a major concern (Chan, Guo, Lee, Li, 2002). In 1986, the Hong Kong Environmental Protection Department (EPD) was created "to co-ordinate and carry out pollution prevention and control activities." The EPD's vision is to create a Hong Kong

which enjoys an environment that is both healthy and pleasant; in which the community places a premium on sustaining such an environment for both themselves and future generations, and pursues sustainable development; and in which the community enjoys a reliable and safe energy supply at reasonable prices, while improving energy efficiency, promoting energy conservation and minimizing the environmental impacts from the production and use of energy (HKEPD, 2005).

The Hong Kong EPD set in motion investigations to evaluate IAQ within its region and the results confirmed unsatisfactory IAQ including unhealthy levels of airborne bacteria in many of its buildings.

The Hong Kong government has taken some major steps to address the issues of IAQ in Hong Kong. Under the management of the EPD, the government established the IAQ Management Group comprised of three government bureaus and ten departments in 1998 (Burnett, 2005; The Government of the HKSAR IAQ Management Group, 2003b). This management group produced guidelines for IAQ in various enclosed places, including commercial buildings. Under the EPD, the IAQ Objectives was initiated in 2003 to define acceptable levels of twelve parameters that affect IAQ and to improve IAQ by creating the *IAQ Certification Scheme for Offices and Public Places*. The Certification Scheme is a voluntary program for buildings to obtain a certificate that can be displayed to show that they have acceptable IAQ should the buildings fulfill the IAQ Objectives. As of February 2014, the scheme had 420 buildings participating, 57 of which were shopping malls (Indoor Air Quality Information Centre, 2014).

The IAQ in Hong Kong shopping malls is very important. Many people spend much time working or shopping in malls, and malls play a large role in Hong Kong's tourism and economy. Forty-eight million visitors entered Hong Kong in 2012 and accounted for 33% of retail sales. There were approximately sixty-four thousand establishments in the retail industry in 2012 (Hong Kong Economy, 2013). Retail industry establishments include supermarkets, electrical goods, medicine, furniture, optical, stationary and gift shops, jewelry, clothing, and shoe stores, all of which can be found within Hong Kong malls (Cheung, 2011). Through the style and structure of Hong Kong malls, visitors are capable of buying a wide variety of goods and products in a centralized location. The convenience of the shopping malls makes them popular among tourists as well as Hong Kong locals. Retail trade accounts for nearly nine percent of Hong Kong's gross domestic product (Hong Kong Economy, 2013). Since malls are an important aspect in Hong Kong's economy and shopping is not only a tourist attraction but

also part of the local culture, good IAQ needs to be maintained in shopping malls to protect the health and comfort of mall occupants.

One cause of poor IAQ in Hong Kong buildings, including shopping malls, is inadequate ventilation rates of mechanical ventilating air-conditioning (MVAC) systems. MVAC systems are widely used in Hong Kong and can trap bacteria in their air ducts, allowing for the proliferation of colonies of airborne bacteria and fungi if not properly maintained or cleaned (Atencio, 1999; EPA, 2012, 2013). The MVAC systems' contributions to poor IAQ as well as the previously mentioned irritants, such as smoke and outdoor air pollution, are important issues that should be addressed through emerging updated or new technology.

Technology is ever changing and being updated and it is important for Hong Kong to know of the latest technology in IAQ improvement. Being well informed in the latest IAQ technology will allow building owners to make a well-informed decision when an upgrade or new part is needed. New technology may be more energy efficient, saving money and better serving the needs of building occupants. The EPD in 2003 recommended MVAC systems as the most effective way to achieve good IAQ. Since 2003, more advanced technologies relating to IAQ have been developed with some technologies capable of being incorporated into MVAC systems. Advanced air conditioners and upgrades will make for even better IAQ in Hong Kong buildings. Certain shopping malls in Hong Kong have started using new technology to create environments with good IAQ for their patrons. An example of up-to-date technology used in a Hong Kong shopping mall is a carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) detector that adjusts the level of CO<sub>2</sub> in the air to a healthy level if it detects a CO<sub>2</sub> concentration that is too high. It is important to investigate the technology Hong Kong shopping malls are currently using and to research the latest IAQ technology to investigate if there is new technology Hong Kong mall managements might be interested to learn more about.

This project, sponsored by Business Environment Council Limited sought, through surveying, to evaluate public awareness of the IAQ Certification Scheme in Hong Kong and to investigate whether there is a difference in people's perceptions of IAQ in shopping malls that are certified and those that are not. The purpose of this project included researching and comparing Hong Kong's IAQ Objectives to international IAQ guidelines to determine if Hong Kong's IAQ Objectives are out of date. This project also included examining the most recent IAQ technology and providing summaries of the technology to be used as a future resource. Summaries of the IAQ technologies are not intended to be recommendations to shopping malls but to serve as a brief description for shopping malls to determine whether they want to conduct further research on the technology.

# 2. Background

#### 2.1. Indoor Air Quality (IAQ) & its Significance

As people are dependent upon the oxygen in the air to live, the air quality directly impacts a person's health and comfort. On average, an adult breathes 12 - 16 breaths per minute totaling up to 17, 289 – 23, 040 breaths per day (John Hopkins Medicine, n.d.). Most of these breaths are taken in an indoor environment as most people tend to spend the majority of their time indoors between school, work, and their homes. Satisfactory indoor air quality (IAQ) contributes to a person's comfort because it reduces the risk of a person becoming sick from indoor air pollutants. Achieving satisfactory IAQ enhances the health of building occupants by lowering the amount of or removing harmful air pollutants in the air that would otherwise be inhaled.

Unsatisfactory IAQ can arise from pollutants and/or inadequate ventilation. The types of pollutants vary from building to building but include combustion gases from cooking techniques, emissions from paint, cleaning or maintenance supplies, building material odors, and interior decorations (BEAM Society Limited, 2012). Inadequate ventilation further enhances the problems caused by pollutants as they are not effectively circulated out of the building or diluted by fresh outdoor air coming in. In certain cases, the outdoor air may be polluted and can worsen the indoor air as it is circulated inside buildings. Air ventilation within commercial buildings is typically controlled by MVAC systems in Hong Kong. MVAC systems control the IAQ through a series of heating, cooling, humidification, de-humidification, filtration, and air flow (Atencio, 1999). After the oil crisis in the late 1970's, energy conservation building techniques were adopted. These techniques further inhibited ventilation throughout buildings. Energy conservation techniques affected "the design, construction, and management of buildings" and thus, the buildings were dubbed with the term 'tight building syndrome.' Tight building syndrome refers to buildings "that ha[ve] been designed and constructed to attain and maintain low air infiltration conditions regardless of the percentage of outside air used for ventilation" (Godish, 1995). Buildings with tight building syndrome are energy efficient in that unwanted outside air cannot penetrate through. Buildings with tight building syndrome are common nowadays as the world faces an imminent energy crisis. Building designs contribute to energy savings because if the frigid, winter air cannot leak through windows and gaps in the walls then less energy will have to be spent on heating the building. Despite the savings, these building designs along with inadequate ventilation can result in the accumulation of indoor air pollutants.

The accumulation of indoor air pollutants poses health threats and causes discomforts such as SBS and BRIs. Health problems can range from minor to major depending on the person and amount of exposure. SBS can be categorized under minor health problems which include irritation of eyes and nose, dizziness, headaches, or asthma attacks. BRIs can be categorized under major health problems which include respiratory diseases, heart conditions, and potentially cancer depending on the pollutants present in the air as well as the person and amount of exposure (US EPA, 2013). Table 2.1 below lists some common indoor air pollutants, their sources, and their contributing health impacts.

Table 2.1: Examples of Pollutants, Sources and Health Impacts (POST, 2010; The Audit<br/>Commission, 2011)

Pollutant	Sources	Health Impacts	
Nitrogen dioxide (NO <sub>2</sub> )	Heating and cooking appliances, smoking	Respiratory symptoms & eye irritation	
Carbon monoxide (CO)	Heating and cooking appliances, smoking, vehicle emissions	Headaches, chest pain, confusion, rapid breathing, lethal at high levels	
Particulate matter (PM)	Cooking and aerosols	Reduced lung function and increased risk of heart and respiratory disease	
Radon (Rn)	Ground gases, granite building materials	Lung cancer	
Volatile organic compounds (VOCs)	Cleaning products, paints, printers, furniture, smoking	Respiratory tract irritation, possible chances of cancer	
Ozone (O <sub>3</sub> )	Cleaning products, paints, photocopiers, and printers	Respiratory tract irritation, sore throat, tearing, burning, and pain in the eyes	
Carbon Dioxide (CO <sub>2</sub> )	Smoking and cooking appliances	Headaches, dizziness, and nausea	
Formaldehyde (HCHO)	Smoking, paints, furniture, certain wood products, adhesives	Eye and respiratory irritation, lung tissue damage if high concentrations	

Outbreaks of SBS and BRIs around the world in the late 1900s led to the development of investigative protocols in many countries such as the United States and Canada. Investigative protocols in the United States include the National Institute of Occupational Safety and Health

(NIOSH) Protocol, USEPA/NIOSH Protocol for In-House Protocol, California Protocol, and American Industrial Hygiene Association (AIHA) Protocol. In Canada, the Public Works Canada (PWC) Protocol and Ontario Interministerial Committee (OIC) Protocol were developed as standardized procedures for federal government officials to investigate the IAQ of buildings. Similarly, in Europe IAQ investigations are conducted through public services such as the Danish Building Research Institute (DBRI) Protocol and the Nordic Ventilation Group (Nordtest Protocol). IAQ can be assessed in terms of many parameters such as temperature (T), relative humidity (RH), airborne bacteria counts (ABC), carbon dioxide ( $CO_2$ ), carbon monoxide (CO), and respirable suspended particles (RSP). All of the mentioned protocols consist of an initial background assessment followed by an on-site investigation and in cases where the problem is particularly hard to pinpoint or resolve, a second more thorough on-site investigation is performed. The protocols are typically carried out by a team of industrial hygienists, epidemiologists, and professionals with extensive knowledge on heating and ventilating airconditioning (HVAC) systems. In addition to government efforts to evaluate IAQ, private companies such as the Honeywell Indoor Air Quality Diagnostics and Clayton Environmental Consultant were founded and are capable of providing their services nationally within the United States and internationally (Godish, 1995).

In addition to the development of investigative protocols, as more outbreaks and cases of SBS and BRIs occurred, studies on the effects and the causes of the symptoms followed. In the 1980s and 1990s, many studies on SBS and BRIs were published with their results. The studies could not pinpoint a single perpetrator for SBS. However, studies on the exposure of humans to VOCs published by Taylor and Francis Ltd. have related air pollutants contributing to poor IAQ to illnesses or signs of SBS, i.e. low productivity (Koren, Graham, & Devlin, 1992; Otto,

Hudnell, House, Mølhave & Counts, 1992). As for BRIs, in 1991 the United States EPA reported that BRIs could be traced back to airborne building contaminants (EPA, 1991). In 1978, WHO held the first International Symposium on Indoor Climate where it recognized the importance of indoor air pollution and the likelihood of it being a major cause of the adverse health effects that broke out in the 1970s. Another symposium on IAQ followed in 1981, taking place in Amherst, Massachusetts, as well as a third in Stockholm, Sweden in 1984. Following each symposium, a Working Group addressing the IAQ problem was formed. The third Working Group met from the 27<sup>th</sup> to the 31<sup>st</sup> of August in 1984 and in the report on their meeting, they related excessive complaints from people who spent prolonged time in buildings to IAQ issues. The third Working Group also proposed solutions to the problems found from the people's complaints (WHO, 1986). As the world was discovering the causes of SBS and BRIs, so was Hong Kong, and its Environmental Protection Department (EPD) was prepared to take action to evaluate its individual IAQ situation.

### 2.2. IAQ of Hong Kong

Within Hong Kong buildings, MVAC systems are common due to Hong Kong's hot and humid climate. The humid, tropical climate eliminates the need for Hong Kong buildings to heat the air, resulting in the use of MVAC systems instead HVAC systems. In addition to causing increased air-conditioning use, Hong Kong's hot and humid climate amplifies the growth of mildew and other fungi inside buildings as their optimal growth environment is warm and moist. The rate of proliferation of airborne bacteria is increased with an increase in temperature and relative humidity. The hot, humid and tropical climate of Hong Kong becomes the perfect environment for airborne bacteria to build up in the air and further deteriorate IAQ. Airborne bacterial and fungal counts are also increased in crowded places, which are extremely common in Hong Kong. Hong Kong's dense population of approximately 7.15 million, as well as its booming economy and employment density, makes it a very crowded place (Yee, 2011; Hong Kong Information Services Department, 2013). Whether on the city street, going shopping in a mall, or on the job, there is bound to be a mass of people around you doing the same. Over the years, more sources of indoor air pollutants have been introduced in workplaces and in public spaces. These sources include modern office equipment such as laser printers, synthetic building materials, glues containing organic solvents, and chemical-based cleaning agents. For schools with limited budgets, air conditioning systems are installed in windows limiting the supply of fresh air into classrooms (Chan, Guo, Lee, & Li, 2002). With decreased airflow from the outside, air pollutants are capable of accumulating in classrooms without any means of dilution, thus exposing children to high levels of bacteria. Hong Kong schools are examples of a building type that can be affected by poor ventilation and high levels of indoor air pollution.

Another type of Hong Kong building that can be affected by poor ventilation and high levels of indoor air pollution are shopping malls. Based on its history, Hong Kong has long been seen as a trading port for goods from all over the world (Carroll, 2007). Even today, Hong Kong is known for its endless opportunities for shopping and numerous shopping malls. It is not uncommon for shopping malls to be connected to Mass Transit Railway (MTR) stations, offices, or residential buildings (MTR, 2011). The ease and convenience of shopping mall locations encourage shopping and tie residential and commercial areas together. Shopping is not only a key to Hong Kong's tourism and economy but also a part of the Hong Kong culture. Due to the popularity of Hong Kong shopping malls, they can easily become overcrowded resulting in the question of whether the shopping malls' MVAC systems are providing enough ventilation. If the MVAC system is not providing enough ventilation, concentrations of indoor air pollutants will increase, especially carbon dioxide levels from the exhalation of mall patrons (Li, Lee, & Chan, 2001). Therefore, it is important for mall managements to ensure that MVAC systems and other technologies used are capable of providing satisfactory IAQ.

In November 1993, the Hong Kong Environmental Bureau recognized the importance of IAQ and its resulting consequences on public health after reviewing the Second Review of the 1989 White Paper on Pollution in Hong Kong (Planning, Environment and Lands Branch, 1993). The 1989 White Paper on Pollution in Hong Kong was a government publication recognizing Hong Kong's serious pollution problem as the government estimated that 5, 000 tons of trash was produced per day in 1989. The 1989 White Paper on Pollution in Hong Kong outlined Hong Kong's ten year plan to combat pollution through legislation and for the first time ever, planning with respect to the environment (EPD, 1989; 2005). To combat the issue of IAQ within Hong Kong, the 1995 Consultancy Study completed in 1997 by the Environment Bureau provided a list of recommendations to improve the IAQ and stressed the need to educate the public on the The responsibility of carrying out the 1995 Consultancy Study importance of IAQ. recommendations fell upon the inter-departmental IAQ Management Group created in September 1998. The IAQ Management Group was comprised of three government bureaus and ten government departments headed by the Deputy Secretary of the Planning, Environment and Lands Bureau (Burnett, 2005; The Government of the HKSAR IAQ Management Group, 2003b). The IAQ Management Group proposed the IAQ Management Programme in November 1999 to fulfill the 1995 Consultancy Study recommendations. The overall goal of the Programme was "to improve IAQ in buildings and public places, protect public health in indoor environment and promote public awareness of the importance of IAQ" (The Audit Commission, 2011). Program tasks were assigned to government departments ENB, EPD, Electrical and

Mechanical Services Department, and Architectural Services Department (The Audit Commission, 2011). Program tasks included:

- a. Educating the public to increase IAQ awareness and distributing IAQ information at an IAQ information center
- b. Publishing guidance notes for the management of IAQ within offices and public places
- c. Determining IAQ objectives to be used as assessment benchmarks
- d. Creating an IAQ certification scheme

This project focused primarily on two tasks: IAQ Certification Scheme and IAQ Objectives. A diagram of the tasks under the IAQ Management Programme is provided in Figure 2.1, followed by descriptions of each program task.



Figure 2.1: IAQ Management Programme and its Tasks (The Audit Commission, 2011)

#### 2.2.1. IAQ Information Centre

Under the EPD, educational and informative materials were created to inform the public about IAQ and its importance. EPD efforts included advertisements, mass media promotions, seminars, and school visits among others. In total, the EPD has published two booklets, twelve information leaflets, and twenty posters on IAQ. Furthermore, in 2001 the EPD created an IAQ Information Centre in Kowloon Tong and online (http://www.iap.gov.hk). The published booklets, leaflets, and posters can all be viewed online at the IAQ Information Centre. The IAQ Information Centre serves to promote good IAQ among the public and school children through distribution of informational materials and school visits. The IAQ Information Centre is also responsible for processing and maintaining IAQ Certification Scheme records.

# 2.2.2. Guidance Notes for the Management of Indoor Air Quality in Offices and Public Places (GN)

The publication *Guidance Notes for the Management of Indoor Air Quality in Offices and Public Places* (GN) developed and endorsed by the IAQ Management Group, gave voluntary guidelines for the management of IAQ and provided information for the public to understand IAQ. The GN was derived from international standards, such as WHO and the American Society of Heating, Refrigerating and Air Conditioning Engineers (ASHRAE). The GN addressed IAQ topics including the factors affecting IAQ, IAQ Objectives, IAQ Certification Scheme, strategies to achieve the IAQ Objectives, IAQ management and investigation strategies, mitigation strategies and professional assistance. The GN is not legally binding and is voluntary (The Government of the HKSAR IAQ Management Group, 2003b).

#### 2.2.3. Hong Kong IAQ Objectives

To accomplish the assessment benchmarks, the Hong Kong IAQ Objectives was initiated in 2003 to quantify acceptable IAQ parameters and promote IAQ awareness (Burnett, 2005). The IAQ Objectives were published and explained in the GN (The Government of the HKSAR IAQ Management Group, 2003b). Derived from health-based air quality standards such as WHO, United States EPA and various countries' IAQ guidelines, the IAQ Objectives were intended to lower the chances of inducing Sick Building Syndrome and improve the comfort and well-being of all building occupants. The IAQ Objectives established benchmarks to define satisfactory levels when measuring IAQ parameters and created guidelines for measuring and assessing IAQ. The IAQ Objectives assigned specific guideline values to twelve parameters that affect IAQ; three physical (temperature, relative humidity, air movement), eight chemical (CO<sub>2</sub>, carbon dioxide, carbon monoxide, respirable suspended particulates, nitrogen dioxide, ozone, formaldehyde, total volatile organic compounds, radon) and one biological – airborne bacteria count (The Government of the HKSAR IAQ Management Group, 2003b). Values for each of the twelve parameters were created as benchmarks for 'Excellent' and 'Good' class (see Table 2.2 and 2.3). 'Good' class values are the maximum allowable values for each of the IAQ parameters. Values measured greater than 'Good' class values are considered unsatisfactory. The purpose of the IAQ Objectives was to establish the *IAQ Certification Scheme for Offices and Public Spaces*, a voluntary certification for buildings to show that they have satisfactory IAQ.

Parameter	Units	'Excellent'	'Good'
Temperature (T)	Celsius (°C)	20 - 25.5	< 25.5
Relative Humidity (RH)	%	40 - 70	< 70
Air Movement	meters per second (m/s)	< 0.2	< 0.3
Carbon Dioxide (CO <sub>2</sub> )	parts per million (ppm)	< 800	< 1000
Carbon Monoxide	ppm	< 1.7	< 8.7
(CO)	$\mu g/m^3$	< 2,000	< 10,000
Respirable Suspended Particulates (RSP) (PM <sub>10</sub> )	microgram per cubic meter $(\mu g/m^3)$	< 20	< 180
Nitrogen Dioxide	$\mu g/m^3$	< 40	< 150
(NO <sub>2</sub> )	parts per billion (ppb)	< 21	< 80
$\Omega_{70}$ ne $(\Omega_{2})$	$\mu g/m^3$	< 50	< 120
$OZOIIE (O_3)$	ppb	< 25	< 61
Formaldehyde	$\mu g/m^3$	< 30	< 100
(HCHO)	ppb	< 24	< 81
Total Volatile Organic	$\mu g/m^3$	< 200	< 600
Compounds (TVOC)	ppb	< 87	< 261
Radon (Rn)	becquerel per cubic meter (Bq/m <sup>3</sup> )	< 150	< 200
Airborne Bacteria Count (ABC)	colony forming units per cubic meter (CFU/m <sup>3</sup> )	< 500	< 1,000

Table 2.2: Criteria for IAQ Certification Scheme (Burnett, 2005)

Parameter	Measurement Device	
Т	Electronic thermometer	
RH	Electronic psychrometer	
Air Movement	Electronic anemometer	
CO <sub>2</sub>	A real-time monitor, such as a non-dispersive infrared (NDIR) analyzer	
СО	or electrochemical oxidation device	
RSP	Optical scattering or piezoelectric real-time monitor	
$NO_2$	Tedlar bag with analysis by chemiluminescence based NO <sub>2</sub> analyzer; absorbent filter containing triethanolamine and analysis by spectrophotometry at wavelength of 545 nanometers (nm); or real-time portable analyzer	
O <sub>3</sub>	Real-time instruments, such as heated metal oxide semiconductors, electrochemical, ultraviolet (UV) photometric or chemiluminescence detector	
НСНО	High performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) for active or passive sampling and analysis; colormetry for passive sampling and analysis	
TVOC	Passivated canisters or solid sorbents followed by direct flame ionization detection	
Rn	Electronic monitor that complies with the device performance test specified by the EPA National Radon Proficiency Program Handbook	
ABC	Samplers such as Andersen multi-hole impactor, Reuter Centrifugal Sampler (RCS) Surface Air System (SAS) bioaerosol or cyclone scribbler. Soy agar plates for culture and analysis of airborne bacteria	

#### Table 2.3: Measurement Devices for IAQ Parameters (Burnett, 2005)

## 2.2.4. IAQ Certification Scheme

A Guide on Indoor Air Quality Certification Scheme for Offices and Public Places, a government publication, explained the IAQ Certification Scheme including the steps on obtaining and maintaining the certification and the evaluation process (The Government of the HKSAR IAQ Management Group, 2003a). The Certification Scheme has two classes of acceptance, 'Excellent' and 'Good', and it pertains to "buildings or totally enclosed areas for the use as offices or public places" that have MVAC systems such as "office buildings, shopping malls, hotels, restaurants, theatres cinemas and funeral parlours" (The Government of the HKAR IAQ Management Group, 2003a). Participation in the scheme is free and voluntary, but the building owner is responsible for the costs associated with the evaluation and maintenance process, such as hiring IAQ Certification Issuing Bodies (CIBs) to assess the IAQ of the building. To obtain the certificate, the average of each of the twelve IAQ parameters must not exceed the guideline value for satisfactory levels during evaluation. For the evaluation, the parameters are measured on an eight-hour basis. If it is not feasible to take an eight-hour continuous measurement, another measuring strategy is used. In the alternate strategy, the measurements are taken in four 30-minute time-slots. The certificate lasts for twelve months; to renew it, all of the parameters must be evaluated once every five years, and for the four years in between, only carbon dioxide and respirable suspended particulates (RSP) must be evaluated every year if there are no alternations to the use of the building that may negatively impact the IAQ and if there is no major change to the maintenance of the MVAC system. The certification generally certifies the building as a whole, but building owners can certify specific parts of the building (The Government of the HKSAR IAQ Management Group, 2003a).

Buildings are only certified if all the IAQ parameters fulfill the 'Good' class guideline values. The unsatisfactory values are values which are greater than the values listed for 'Good' class (Chan et al., 2010). There is an alternative measurement of TVOC for the 'Good' class; the TVOC criterion 'Good' value can be substituted with values of ten commonly found individual volatile organic compounds (VOCs). If the level of TVOC in a building exceeds the guideline value specified in Table 2.2 then the individual VOC causing the parameter to be over the 'Good' class value may be measured. If the amount of each of the VOCs in the building is less

than the guideline values given in Table 2.4, then the TVOC objective for 'Good' class can still be considered met. The values and names of the ten VOCs are located in Table 2.4 (The Government of the HKSAR IAQ Management Group, 2003a). Another parameter, airborne fungi, will be included in the next review of the Certification Scheme. Research studies have shown that airborne fungi are capable of producing metabolites that are toxic to human cells. These toxins can cause various effects in human bodies such as suppressing the immune system and causing cancer (Rao, Burge, & Chang, 1996).

Compound	Good Class
Benzene	16.1 μg/m <sup>3</sup>
Carbon tetrachloride	$103 \ \mu g/m^3$
Chloroform	$163 \ \mu g/m^3$
1,2-Dichlorobenzene	$500 \ \mu g/m^3$
1,3-Dichlorobenzene	$200 \ \mu g/m^3$
Ethylbenzene	1447 μg/m <sup>3</sup>
Tetrachloroethylene	$250 \ \mu g/m^3$
Toluene	$1092 \ \mu \text{g/m}^3$
Trichloroethylene	$770 \ \mu g/m^3$
Xylene (o-, m-, p-isomers)	1447 μg/m <sup>3</sup>

Table 2.4: Criteria for individual VOCs for 'Good' class for TVOC objective of IAQ Certification Scheme (The Government of the HKSAR IAQ Management Group, 2003a)

In addition to obtaining a certificate that can be displayed on the doors or windows of the building, fulfilling the certification parameter requirements will award the building with five Building Environmental Assessment Method (BEAM) credits. The BEAM scheme, established in 1996, is a voluntary assessment for residential, commercial, institutional, and industrial buildings. The purpose of BEAM is to "enhance the quality of buildings in Hong Kong" and to make buildings more sustainable and environmentally friendly. BEAM awards a label that

represents a building's quality level with regards to safety, health, and comfort as well as the building's performance level with regards to environmental and social aspects. According to BEAM, "a certified BEAM building is safer, healthier, more comfortable, more functional, and more efficient than a similar building that does not achieve the level of performance prescribed in BEAM" (BEAM Society Limited, 2012). BEAM credits are awarded for complying with the guideline values of different IAQ parameters in the IAQ Objectives: one credit for complying with the CO, NO<sub>2</sub>, and O<sub>3</sub> guideline, one credit for complying with the RSP guideline, one credit for complying with the VOC guideline, one credit for complying with the formaldehyde guideline, and one credit for complying with the radon guideline. The areas subjected to BEAM examination are site aspects, material aspects, energy use, indoor environment quality, and water use. Each area contributes differently to the overall building performance and so BEAM has accordingly taken into account the impact and significance of each area by assigning credit weights. The credit weights of site aspects, material aspects, energy use, indoor environment quality, and water use are 25%, 8%, 35%, 20% and 12% respectively. Each credit awarded for complying the IAQ Certification Scheme will fall under the BEAM category of indoor environment quality and be weighted at 20%. Among all the areas looked at by BEAM, indoor environment quality falls in the middle in terms of importance after energy use and site aspects. BEAM credits are valuable to shopping malls because becoming BEAM certified grants shopping malls more saleable area. BEAM certified shopping malls can advertise more square footage and gain more profit per square foot. Complying with the IAQ Certification Scheme will not only guarantee better IAQ but will also help to turn a profit after becoming BEAM certified (BEAM Society Limited, 2012).

#### 2.3. International IAQ Programs

There are various IAQ programs comparable to Hong Kong's IAQ Certification Scheme in that they encourage the assessment, monitoring, and/or promotion of IAQ. Some programs also have set up IAQ guidelines similar to Hong Kong's IAQ Objectives.

#### 2.3.1. European Commission

For example, the European Commission launched the "Lowest concentration of interest" approach in 2010. Through this, professionals have considered the lowest concentration above which a pollutant may affect people in the indoor environment. The initiative was coordinated by the Institute for Health and Consumer Protection, one of seven scientific institutes in the European Commission's Joint Research Center. The center provides scientific and technical support for European Union policies regarding food, consumer product chemicals, and the public health of European citizens. The center conducted research for the European Environment and Health Strategy, a government initiative started by the European Union in 2004 to understand the correlation between environmental factors and people's health. The center's research resulted in the "Lowest concentration of interest" policy which defined the maximum safety level for IAQ parameters (European Commission, 2013). The "Lowest concentration of interest" policy was geared towards children. The studies focused on correlating environmental factors to childhood respiratory diseases, asthma and allergies, neurodevelopmental disorders, childhood cancer, and disruption of the endocrine system. The European Environment and Health Strategy also aimed to set up a community information system where people could easily access information on the link between the environment and health, to launch projects to collect data and monitor select environmental pollutants and their effects, and to develop policies based on the conclusions drawn from the projects. The policies were meant to lower health risks for European habitants
by monitoring environmental factors that correlate to poor health (Europa, 2005). The policy using the "Lowest concentration of interest" approach involved a list of more than 100 volatile organic compounds that were often detected in emission tests of building materials and indoor products. A group of toxicologists and experts in emission testing had the responsibility of establishing the lowest concentration of each of the volatile organic compounds, above which the indoor environment could be negatively affected (European Commission, 2013).

#### 2.3.2. United States

Various states in the United States have created IAQ programs and guidelines that provide the public with educational services about IAQ and exposure limits for airborne contaminants. Certain states have funded air quality experts and different stakeholders to create the guidelines, such as Texas, while others have formed their guidelines as variations of the United States' federal guidelines under the Occupational Safety and Health Act.

#### 2.3.2.1. State of Texas

The IAQ Program in Texas distributes information to the public about indoor air pollutants and methods to decrease the amount of contaminants in the air. It answers questions about health risks associated with certain indoor air contaminants, sources of the contaminants, and ways to improve IAQ and indoor ventilation. It also conducts IAQ seminars for the public and provides information on resources the public can use to get more information (Texas Department of State Health Services, 2012). Voluntary IAQ Guidelines for Texas Government Buildings became effective on December 22, 2002 for all government buildings, including public school buildings. The Texas Department of State Health Services groups of volunteer stakeholders to help develop the guidelines. The guidelines, as well as the information and seminars provided through Texas'

IAQ Program, are voluntary. The guidelines, information, and seminars serve as resources that can be utilized by any government building or Texas resident that is interested in IAQ (Texas Department of State Health Services, 2010).

#### 2.3.2.2. State of California

Under the California Department of Public Health, the IAQ Program was started in 1983 as the first state IAQ program in the United States. The purpose of California's program is to promote and coordinate the investigation of IAQ as it relates to causes, effects, and prevention of poor IAQ (CDPH, 2014; CDPH, n.d.). The state funds an interdisciplinary team that includes five fulltime research scientists and chemists as of 2014. The team uses the funding to conduct research studies aimed at discovering causes of and ways to control indoor air pollution in California. Through the program, a working group called the California Interagency Working Group on IAQ organizes activities on IAQ for key government agencies, academic institutions, and industry stakeholders (CDPH, 2014). The state of California has also developed an occupational safety and health program through an agreement with the United States Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA, 2014a). The program set exposure limits for chemical airborne contaminants in workplaces in California and enforces these standards with an enforcement unit. The standards were based on recommendations from technical support and the exposure limits for airborne pollutants set by other states and countries; California air pollutant standards are updated as the state deems necessary (Occupational Health Branch, 2014; OSHA, 2014a). Airborne contaminants include carbon dioxide, carbon monoxide, and formaldehyde. The enforcement unit has legal jurisdiction over every workplace in California and conducts inspections if the unit receives a report or complaint about an occupational safety and health hazard. The unit also runs an inspection program that focuses on

industries with the most occupational hazards. California's occupational safety and health program is based off of the United States Occupational Safety and Health Act enacted in 1970 (OSHA, 2014a).

#### 2.3.2.3. United States Federal Government

The Occupational Safety and Health Act provides standards that employers in the United States must comply with to ensure safe and healthy workplaces for employees. These standards include exposure limits for airborne contaminants (OSHA, 2014c). Under the Act, the Secretary of Health and Human Services is tasked to establish and supervise education and training programs in which employees and employers learn how to recognize and prevent unhealthy working conditions. The Act also mandates that the Secretary consult with and provide advice for employers, employees, and organizations on how to prevent occupational illnesses and injuries (OSHA, 2004). In addition to the Secretary's training programs, the Occupational Safety and Health Administration provides educational materials and grants to help businesses and employers train their workers themselves. The Occupational Safety and Health Administration's website provides links to training courses and materials and to important information regarding the training programs (OSHA, 2014d).

The Occupational Safety and Health Administration enforces the standards of the Act by conducting inspections of workplaces without advance notice (OSHA, 2014b). However, a company or employer identified as implementing procedures to prevent occupational hazards and providing training for employees in strategies to achieve a safe working environment may be exempt from random inspections for up to one year after the company's last consultation (OSHA, 2004). The Administration also conducts inspections in response to worker complaints and referrals and targets industries with high employee injury or illness rates, such as chemical

facilities. In this way, the Administration is similar to California's occupational safety and health program's enforcement unit (OSHA, 2014b).

#### 2.3.3. United Kingdom (UK)

In Europe, IAQ UK is an independent organization that works for the promotion of good IAQ in people's homes and at their places of work. There are no standards or regulations on IAQ in the UK as of February 2014, so IAQ UK does not enforce IAQ standards. The organization rather focuses on education and providing information for anyone who wishes to learn more about IAQ. The organization hosts events in which employers can learn about the latest research in IAQ and ways to maintain healthy environments in their workplaces. Employers are also informed of resources that can provide them with more information about IAQ. The events, as well as the latest news regarding IAQ are posted on the IAQ UK website. The IAQ UK website also provides helpful resources such as a chart indicating which harmful chemicals can come from common products in people's households. In addition, the website provides detailed descriptions of every chemical contaminant mentioned in its resources and the history, production, chemical structure, and health effects of the contaminant (IAQUK, 2014).

IAQ UK uses its website and other tools to complete five major objectives. Objective 1 is to provide the public with a clear reference regarding IAQ. The IAQ UK website lists resources for learning more about IAQ and its effects on health, comfort, and productivity. All of the information and resources presented on the website are accessible to every person worldwide without any requirements such as membership or subscription. Objectives 2 and 3 are related. Objective 2 involves providing practitioners and students with training through a course in which they gain a deep understanding of IAQ. Objective 3 involves making sure IAQ practitioners are as knowledgeable as possible in IAQ before they influence IAQ through their

jobs. Objective 3 can also be achieved through the course. Upon completing the course, the practitioners and students are awarded with "The Awareness," a training certificate. The training certificate is a small token to represent the completion of the IAQ Awareness Course. However, the real reward of completing the course is the knowledge and skills gained that help the practitioners better do their jobs and students have more awareness of IAQ. The course teaches how to achieve satisfactory IAQ in the workplace, methods for identifying, evaluating, and monitoring ventilation systems, and outlines IAQ legislation. The fourth objective consists of staying in correspondence with the government and encouraging the government to initiate IAQ programs and practices for the betterment of IAQ. Finally, the fifth objective involves pooling the knowledge from practitioners and IAQ experts with different backgrounds to come up with the best ways to improve IAQ (IAQUK, 2014).

# 2.3.4. Comparisons of International IAQ Programs with Hong Kong's IAQ Certification Scheme

The IAQ programs mentioned above are similar to Hong Kong's IAQ Certification Scheme. The Scheme assigned guidelines values to IAQ parameters and created a voluntary program in which office and commercial buildings could become certified if IAQ parameter guidelines are met. Comparatively, the European Commission's "Lowest concentration of interest" policy assigned critical values to over 100 volatile organic compounds above which the volatile organic compounds could cause people health problems in an indoor environment. In the same way, Texas created the Voluntary IAQ Guidelines for Texas Government Buildings. Both California's occupational safety and health program and the US Occupational Safety and Health Act provide exposure limits for airborne contaminants in workplaces. Just as Hong Kong's IAQ Objectives are supposed to be reviewed and updated periodically, the United States' and California's exposure limits are updated as necessary to keep up with the most recent information about IAQ.

The IAQ programs also compare to Hong Kong's IAQ Certification Scheme in the fact that they promote awareness of IAQ. When the Certification Scheme is advertised for shopping malls and other office or commercial buildings, it is consequently publicizing the issue of IAQ and encouraging the building owners to take steps to improve the IAQ of their buildings. The European Commission's community information system, the distribution of information on indoor air pollutants and conduction of IAQ seminars by Texas' IAQ Program, and IAQ activities coordinated by the California Interagency Working Group are all examples of ways the programs spread awareness of IAQ. In addition, the education and training programs on IAQ established under the US Occupational Safety and Health Act and the IAQ events, training course, and information provided by the IAQ UK organization help to increase the public's knowledge of IAQ.

#### 2.4. Review of Hong Kong's IAQ Management Programme

In 2011 the Audit Commission, a government department, conducted reviews of government initiatives intended to complete the tasks of the IAQ Management Programme. The Audit Commission reviewed the IAQ Management Programme's tasks and evaluated the initiatives taken by the Environment Bureau, the EPD, the Electrical and Mechanical Services Department, and the Architectural Services Department. The initiatives were evaluated to determine the progress of fulfilling the tasks of the IAQ Management Programme. Comments and recommendations were given by the Audit Commission to the previously mentioned government departments (Environment Bureau, EPD, Electrical and Mechanical Services Department, and Architectural Services Department) to improve the initiatives.

Recommendations for the four main tasks of the IAQ Management Programme as previously stated are discussed in the following sub-sections.

#### **2.4.1. IAQ Information Centre**

Though the IAQ Information Centre serves good intentions, the Audit Commission Review revealed that "only about one group visited the Centre every two days and less than one individual visited the Centre a day" (Audit Commission, 2011). A group visit to the IAQ Information Centre had on average, 29 people per group. Below shows Table 2.5 with the number of visitors to the IAQ Information Centre from 2007 – 2010.

	Group	Number of Individual		
Year	Number of Groups	Total Number of Visitors from Groups	Visitors	
2007	179	4, 950	407	
2008	117	3, 575	176	
2009	123	3, 556	35	
2010	116	3, 609	84	
Total	535	15, 690	702	

Table 2.5: Visits to the IAQ Information Centre (2007 to 2010) (The Audit Commission, 2011)

The Audit Commission considers the number of visits to the IAQ Information Centre unsatisfactory. A survey conducted as part of the 2006 Consultancy Study by the EPD showed that "only 27% of respondents heard about the IAQ Management Programme, only 13% of respondents heard about the IAQ Certification Scheme, only 19% of respondents considered that the promotion of public awareness of IAQ was adequate, and 81% of respondents preferred the

mass media for obtaining information about improvement of IAQ" (The Audit Commission, 2011). Despite survey responses on respondents' preference for obtaining IAQ information, from 2007 – 2010 there were only three instances of IAQ advertisements in newspapers and none on television or radio. Overall, the Audit Commission saw a need for the EPD to increase efforts in promoting and educating IAQ to the public.

Educating the public on IAQ included teaching students and scheduling school visits. In 2001, control of the IAQ Information Centre operations and maintenance was signed to a contract service provider. Within the contract, the service provider was required to conduct a specified number of school visits. Looking through documents and old files, the Audit Commission found that from 2007 – 2010, the number of school visits completed by the IAQ Information Centre was significantly lower than the number specified in the contract. The number of contract-specified school visits compared to the number of completed school visits is shown in Table 2.6 below.

Year	School Visits				
	Contract Requirement	Completed			
2007 - 2008	20	0			
2008 - 2009	50	25			
2009 - 2010	40	18			
2010 - 2011	22	42			

Table 2.6: Required and Completed School Visits by IAQ Information Centre(The Audit Commission, 2011)

The Audit Commission recommended the EPD supervise the contract service provider to ensure that contract requirements are fulfilled. In addition, recommendations that formal letters be sent to primary and secondary Hong Kong schools to schedule formal presentations on IAQ were made as the IAQ Information Centre could be used more effectively to promote IAQ awareness (The Audit Commission, 2011).

# 2.4.2. Guidance Notes for the Management of Indoor Air Quality in Offices and Public Places (GN)

After observations and review of the Guidance Notes for the Management of Indoor Air Quality in Offices and Public Places (GN), the Audit Commission noted that some aspects of the GN were unsatisfactory and had room for improvement. Compliance with the GN was voluntary and building managements or owners were not required to comply with the GN. The Audit Commission noted that the GN was valid only for office buildings and public places ventilated with MVAC systems. The Audit Commission recommended that the EPD include childcare centers and schools in the GN as well as the IAQ Objectives to protect the health of the youth. The Audit Commission also noted that the EPD had not created feedback mechanisms. There was nothing in place to see how many people adopted and followed the GN, or mechanisms to ask those who had not adopted the GN for their reasons for not doing so. For those who did follow the GN, there was no mechanism to ask for their opinions and comments on the improvement of the GN. Procedures to determine why buildings were not complying with the GN or procedures to determine the difficulty in complying with the GN for those that had adopted the GN were missing. The Audit Commission recommended that the EPD create and put in place mechanisms to obtain feedback on the GN.

Recommendations for improving the GN on how to monitor IAQ for offices and public places and making them more appealing for buildings to adopt them followed. The Audit Commission encouraged the EPD to increase the effectiveness of the IAQ Certification Scheme by investigating reasons for low participation and reminding participants to renew their IAQ certificates before the expiration dates. For buildings to renew their IAQ certification, the department filling out the certification report should ensure that there is (1) no change in the operation of the building that could harm the IAQ and (2) no alterations to the operation/maintenance of the building's MVAC system that could negatively affect the IAQ. The departments were also urged to assess the IAQ of public places, not just during weekdays, but also on weekends, when there is high occupancy in the buildings (Audit Commission, 2011). All of these recommendations were for the improvement of IAQ in all commercial buildings and public places in Hong Kong.

#### **2.4.3. IAQ Certification Scheme**

Critics have questioned the effectiveness of the Certification Scheme. Comments have been made that the simple, yet harsh, criteria for the parameters can backfire on the EPD's goal of informing and educating the general public about IAQ (Burnett, 2005). In 2005, John Burnett, a professor in the Department of Building Services Engineering at the Hong Kong Polytechnic University, commented, "The perception of many is that the pollutant levels as presented become 'standard' which, if exceeded, will lead to 'dire consequences'" (Burnett, 2005; Hong Kong Housing Authority, 2004). The Certification Scheme has caused a situation in which people believe that adverse health effects will result if the IAQ parameters were to exceed the 'standard'. An example of a pollutant commonly perceived to have dire consequences if its concentration exceeds the 'standard' is carbon dioxide ( $CO_2$ ). Burnett explained how  $CO_2$  is confusing in terms of its relevance in IAQ because he believes that  $CO_2$  is not an important pollutant with respect to adverse health effects yet a building with no harmful pollutants can fail certification because the average  $CO_2$  levels are greater than 1000 ppm. Pilot studies have shown that the complexity and cost of the evaluation for the certification would be a great deterrent (Burnett, 2005). Although there have been issues with the Certification Scheme, the average office IAQ has improved since the scheme's implementation (Hui et al., 2007).

Review of the IAQ Certification Scheme brought to light the inconsistencies in the certificate issuing bodies. There was a gray area in which measured values were 'equal to or less than' the standard value for 'Excellent' or 'Good' class. This gray area allowed certificate issuing bodies to issue excellent certificates rather than good certificates if measured values were "equal to" the standard value for Excellent or Good class. For example, if a certificate issuing body was measuring temperature and got a temperature of 25.5 °C, looking back at Table 2.2, it would be ambiguous as to whether 25.5 °C belonged in 'Excellent' or 'Good' class. Recommendations from the Audit Commission include clarifying the gray area between Excellent and Good class and including an 'equal to' value.

Given the number of the buildings in Hong Kong, the Audit Commission considered the number of buildings certified by 2010 to be low and unsatisfactory. In 2002, the Home Affairs Department of the Government of the HKSAR created a database of all the private buildings in Hong Kong including commercial, industrial, and residential. The disclaimer from the Home Affairs Department of the Government of the HKSAR states that the database is not 100% accurate and does not guarantee that every building has been taken into account but the database gives a rough estimate of 40, 070 privately owned buildings (Home Affairs Department of the Government of the Government of the SAR, 2002). Even though the estimation includes privately owned

residential buildings, the number of certified buildings still seems to be significantly small in comparison considering how the number of public places is not included in the estimation. From 2003 – 2010, a total of 559 buildings were certified as either 'Excellent' or 'Good' class. Of the 550 buildings, 319 were office buildings and 240 were public places. At the end of 2010, there were 124 buildings certified as 'Excellent' class and 435 buildings certified as 'Good' class. Provided below in Table 2.7 is the number of certified buildings for each class from 2003 – 2010.

Table 2.7: Participation in the IAQ Certification Scheme from 2003-2010

As of	Т	ype of Buildir	ng	Certification Class		
December 31st of the year	Office Building [#]	Public Place [#]	Total Buildings (office + public)	Excellent [#]	Good [#]	Total (Excellent + Good)
2003	26	1	27	2	25	27
2004	60	21	81	10	71	81
2005	61	69	130	11	119	130
2006	74	96	170	27	143	170
2007	171	92	263	42	221	263
2008	263	152	415	61	354	415
2009	312	211	523	99	424	523
2010	319	240	559	124	425	559

#### (Audit Commission, 2011)

#### 2.4.4. Hong Kong IAO Objectives

More importantly, the Audit Commission noticed the Hong Kong IAQ Objectives have not been updated since they were established in 2003. The acceptable levels for the twelve parameters have not been reviewed and updated and no new parameters have been added. From 2006 - 2010, WHO has published three IAQ documents providing information valuable to adding airborne fungi as a new parameter to the IAQ Objectives. In addition, PM<sub>2.5</sub> is an important aspect of air quality and is currently being used as an indicator for poor outdoor air quality but has yet to be incorporated into IAQ parameters. The EPD has agreed to review the acceptable levels for the parameters in comparison to international standards and refer to published WHO guidelines to make recommendations on airborne fungi to the IAQ Management Group. As of the start of the year 2014, no updated IAQ Objectives have been published by the EPD.

#### 2.5. Project Purpose, Goal & Objectives

Research on IAQ in Hong Kong has made much progress, but there are still additional studies to be performed. In particular, it is important to note that the latest research completed on people's views and experiences with IAQ in Hong Kong was released on March 19, 2010. For the study, 1,010 respondents were interviewed and the results were quite concerning. About 80% of the interviewees had suffered from SBS symptoms (Ipsos, 2010). Four in five of the respondents were living with illnesses linked to indoor air pollution, while one-third of respondents believed poor IAQ had negative effects on their health (Hong Kong Standard Newspapers Ltd., 2010). Reports of the study revealed that 90% of respondents were unsatisfied with the IAQ in Hong Kong and approximately 30% thought of the air quality as "bad" or "very bad" (Ipsos, 2010). The Hong Kong Audit Commission, a government department that evaluates other government departments and provides recommendations to improve efficiency and overall performance, set out to improve IAQ in response to the negative feedback from the surveys (Audit Commission, 2005).

This project seeks to study people's views on IAQ and evaluate the IAQ Management Programme tasks. Mainly, this project focused on the public awareness and effectiveness of the IAQ Certification Scheme, the status of the Hong Kong IAQ Objectives, and relevant IAQ technology. Project objectives included evaluating public opinion in certified and uncertified shopping malls and reviewing current Hong Kong IAQ Objectives as well as the latest technology relevant to IAQ.

### 3. Methodology

For this project, three objectives were completed. Objective 1 involved collecting the general public's opinion of IAQ in six certified and four uncertified shopping malls. Objective 2 involved the comparison between current Hong Kong IAQ Objectives and international IAQ guidelines. Objective 3 involved researching the latest technology in IAQ and providing brief summaries of each technology to be used as a resource to Business Environment Council Limited. For objective 1, questionnaires were answered by mall patrons and responses were compiled and analyzed using Microsoft Excel and SPSS Statistics 22 (IBM Corp., 2013). For objectives 2 and 3, extensive research was conducted. In the following sections, more in-depth procedures for completing each objective are described.

#### **3.1.** Objective 1: Surveying Shopping Malls and Data Analysis

The methodology of Objective 1 is divided into six sections. The first section discusses the mall selection process for distributing questionnaires. The second section explains the data entry process. Sections three through six describe the procedure of analyzing the data to compare the survey locations, the certification statuses, the certification classes, and the ten shopping malls.

#### **3.1.1** Selecting Shopping Malls & Surveying

In order to do comparison between the general public's opinion of IAQ in certified and uncertified shopping malls, a sampling frame of patrons and employees within selected certified and uncertified shopping malls was chosen. A total of ten shopping malls were chosen within the three regions of Hong Kong: Kowloon, Hong Kong Island, and the New Territories. Lantau Island was considered to be part of the New Territories. The three regions of Hong Kong are shown in Figure 3.1 below.



Figure 3.1: Map of Three Regions in Hong Kong Figure 3.1 is a derivative of <u>"Hong Kong districts map"</u>, by Peter Fitzgerald, used under <u>CC BY</u> <u>3.0.</u>

Four shopping malls were certified as 'Good' class and two shopping malls were certified as 'Excellent' class. The remaining four shopping malls were uncertified in the IAQ Certification Scheme. It is important to note that malls referred to as uncertified does not mean that they failed the IAQ certification but rather they have yet to go through the certification process. A 'Good' class, an 'Excellent' class, and an uncertified shopping mall were chosen in each of the

three regions of Hong Kong. The malls were later modified to consist of five malls from Kowloon, two from Hong Kong Island, and three from the New Territories. There were only two malls that were in the 'Excellent' class in Hong Kong Island and surveying at these malls presented challenges that were unable to be overcome in the time frame of this project. Certified 'Good' and 'Excellent' shopping malls were chosen from the IAQ Information Centre website randomly. The uncertified shopping malls were chosen randomly from a map of Hong Kong regions. The shopping malls were checked against the list of certified premises available on the IAQ Information Centre website to ensure that they were uncertified. The location of the ten malls as well as their certification status is listed in Table 3.1 below.

Shopping Mall	Certification Status	Location
1	Excellent	New Territories
2	Excellent	Kowloon
3	Good	Kowloon
4	Good	Kowloon
5	Good	Hong Kong Island
6	Good	New Territories
7	Uncertified	Kowloon
8	Uncertified	New Territories
9	Uncertified	Kowloon
10	Uncertified	Hong Kong Island

Table 3.1: Certification Class and Locations of the Shopping Malls

The questionnaires were conducted from January 17, 2014 to February 15, 2014. Approximately fifty questionnaires were distributed at nine of the shopping malls and 100 questionnaires were distributed at Mall 3, totaling to 526 questionnaires. To check whether or not taking the survey inside or outside the mall had an effect on questionnaire data, 100 questionnaires were distributed at Mall 3; fifty questionnaires inside the mall and fifty outside the mall entrance. Generally, the questionnaires were conducted in the early afternoon and late evening during shopping mall peak hours from Wednesday through Saturday.

Through a series of questions designed to obtain perceptions on the IAQ, the general public answered questions providing their opinions on factors that affect the IAQ in the shopping mall they were in, such as odors in the air. The questionnaire also investigated how familiar the public was with the IAQ Certification Scheme and if the public thought that the IAQ in certified shopping malls was better than that of uncertified shopping malls.

Questionnaires were distributed outside of the malls' main entrance or outside an entrance with a lot of traffic flow. For some malls, questionnaires were distributed inside. The general public's opinion was determined through convenience sampling, "a technique in which a sample is drawn from that part of the population that is close to hand, readily available, or convenient" (Bhattacherjee, 2012). The general public was solicited to answer the questionnaire.

Obtaining formal permission from mall managements to survey inside their malls was difficult because the malls wanted to provide their patrons with the best shopping experience possible without outside interference. Another reason mall managements may not have been willing to give formal permission was because the malls might not have been fulfilling the IAQ Certification Objectives despite being certified.

#### 3.1.2. Inputting Data & Calculating Weighted Scores

The raw data of each question in the questionnaire were the answers circled on the questionnaire prior to modification for data analysis. The raw data for each question were inputted into a Microsoft Excel file. The raw data of the first six "Air Quality" questions were also modified into weighted data that could be summed for an overall score for the shopping mall.

In order to calculate the weighted data, the first six "Air Quality" questions were designed on a scale of one to seven. The first six "Air Quality" questions are shown below in Figure 3.2.

#### Air Quality

1.	How does the air qu	uality in this shop	ping mall	affect you?			
Very p	ositively – 1	2	3	4 – No effect	5	6	7 – Very negatively
2.	How is the air flow	in this shopping	mall?				
Too sti	rong – 1	2	3	4 – Perfect	5	6	7 – No flow
3.	How are the odours	s in the air of this	shopping	mall?			
Very fr	agrant – 1	2	3	4 – No smell	5	6	7 – Very smelly
4.	How is the humidity	/ in this shoppinន្	g mall?				
Too hu	ımid – 1	2	3	4 – Perfect	5	6	7 – Too dry
5.	How does the temp	erature in this sł	nopping m	all affect you?			
Very p	ositively – 1	2	3	4 – No effect	5	6	7 – Very negatively
6.	How is the tempera	ture in this shop	ping mall?				
Too wa	arm – 1	2	3	4 – Perfect	5	6	7 – Too cold

Figure 3.2: First Six "Air Quality" Questions in the Questionnaire

To determine the weighted data, "4" was given a value of "0" for neutral or no effect. For numbers that deviated away from "4", depending on whether the deviation correlated with a positive or negative response, a weighted value was given accordingly. For questions that had a positive response associated with "1" and a negative response associated with "7" ("Air Quality" questions 1 and 5), the values "3", "2", and "1" were weighted as "1", "2", and "3" respectively. The values "5", "6", and "7" were weighted as "-1", "-2", and "-3" respectively. For questions that had negative responses associated with "1" and "7" ("Air Quality" questions 2, 3, 4, and 6), the values "3" and "5" were weighted as "-1", the values "2" and "6" were weighted as "-2", and the values "1" and "7" were weighted as "-3". Figure 3.3 explains how to calculate weighted data for "Air Quality" questions 1-6.



Figure 3.3: Calculating Weighted Scores of "Air Quality" Questions 1-6

The weighted data of the six "Air Quality" questions were totaled to a weighted-score sum. This way, the highest weighted-score sum a shopping mall could receive was a "6" and the lowest

score a shopping mall could receive was "-18". Sample questionnaires of the highest score and lowest score are given in Figures 3.4 and 3.5. The weighted data were summed because this enables the "Air Quality" ordinal scale data to be treated as interval scale data and to give a quantitative measurement instead of a relative measurement of IAQ perception (Boone & Boone, 2012).

#### Air Quality

1.	How does the air qu <b>+3</b>	ality in this shop	oping mall	affect you?			
Very p	ositively – 1	2	3	4 – No effect	5	6	7 – Very negatively
2.	How is the air flow i	n this shopping	mall?	+0			
Too st	rong – 1	2	3	4 – Perfect	5	6	7 – No flow
3.	How are the odours	in the air of this	shopping	mall? <b>+0</b>			
Very fr	agrant – 1	2	3	4 – No smell	5	6	7 – Very smelly
4.	How is the humidity	in this shopping	g mall?	+0			
Too hu	ımid – 1	2	3	4 – Perfect	5	6	7 – Too dry
5.	How does the temp +3	erature in this sl	nopping ma	all affect you?			
Very p	ositively – 1	2	3	4 – No effect	5	6	7 – Very negatively
6.	How is the tempera	ture in this shop	ping mall?	+0			
Too wa	arm – 1 .	2	3	4 – Perfect	5	6	7 – Too cold

#### Total score: +6

Figure 3.4: Sample Questionnaire of Best Weighted-Score Sum

Air Quality

1. How does the air qu	uality in this sho	oping mall	affect you?			-3
Very positively – 1	2	3	4 – No effect	5	6	7 - Very negatively
2. How is the air flow	in this shopping	mall?				
-3	either ans	wer wil	l result in a w	eighted so	core of -3	-3
Too strong – 1	2	3	4 – Perfect	5	6	7 – No flow
<ol> <li>How are the odours</li> <li>-3</li> </ol>	s in the air of this	s shopping	mall?			-3
Very fragrant – 1	2	3	4 – No smell	5	6	7 – Very smelly
<ol> <li>How is the humidity</li> <li>-3</li> </ol>	y in this shopping	g mall?				-3
Too humid – 1	2	3	4 – Perfect	5	6	7 – Too dry
5. How does the temp	perature in this s	hopping m	all affect you?			-3
Very positively – 1	2	3	4 – No effect	5	6	7 – Very negatively
6. How is the tempera -3	ature in this sho	oping mall	?			-3
Too warm – 1	2	3	4 – Perfect	5	6	7 – Too cold

Total Score: 6 questions x - 3 = -18

Figure 3.5: Sample Questionnaire of Worst Weighted-Score Sum

#### **3.1.3. Data Analysis: Comparing Survey Locations**

To determine whether or not conducting questionnaires inside or outside of shopping malls affected the data, Mall 3 data were analyzed in SPSS Statistics 22 (IBM Corp., 2013). Fifty questionnaires were collected inside and outside of Mall 3 allowing a comparison between the two sets of questionnaires. The statistical tests used to determine whether surveying location affected data were independent-samples t-test, Mann-Whitney U test, and the chi-square test for association. These three tests determined if there was a statistical difference between data from the two survey locations – inside and outside. If a statistical difference was present then it can be concluded that conducting questionnaires inside and outside shopping malls mattered in terms of results. For all three of these tests, survey location was the independent variable which could be divided into two independent groups – inside and outside. The weighted-score sum from the first

six "Air Quality" questions was the dependent variable for the independent-samples t-test and the Mann-Whitney U test. "Air Quality" questions 1-6, 10, and 11 from the questionnaire were each dependent variables in the Mann-Whitney U test. "Air Quality" questions 8 and 9 were each dependent variables in the chi-square test. The independent groups (inside and outside) were compared to each other through the three statistical tests using their respective dependent variables.

The independent groups, with respect to the dependent variable of the weighted-score sum, were analyzed with the independent-samples t-test if no assumptions were violated. According to Laerd Statistics, a website of statistics resources for students and academics, "[t]he independent-samples t-test is used to determine if a difference exists between the means of two independent groups on a continuous dependent variable" (Laerd Statistics, 2013c). Some important assumptions of the t-test are that there are no outliers in any of the groups and that each group's data are normally distributed (Laerd Statistics, 2013c). Explanation of the t-test and outlier is located in Appendix C. The independent groups were checked to ensure that no ttest assumptions were violated before the dependent variable of the weighted-score sum was analyzed with the t-test. Results of the independent-samples t-test determined if questionnaires conducted inside and outside were statistically different based on the averages of the weightedscore sum of the questionnaires. If any of the t-test assumptions were violated, the Mann-Whitney U test was used to analyze the dependent variable of the weighted-score sum. The Mann-Whitney U test is used for ordinal or continuous data to determine whether there is a statistical difference between the medians of the independent groups. The Mann-Whitney U test has fewer restrictions and assumptions than the t-test (Lowry, 2013c). In addition to analyzing the dependent variable of the weighted-score sum, dependent variables "Air Quality" questions

1-6, 10, and 11 were also analyzed using the Mann-Whitney U test. Results of the Mann-Whitney U test also determined if questionnaires conducted inside and outside were statistically different but based on the median of the weighted-score sums of the questionnaires rather than the average in the t-test. "Air Quality" questions 8 and 9 were analyzed with the Chi-square test for association, which tests whether two nominal variables (survey location and either "Air Quality" question 8 or 9) are associated or independent (Laerd Statistics, 2013a). Results from the chi-square test for association determined if answers to "Air Quality" questions 8 and 9 were associated to the survey location or if the answers were independent of survey location. More detailed explanations of the statistical tests and terms used in the methodology are located in Appendix C.

#### **3.1.4.** Data Analysis: Comparing Certification Statuses

All the questionnaire data from every mall were analyzed to determine whether people could perceive a difference in IAQ between certified and uncertified shopping malls. The certification status was the independent variable divided into two independent groups – certified and uncertified. The independent-samples t-test, Mann-Whitney U test, and the chi-square test for association were again used to determine if there was a statistical difference between the public's opinions of IAQ in uncertified and certified shopping malls. The dependent variables used in the three statistical tests remained the same as the previous section (3.1.3. Data Analysis: Comparing Survey Location).

#### 3.1.5. Data Analysis: Comparing Certification Classes

To investigate the IAQ Certification Scheme further, the data were analyzed to determine whether there were statistical differences in questionnaire responses in regards to the certification classes. The three certification classes are 'Excellent' class, 'Good' class, and uncertified. The One-way analysis of variation (ANOVA), a statistical test, was utilized to determine if the three certification classes of shopping malls differed in IAQ based on the public's opinion. Similar to the t-test used previously to compare survey locations and certification statuses, the one-way ANOVA determines whether there is a statistical difference among the means of the three independent groups (Laerd Statistics, 2013f). Results from ANOVA showed if there was a statistical difference between the public's opinions of the IAQ in the three certification classes of shopping malls based on the means of the weighted-score sum. The certification class was the independent variable with three independent groups - excellent, good, and uncertified. The dependent variable was again the weighted-score sum from the first six "Air Quality" questions from the questionnaire. ANOVA was valid if the independent variable, with respect to the dependent variable of the weighted-score sum, was confirmed to have satisfied the assumptions of ANOVA. The most important assumptions of ANOVA are that "[t]here are no outliers in any of the groups," "[e]ach group's data is normally distributed," and "[t]he groups have equal variances" (Laerd Statistics, 2013f). If none of the assumptions of ANOVA were violated, ANOVA was performed. Results from ANOVA showed if there was a statistical difference between the average weighted-score sum of the three certification classes. However, ANOVA is not capable of showing which two certification classes differed if there was statistical difference. To find which two certification classes differed, the Tukey's HSD test, a post-hoc test, was performed after ANOVA (Verial & Demand Media, n.d.). If the assumptions of ANOVA were violated, the Kruskal-Wallis test was conducted. According to Laerd Statistics, "the Kruskal-Wallis test is the non-parametric alternative to the one-way ANOVA and is used to determine whether there are any statistically significant differences between the distributions of three or more independent (unrelated) groups" (Laerd Statistics, 2013d). If the Kruskal-Wallis test

59

showed a significant difference, a pairwise comparisons post-hoc test was performed to see which certification classes differed. "Air Quality" questions 1-6, 10, and 11 were analyzed using the Kruskal-Wallis test and, if applicable, the pairwise comparisons test showed which pair with the three independent groups statistically differed. "Air Quality" questions 8 and 9 were analyzed by the Chi-square test for association.

#### **3.1.6.** Data Analysis: Comparing the Ten Shopping Malls

The data were also analyzed to rank the malls based on people's perception of IAQ. The mall was the independent variable divided into ten independent groups – Malls 1 through 10. The weighted-score sum, calculated for each questionnaire from each of the ten malls, was attempted to be analyzed with ANOVA and Tukey's HSD test. If ANOVA and Tukey's HSD test could not be used because assumptions were violated, the Kruskal-Wallis test and the pairwise comparisons test were used instead. Table 3.2 summarizes the tests used for each "Air Quality" question with respect to the analyzed independent variables.

"Air Quality" questions 7, 7a, 12, and 13 were analyzed in Excel by calculating percentages of each answer of each question with respect to all the surveys collected. "Air Quality" question 12a was analyzed in Excel by calculating the question's arithmetic mean with respect to all the surveys collected. These questions were separate from the other analyses because these questions were used to gauge the public's interest and knowledge in IAQ.

A summary of the independent variables and their respective independent groups used I the statistical tests are shown in Table 3.3. Pie charts and bar graphs were created in SPSS Statistics 22 to show the demographics of the respondents (IBM Corp., 2013). The arithmetic mean of the time spent in malls was calculated.

		Independent Variable							
	"Air Quality" Question	Survey Location	Certification Status	Certification Class	Mall				
			Statist	tical Tests					
	1								
	2			Kmakal Wallis Test &					
	3	Mann-Wl	hitney U Test	Pairwise Comparisons	N/A				
	4			Post-Hoc Test	1 1/2 1				
	5								
	6								
t Variable	Sum of Weighted Score of 1-6	Independent S Mann-Whitne assumption	Samples t-Test; or ey U Test if t-Test s were violated	ANOVA & Tukey's HSD Test; or Kruskal-Wallis Test & Pairwise Comparisons Post-Hoc Test if ANOVA assumptions were violated					
den	7		N/A	N/A					
en	7a								
Dep	8	Chi-Square Te	est for Association	Chi-Square Test for	NI/A				
	9	-		Association	1 <b>N</b> / A				
	10	Mann-Whitney U Test		Kruskal-Wallis Test &					
	11			Pairwise Comparisons Post-Hoc Test	N/A				
	12	NT/ 4							
	12a	-	N/A	N/A					
	13								

Table 3.2: Summary of Statistical Tests Used for Analysis of Independent Variables

Table 3.3: Summary of Analyzed Independent Variables and their Independent Groups

Independent Variable	Independent Groups
Survey Location	Inside, Outside
Certification Status	Certified, Uncertified
Certification Class	Excellent, Good, Uncertified
Mall	Mall 1, Mall 2, Mall 3,, Mall 10

#### **3.2.** Objective 2: Researching IAQ Parameter Guidelines

To complete the comparison between Hong Kong's IAQ Objectives and the IAQ guidelines of other countries, research was done on the current IAQ Objectives used in Hong Kong. Nine of the twelve parameters in the IAQ Objectives were chosen to be researched excluding the three physical parameters: temperature (T), relative humidity (RH), and air movement. Each of the nine parameters (carbon dioxide, carbon monoxide, formaldehyde, ozone, total volatile organic compounds, radon, airborne bacteria count, nitrogen dioxide, and respirable suspended particulates) chosen were researched individually to find international guidelines. Recommended guidelines from five countries were selected to compare with Hong Kong's IAQ Objectives because of the countries' similar climate with Hong Kong or because of Hong Kong's past references to the country's IAQ policies. The five countries are Canada, Singapore, Malaysia, Australia, and China. A table was created for each of the nine parameters listing Hong Kong's guidelines and recommended guidelines from the five different countries. The tables allowed for an easy comparison between Hong Kong's IAQ Objectives and international guidelines for each parameter. The World Health Organization's (WHO) latest recommended guidelines were also included for each of the nine parameters unless the parameter was not included in WHO's most recent recommendations for assessing IAQ. Though, WHO is not a country, Hong Kong's current IAQ Objectives were derived from past WHO recommended guidelines so it is helpful to compare Hong Kong's IAQ Objectives to WHO's most recently recommended IAQ guidelines. Comparisons between the international guidelines and current Hong Kong IAQ Objectives were made to determine where Hong Kong stood in comparison. From the comparisons, Hong Kong's IAQ Objectives were considered to be too low, too high, or on par with either WHO or internationally recommended guidelines. Research was also

conducted on international airborne fungi guidelines because airborne fungi was promised to be added as an additional parameter in the next revision of Hong Kong's IAQ Objectives. In total, there were ten parameters compared.

#### 3.3. Objective 3: Researching IAQ Technology

Based on email communication with mall management offices, it was determined that some malls have installed carbon dioxide detectors to control ventilation (M. Tung, personal communication, January 20, 2014). From this information, IAQ detectors capable of controlling ventilation systems were looked into to determine if more efficient and accurate detectors were available (Fantech Intelligent Ventilation, 2009; Honeywell Analytics, 2012a; Lennox International Inc., 2014; United Technologies Corporation, 2013). More research was done in regards to new technology in MVAC systems and filtration methods. Research was focused on technology that could replace or be incorporated into already installed MVAC systems (IEQ Global, 2013c; PeakPureAir, 2013; White, 2009). IAQ technology providers such as Honeywell were looked into to determine the approximate costs of the technology found (Honeywell Analytics, 2012b). Research was done on different technological advances to make Hong Kong's MVAC systems more efficient or upgraded. Technologies were compared to determine what would be the most valuable to Hong Kong (Siegel & Zaatari, 2003; White, 2009). Enhanced Media Filtration (EMF) filters, photocatalytic oxidation, and the Honeywell IAQPoint2 were determined to be beneficial technologies for Hong Kong, worth looking into. Research was done on the technologies and a list of questions meant to drive more thorough research was developed (Environmental Energy Technologies Division, 2014; Honeywell, 2012; HubPages, 2014; IEQ Global, 2013b). The questions included, "how often do EMF filters need to be replaced compared to High Efficiency Particulate Arresting (HEPA) filters?" and "is

photocatalytic oxidation able to be used inside of MVAC systems?". HEPA filters were recommended by the Hong Kong government at the establishment of IAQ Certification Scheme and are most commonly used in MVAC systems (The Government of the HKSAR IAQ Management Group, 2003b). More research was conducted in order to answer the questions that came up during the previous research (Destaillats et al, 2012; Healthy Air, 2014; Honeywell, 2012). Finally, further research on information that could not be found was suggested for the EPD to look into, so that the EPD could conclude if any of these technologies would be of value to Hong Kong buildings.

## 4. Results and Discussion / Analysis

#### 4.1. Questionnaire Results

The questionnaire results are divided into six sections. The first section discusses the demographics of the questionnaires. The second section compares survey location to determine whether surveying inside or outside statistically affected the data. The third section compares certification status to discover whether there were statistical differences in IAQ between certified and uncertified malls based on people's perceptions. The fourth section compares the certification classes to explore whether people could notice differences in IAQ among the 'Excellent', 'Good', and uncertified class malls. The fifth section compares each of the ten malls to determine which mall had the best IAQ based on the weighted-score sum. The sixth section analyzed "Air Quality" questions 7, 7a, 12, 12a, and 13.

#### 4.1.1. Demographics of Samples

Five-hundred twenty-six (526) questionnaires were collected at the ten malls. A majority of the questionnaires (79.47%) were collected outside the malls, while 20.58% were collected inside the malls. Figure 4.1 shows how many questionnaires were collected at each mall, and

Figure 4.2 shows the percentages of surveying inside versus outside the malls. The goal was to collect 100 questionnaires at Mall 3, and 50 questionnaires at each of the other malls. Some malls had a little more or less than 50 questionnaires due to human error. Not all 50 questionnaires were collected at Mall 2 because surveying at Mall 2 proved to be challenging. Permission was not given to survey inside Mall 2, and mall security did not allow surveying near the mall's exits. The streets surrounding Mall 2 were also very inconvenient for surveying because they were very narrow and congested resulting in 25 questionnaires being collected.



Figure 4.1: Number of Questionnaires Collected at Each Mall



Figure 4.2: Survey Location Demographic

There were more responses from females and younger people than from males and older people, respectively. Regarding gender, 54.30% of questionnaire respondents were female and 45.70% were male, as seen in Figure 4.3. Respondents under the age of 21 represented 50.38% of the questionnaire total. Those in the age group of 21-35 years of age represented 40.08%, 36-45 years of age represented 4.58%, 46-64 years of age represented 4.58%, and aged 65 and over represented 0.28%. Figure 4.4 illustrates the age demographic, and Figure 4.5 shows the age and gender demographics together. Based on anecdotal stories from respondents, malls tended to be places where young people particularly high school and university students, especially female students, convene for recreation, so most respondents were under the age of 36 and female. Also, females and younger people under the age of 36 were generally more willing to stop to fill out the questionnaires. People over the age of 35 were less likely to stop to fill out the questionnaire because they were more in a hurry and/or had children with them who were unwilling to stop. There was not much response from those aged 65 and older because the

elderly generally did not go to malls often. The average time people spent in the shopping malls was 86.30 minutes with a standard deviation of 87.62, and the median was 60 minutes.



Figure 4.3: Gender Demographic



Figure 4.4: Age Demographic



Figure 4.5: Age and Gender Demographics

There were more Hong Kong residents surveyed than tourists. Of those who responded, 21.61% were tourists and 78.39% were residents. Many tourists came from the United States (27.45%), China (22.55%), United Kingdom (7.84%), Taiwan (6.86%), and Australia (5.88%). Figure 4.6 illustrates the residency demographic, and Figure 4.7 shows which countries the tourists were from.



Figure 4.6: Residency Demographic



Figure 4.7: Tourist's Country Demographic

#### 4.1.2. Comparing Survey Location – Inside and Outside

Since most of the data collected were from surveying outside, it was important to determine if the location of surveying (inside or outside of the mall) statistically affected the data. Mall 3 data was used to analyze whether or not a difference in data results occurred from surveying inside versus outside the mall. The first step was to check whether the independent-samples t-test could be used with the weighted-score sum. This was done by checking whether or not the data violated the assumptions of the t-test, such as the data do not contain outliers (Laerd Statistics, 2014c). To check, a boxplot of the sum of the weighted scores with respect to survey location was created, as seen in Figure 4.8. According to Figure 4.8, there were three outliers in the data. Therefore, the t-test could not be used and the Mann-Whitney U test was used instead.



Figure 4.8: Boxplot of the Sum of Weighted Scores and Survey Location

The weighted-scores sum and "Air Quality" questions 1-6, 10 and 11 were analyzed with the Mann-Whitney U test. The Mann-Whitney U test gives a Mann-Whitney test statistic (U) value. The U value is converted into a z-score (z), and in turn a p-value (Graham, 2011). A significance level ( $\alpha$ ) of 0.05 was used for all statistical tests. This means that if the test result gives a p-value less than 0.05, then there is a statistical difference between the groups (e.g. inside and outside). Definitions of statistical terms, such as significance level and p-value, are located in Appendix C. The test results and p-values (p) of each question are located in Table 4.1, and medians of the raw data of "Air Quality" questions 1-6, 10, and 11 and the weighted-score sum are located in Table 4.2. In the tables and figures, "AQ" is an abbreviation for "Air Quality" question; for example "AQ1 raw" means "Air Quality" question 1 before being weighted. Also, "Sum of Weighted Quest." represents the weighted-score sum. Before a conclusion can be made regarding the medians of the raw data of "Air Quality" questions 1-6, 10, and 11 and the weighted-score sum, the distributions of the data were checked if they violated a critical assumption of the Mann-Whitney U test. The critical assumption is that the two distributions of the independent groups (survey locations inside and outside) have the same or similar shape (Laerd Statistics, 2013e). Distribution graphs of the questionnaire data with respect to survey location were created, as seen in Figures 4.9 to 4.17. As assessed by visual inspection, the distributions of the questions for inside and outside were similar. The median scores of "Air quality" question 1, U=13475, z=0.747, p=0.455; question 2, U=1093, z=-1.139, p=0.255; question 3, U=1275, z=0.190, p=0.849; question 4, U=1229, z=-0.156, p=0.876; question 5, U=1157.5, z=-0.677, p=0.498; question 6,U=1352.5, z=0.756, p=0.450; question 10, U=1141, z=-0.788, p=0.431; and the weighted-score sum, U=1349, z=0.690, p=0.490 were not statistically different between outside and inside. The score for "Air Quality" question 11 was
statistically different between inside (Median (Mdn)=4.00) and outside (Mdn=3.00), U=828, z=-2.848, p=0.004. Since none of the p values from the statistical tests was less than 0.05, there was no statistical difference between data collected inside and outside the mall. The U and z values also have a critical value to show if there is a statistical difference but for this project, the focus is on p value. These results show that surveying inside or outside did not statistically affect questionnaire data, except for question 11.

	Null Hypothesis	Test	Sig.	Decision
1	The distribution of AQ1 raw is the same across categories of Outside/Inside.	Independent- Samples Mann- Whitney U Test	.455	Retain the null hypothesis.
2	The distribution of AQ2 raw is the same across categories of Outside/Inside.	Independent- Samples Mann- Whitney U Test	.255	Retain the null hypothesis.
3	The distribution of AQ3 raw is the same across categories of Outside/Inside.	Independent- Samples Mann- Whitney U Test	.849	Retain the null hypothesis.
4	The distribution of AQ4 raw is the same across categories of Outside/Inside.	Independent- Samples Mann- Whitney U Test	.876	Retain the null hypothesis.
5	The distribution of AQ5 raw is the same across categories of Outside/Inside.	Independent- Samples Mann- Whitney U Test	.498	Retain the null hypothesis.
6	The distribution of AQ8 raw is the same across categories of Outside/Inside.	Independent- Samples Mann- Whitney U Test	.450	Retain the null hypothesis.
7	The distribution of AQ10 is the same across categories of Outside/Inside.	Independent- Samples Mann- Whitney U Test	.431	Retain the null hypothesis.
8	The distribution of AQ11 is the same across categories of Outside/Inside.	Independent- Samples Mann- Whitney U Test	.004	Reject the null hypothesis.
9	The distribution of Sum of weight quest, is the same across categories of Outside/Inside.	Independent- Bamples Mann- Whitney U Test	.490	Retain the null hypothesis.

Table 4.1: Mann-Whitney U Test Results for Survey Location

Asymptotic significances are displayed. The significance level is .05.

	/T · 1	AQ1	AQ2	AQ3	AQ4	AQ5	AQ6	4.0.10	4.011	Sum of weighted
Outs1d	e/Inside	raw	raw	raw	raw	raw	raw	AQIO	AQII	quest.
Inside	N	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50
	Media n	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	3.50	4.00	4.00	-2.00
Outsi	N	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	49	50
de	Media n	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	3.50	3.00	-1.00
Total	Ν	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	99	100
	Media n	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	-2.00

Table 4.2: Median of Dependent Variables with Respect to Survey Location

Independent-Samples Mann-Whitney U Test



Figure 4.9: Results for "Air Quality" Question 1 with Respect to Survey Location



Figure 4.10: Results for "Air Quality" Question 2 with Respect to Survey Location



Figure 4.11: Results for "Air Quality" Question 3 with Respect to Survey Location



Figure 4.12: Results for "Air Quality" Question 4 with Respect to Survey Location



Figure 4.13: Results for "Air Quality" Question 5 with Respect to Survey Location



Figure 4.14: Results for "Air Quality" Question 6 with Respect to Survey Location



Figure 4.15: Results for "Air Quality" Question 10 with Respect to Survey Location



Figure 4.16: Results for "Air Quality" Question 11 with Respect to Survey Location



Figure 4.17: Results for the Sum of the Weighted Scores with Respect to Survey Location

To analyze "Air Quality" questions 8 and 9, cross tabulations of their data were made and the chi-square statistical test was conducted. The results for question 8 are located in Tables 4.3 and 4.4, and the results for question 9 are located in Table 4.5 and 4.6.

			A	Q8	
			Better	Worse	Total
Outside/Inside	Inside	Count	1	0	1
		Expected Count	.3	.8	1.0
		% within Outside/Inside	100.0%	0.0%	100.0%
		% within AQ8	100.0%	0.0%	25.0%
		% of Total	25.0%	0.0%	25.0%
	Outside	Count	0	3	3
		Expected Count	.8	2.3	3.0
		% within Outside/Inside	0.0%	100.0%	100.0%
		% within AQ8	0.0%	100.0%	75.0%
		% of Total	0.0%	75.0%	75.0%
Total		Count	1	3	4
		Expected Count	1.0	3.0	4.0
		% within Outside/Inside	25.0%	75.0%	100.0%
		% within AQ8	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%
		% of Total	25.0%	75.0%	100.0%

Table 4.3: Cross Tabulation of "Air Quality" Question 8 and Survey Location

Table 4.4: Chi-Square Test of "Air Quality" Question 8 with Respect to Survey Location

			Asymp. Sig. (2-	Exact Sig. (2-	Exact Sig. (1-
	Value	df	sided)	sided)	sided)
Pearson Chi-Square	4.000	1	.046		
Continuity Correction	.444	1	.505		
Likelihood Ratio	4.499	1	.034		
Fisher's Exact Test				.250	.250
N of Valid Cases	4				

				AQ9		
					Don't	
			Yes	No	Know	Total
Outside/Inside	Inside	Count	33	13	4	50
		Expected Count	35.0	11.5	3.5	50.0
		% within Outside/Inside	66.0%	26.0%	8.0%	100.0%
		% within AQ9	47.1%	56.5%	57.1%	50.0%
		% of Total	33.0%	13.0%	4.0%	50.0%
	Outside	Count	37	10	3	50
		Expected Count	35.0	11.5	3.5	50.0
		% within Outside/Inside	74.0%	20.0%	6.0%	100.0%
		% within AQ9	52.9%	43.5%	42.9%	50.0%
		% of Total	37.0%	10.0%	3.0%	50.0%
Total		Count	70	23	7	100
		Expected Count	70.0	23.0	7.0	100.0
		% within Outside/Inside	70.0%	23.0%	7.0%	100.0%
		% within AQ9	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%
		% of Total	70.0%	23.0%	7.0%	100.0%

Table 4.5: Cross Tabulation of "Air Quality" Question 9 and Survey Location

2 cells (33.3%) have expected count less than 5. The minimum expected count is 3.50.

Table 4.6: Chi-Square Test of	""Air Quality"	Question 9 with	Respect to Survey	/ Location
-------------------------------	----------------	-----------------	-------------------	------------

	Value	Df	Asymp. Sig. (2-sided)
Pearson Chi-Square	.763	2	.683
Likelihood Ratio	.764	2	.682
N of Valid Cases	100		

The results in Tables 4.3 and 4.5 showed that the data for both questions 8 and 9 violated a condition for using the chi-square test. The violated condition was that "no more that 20% of the expected counts are less than 5 and all individual expected counts are 1 or greater" (Weaver, 2013). All of the expected counts for question 8 were less than five, and 33.3% of the expected counts for question 9 were less than five. An alternative method to analyze questions 8 and 9 was to conduct bootstrapping, which "is a computer-based method for assigning measures of accuracy to sample estimates" and "generate[s] an estimate of the sampling distribution of almost any statistic" (Cross Validated, 2012; Varian, 2005). Bootstrapping is beyond the capabilities of this project team because it involves computer coding, so no further analysis was conducted on questions 8 and 9 (Varian, 2005).

Analyzing Mall 3 data revealed that for "Air Quality" questions 1-6 and 10 and the weighted-score sum there was no statistical difference in surveying indoors and outdoors. However, for "Air Quality" question 11, which is rating the outdoor air quality, there was a statistical difference in conducting questionnaires inside and outside the mall. Analysis of "Air Quality" questions 8 and 9 could not be performed because of there was not enough data to satisfy the assumptions of the chi-square test.

#### 4.1.3. Comparing Certification Status – Certified and Not Yet Certified

Objective 1 is compare the general public's opinion of IAQ in certified and uncertified malls. To accomplish the objective, all 526 questionnaires from the ten malls, separated by certification status – certified and uncertified, were analyzed to determine whether people can distinguish the difference in IAQ in certified and uncertified malls. The first dependent variable to be analyzed was the sum of the weighted scores. The sum was checked if it violated the assumptions of the independent t-test. Figure 4.18 showed that the sum had five outliers, thereby

violating the t-test assumption of having no outlier data. Since the t-test could not be conducted, the Mann-Whitney U test was used to analyze the sum instead.



Figure 4.18: Boxplot of the Sum of Weighted Scores and Certification Status

The sum of the weighted scores and "Air Quality" questions 1-6, 10, and 11 were analyzed with the Mann-Whitney U test. The test results for each question are located in Table 4.7, and the medians of the data are located in Table 4.8. The distributions of the questions were examined if they violated they assumption that the distributions of the two independent groups (certified and uncertified) have the same or similar shape (Laerd Statistics, 2013e). The distributions of the questions are located in Figures 4.19 to 4.27. By visual inspection, the distributions of "Air Quality" questions 1-6 and 10 and the weighted-score sum for uncertified and certified were determined to be similar, but the distribution for "Air Quality" question 11 for uncertified and certified were determined to be unlike. This meant that the results of the Mann-Whitney U test for question 11 could not use the median but rather the mean ranks to determine whether there was a statistical difference between the certification status groups (Laerd Statistics,

2013e). Mean ranks are explained in Appendix C.

Table 4.7: Mann-Whitney U Test Results for Certification Status

	Null Hypothesis	Test	Sig.	Decision
1	The distribution of AQ1 raw is the same across categories of Certified/Uncertified.	Independent- Samples Mann- Whitney U Test	.185	Retain the null hypothesis.
2	The distribution of AQ2 raw is the same across categories of Certified/Uncertified.	Independent- Samples Mann- Whitney U Test	.079	Retain the null hypothesis.
3	The distribution of AQ3 raw is the same across categories of Certified/Uncertified.	Independent- Samples Mann- Whitney U Test	.691	Retain the null hypothesis.
4	The distribution of AQ4 raw is the same across categories of Certified/Uncertified.	Independent- Samples Mann- Whitney U Test	.990	Retain the null hypothesis.
5	The distribution of AQ5 raw is the same across categories of Certified/Uncertified.	Independent- Samples Mann- Whitney U Test	.838	Retain the null hypothesis.
6	The distribution of AQ8 raw is the same across categories of Certified/Uncertified.	Independent- Samples Mann- Whitney U Test	.844	Retain the null hypothesis.
7	The distribution of AQ10 is the same across categories of Certified/Uncertified.	Independent- Samples Mann- Whitney U Test	.598	Retain the null hypothesis.
8	The distribution of AQ11 is the same across categories of Certified/Uncertified.	Independent- Samples Mann- Whitney U Test	.003	Reject the null hypothesis.
9	The distribution of Sum of weight quest. is the same across categories of Certified/Uncertified	Independent- eaamples Mann- .Whitney U Test	.241	Retain the null hypothesis.

Hypothesis Test Summary

Asymptotic significances are displayed. The significance level is .05.

									Sum of
	AQ1	AQ2	AQ3	AQ4	AQ5	AQ6			weighted
Certified/Uncertified	raw	raw	raw	raw	raw	raw	AQ10	AQ11	quest.
Certified	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	3.50	4.00	-2.00
Uncertified	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	3.00	4.00	-2.00
Total	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	3.00	4.00	-2.00

Table 4.8: Median of Dependent Variables with Respect to Certification Status



Independent-Samples Mann-Whitney U Test

Figure 4.19: Results for "Air Quality" Question 1 with Respect to Certification Status



Figure 4.20: Results for "Air Quality" Question 2 with Respect to Certification Status



Figure 4.21: Results for "Air Quality" Question 3 with Respect to Certification Status



Figure 4.22: Results for "Air Quality" Question 4 with Respect to Certification Status

Independent-Samples Mann-Whitney U Test



Figure 4.23: Results for "Air Quality" Question 5 with Respect to Certification Status



Figure 4.24: Results for "Air Quality" Question 6 with Respect to Certification Status



Figure 4.25: Result for "Air Quality" Question 10 with Respect to Certification Status



Figure 4.26: Results for "Air Quality" Question 11 with Respect to Certification Status



Figure 4.27: Results for the Sum of the Weighted Scores with Respect to Certification Status

The median scores of "Air quality" question 1, U=34879, z=1.325, p=0.185; question 2, U=35606.5, z=1.758, p=0.079; question 3, U=31880.5, z=-0.398, p=0.691; question 4, U=32540.5, z=0.012, p=0.990; question 5, U=32298, z=-0.205, p=0.838; question 6, U=32723.5, z=0.197, p=0.844; question 10, U=21505.5, z=-0.527, p=0.598; and the weighted-score sum, U=33788.5, z=1.173, p=0.241, were not statistically different between certified and uncertified malls since the p values were all greater than 0.05. This meant that the temperature, air quality, air flow, and humidity between certified and uncertified malls were perceived to be the same. The score for "Air Quality" question 11 for certified (mean rank=245.97) was significantly lower than uncertified (mean rank=284.93), U=36970.5, z=2.941, p=0.003. This meant that people perceived the outdoor air quality around certified malls to be better than the outdoor air quality around uncertified malls. Since there was a statistical difference between surveying inside and outside of malls for question 11, it was important to verify that the percentages of questionnaire surveyed inside and outside at certified and uncertified malls were similar to ensure that the result was not skewed. Figures 4.28 and 4.29 show the percentage of questionnaires surveyed inside and outside at certified and uncertified malls. The percentage of questionnaires surveyed inside certified malls (22.29%) seemed similar to the percentage of questionnaires surveyed inside uncertified malls (17.73%).



Figure 4.28: Graph of Number of Questionnaires at Certified Malls with Respect to Survey Location



Figure 4.29: Graph of Number of Questionnaires at Uncertified Malls with Respect to Survey Location

"Air Quality" questions 8 and 9 were analyzed with cross tabulations and chi-square test for association. Since the cross tabulation results for questions 8 and 9 did not violate the assumptions of the chi-square test for association as shown in Tables 4.9 and 4.11, respectively, the chi-square test was used to analyze the questions. Shown in Tables 4.10 and 4.12, the chisquare test revealed that there were no statistically significant associations between certified and uncertified malls for question 8, Pearson chi-square ( $\chi^2$ ) (2)=1.566, p=0.457, and for question 9,  $\chi^2(2)=3.121$ , p=0.210. The chi square-test gives a Pearson chi-square ( $\chi^2$ ) value, and the  $\chi^2$  value is converted to a p-value (McLaughlin, 1996). The p-values were greater than 0.05, and therefore the results for questions 8 and 9 meant that the responses to the questions were independent of the certification status of the malls.

		AQ8			
		Better	Similar	Worse	Total
Certified	Count	31	43	11	85
	Expected Count	28.9	43.7	12.5	85.0
	% within Status	36.5%	50.6%	12.9%	100.0%
	% within AQ8	83.8%	76.8%	68.8%	78.0%
	% of Total	28.4%	39.4%	10.1%	78.0%
Uncertified	Count	6	13	5	24
	Expected Count	8.1	12.3	3.5	24.0
	% within Status	25.0%	54.2%	20.8%	100.0%
	% within AQ8	16.2%	23.2%	31.3%	22.0%
	% of Total	5.5%	11.9%	4.6%	22.0%
Total	Count	37	56	16	109
	Expected Count	37.0	56.0	16.0	109.0
	% within Status	33.9%	51.4%	14.7%	100.0%
	% within AQ8	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%
	% of Total	33.9%	51.4%	14.7%	100.0%

Table 4.9: Cross Tabulation of "Air Quality" Question 8 and Certification Status

90

	Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2-sided)
Pearson Chi-Square	1.566	2	.457
Likelihood Ratio	1.555	2	.460
Linear-by-Linear Association	1.548	1	.213
N of Valid Cases	109		

Table 4.10: Chi-Square Test of "Air Quality" Question 8 with Respect to Certification Status

Table 4.11: Cross Tabulation of "Air Qua	lity" Question 9 and Certification Status
--	---

				AQ9		
			N/	NT	Don't	<b>T</b> ( 1
	-	-	Yes	No	Know	Total
Certified/Uncertified	Certified	Count	235	52	34	321
		Expected Count	236.6	46.2	38.2	321.0
		% within Certified/Uncertified	73.2%	16.2%	10.6%	100.0%
		% within AQ9	61.2%	69.3%	54.8%	61.6%
		% of Total	45.1%	10.0%	6.5%	61.6%
	Uncertified	Count	149	23	28	200
		Expected Count	147.4	28.8	23.8	200.0
		% within Certified/Uncertified	74.5%	11.5%	14.0%	100.0%
		% within AQ9	38.8%	30.7%	45.2%	38.4%
		% of Total	28.6%	4.4%	5.4%	38.4%
Total		Count	384	75	62	521
		Expected Count	384.0	75.0	62.0	521.0
		% within Certified/Uncertified	73.7%	14.4%	11.9%	100.0%
		% within AQ9	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%
		% of Total	73.7%	14.4%	11.9%	100.0%

	Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2-sided)
Pearson Chi-Square	3.121	2	.210
Likelihood Ratio	3.157	2	.206
Linear-by-Linear Association	.116	1	.733
N of Valid Cases	521		

Table 4.12: Chi-Square Test of "Air Quality" Question 9 with Respect to Certification Status

The statistical tests for "Air quality" questions 1-6 and 8-10 and the weighted-score sum showed that there were no significant differences in peoples' perception of IAQ of certified and uncertified malls. The statistical test for "Air Quality" question 11 determined that people thought the outdoor air quality was better around certified malls than around uncertified malls.

#### 4.1.4. Comparing Certification Class – Good, Excellent, and Uncertified

Although there was no difference in the perception of mall IAQ with respect to certification status, there could be differences between the certification classes – 'Good,' 'Excellent,' and uncertified. This could have happen because many more questionnaires were taken at good malls as compared to excellent malls and the test results could have been influenced more by the data of the good malls. Looking between the certification classes allowed the data for excellent malls not to be overshadowed by the data for good malls. The data were analyzed to explore whether or not people could perceive differences in mall IAQ in regards to certification class. The first dependent variable to be tested was the weighted-score sum. Since the data had outliers as seen in Figure 4.18, analysis of variance (ANOVA) could not be used to analyze the sum (Laerd Statistics, 2013f). Instead, the sum was analyzed with the Kruskal-Wallis test to determine whether there were statistical differences among the certification classes with respect to the weighted-score sum. Table 4.13 summarizes the results of the test and Table 4.14 shows the medians of the sum with respect to the certification class. To ensure that the Kruskal-

Wallis test was valid for analyzing the median of the data, the shapes of the distributions of the data of the sum with respect to the certification class were examined to see if they were similar (Laerd Statistics, 2013d). Based on visual inspection of Figure 4.30, the shapes of the distributions were the same; therefore, the Kruskal-Wallis test was valid and was used for analysis. The Kruskal-Wallis test showed that there was no significant difference among the excellent (Mdn=-2.00), good (Mdn=-2.00), and uncertified (Mdn=-2.00) certification classes,  $\chi^2(2)$ =1.754, p=0.416.

# Table 4.13: Kruskal-Wallis Test Result for the Sum of the Weighted Scores with Respect to Certification Class

	Hypothesis Test Summary							
	Null Hypothesis	Test	Sig.	Decision				
1	The distribution of Sum of weighted quest. is the same across categories of Certification Class.	Independent-Samples Kruskal-Wallis Test	.416	Retain the null hypothesis.				
A	Asymptotic significances are displayed. The significance level is .05.							

	Table 4.14: Median of	Sum of Weighted S	Scores with Respect to	Certification Class
--	-----------------------	-------------------	------------------------	---------------------

Certification Class	Ν	Median
Excellent	73	-2.00
Good	244	-2.00
Uncertified	201	-2.00
Total	518	-2.00



Independent-Samples Kruskal-Wallis Test

"Air Quality" questions 1-6, 10, and 11 were also analyzed using the Kruskal-Wallis test. The summary of the tests for these questions are located in Table 4.15, and the medians of the data for these questions with respect to certification class are located in Table 4.16. Figures 4.31 to 4.37 and 4.39 show the boxplots of the questions with respect to the certification class. By visual inspection of the boxplots, the shapes of the distributions for each question were similar, except for question 11. According to the Kruskal-Wallis test results, there were no statistical differences with respect to the certification classes in the medians of "Air Quality" question 1,  $\chi^2(2)=2.785$ , p=0.248; question 2,  $\chi^2(2)=3.931$ , p=0.140; question 3,  $\chi^2(2)=0.173$ , p=0.917; question 4,  $\chi^2(2)=0.588$ , p=0.745; question 5,  $\chi^2(2)=0.527$ , p=0.768; and question 6,  $\chi^2(2)=0.162$ , p=0.922. Question 10 was statistically different between the certification classes,  $\chi^2(2)=7.737$ ,

<sup>.</sup> The test statistic is adjusted for ties.

Multiple comparisons are not performed because the overall test does not show significant differences across samples.

Figure 4.30: Boxplot of Sum of Weighted Scores with Respect to Certification Class

p=0.021. A pairwise comparisons post-hoc test, shown in Figure 4.38, was conducted, and it revealed that there were statistical differences between 'Excellent' (Mdn=4.00) and 'Good' (Mdn=3.00) classes (p=0.019) and between 'Excellent' and uncertified (Mdn=3.00) classes  $(p=0.051\approx0.05)$  but not between 'Good' and uncertified classes. This meant that people perceived the IAQ of 'Excellent' malls to be worse than that of 'Good' and uncertified malls and that they perceived the IAQ of uncertified and 'Good' malls to be the same. Question 11 was also statistically different between the certification classes,  $\chi^2(2)=9.273$ , p=0.010. The post-hoc analysis, seen in Figure 4.39, showed that there was a statistical difference between 'Good' (Mdn=4.00) and uncertified (Mdn=4.00) classes (p=0.007) but not between 'Good' and 'Excellent' (Mdn=4.00) classes or between 'Excellent' and uncertified classes. This meant that the distribution of question 11 was not statistically the same between 'Good' and uncertified classes. From visual inspection of Figure 4.38, there was more distribution toward the lower score (better outdoor air quality rating) for 'Good' class than for uncertified class. The result for question 11 could be skewed since there was a statistical difference between surveying inside and outside of the malls. Also surveying inside accounted for 17.73% of questionnaires at uncertified malls, 2.63% at 'Excellent' malls, and 28.34% at 'Good' malls.

# Table 4.15: Kruskal-Wallis Test Results for "Air Quality" Questions with Respect to Certification Class

	Null Hypothesis	Test	Sig.	Decision
1	The distribution of AQ1 raw is th same across categories of Certification Class.	e <sup>l</sup> ndependent- Samples Kruskal- Wallis Test	.248	Retain the null hypothesis.
2	The distribution of AQ2 raw is th same across categories of Certification Class.	e <sup>l</sup> ndependent- Samples Kruskal- Wallis Test	.140	Retain the null hypothesis.
3	The distribution of AQ3 raw is th same across categories of Certification Class.	e <sup>Independent-</sup> Samples Kruskal- Wallis Test	.917	Retain the null hypothesis.
4	The distribution of AQ4 raw is th same across categories of Certification Class.	e <sup>Independent-</sup> Samples Kruskal- Wallis Test	.745	Retain the null hypothesis.
5	The distribution of AQ5 raw is th same across categories of Certification Class.	e <sup>l</sup> ndependent- Samples Kruskal- Wallis Test	.768	Retain the null hypothesis.
6	The distribution of AQ6 raw is th same across categories of Certification Class.	e <sup>l</sup> ndependent- Samples Kruskal- Wallis Test	.922	Retain the null hypothesis.
7	The distribution of AQ10 is the same across categories of Certification Class.	Independent- Samples Kruskal- Wallis Test	.021	Reject the null hypothesis.
8	The distribution of AQ11 is the same across categories of Certification Class.	Independent- Samples Kruskal- Wallis Test	.010	Reject the null hypothesis.

## Hypothesis Test Summary

Asymptotic significances are displayed. The significance level is .05.

		AQ1	AQ2	AQ3	AQ4	AQ5	AQ6		
Certification	n Class	raw	raw	raw	raw	raw	raw	AQ10	AQ11
Excellent	Mean	3.75	4.14	3.88	4.09	3.86	3.89	3.76	3.76
	Ν	76	76	74	76	76	75	76	76
	Std. Deviation	1.060	1.042	.859	.955	1.140	1.021	1.094	1.118
	Median	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00
Good	Mean	3.62	4.01	3.89	4.01	3.96	3.84	3.36	3.63
	Ν	247	247	246	246	247	246	246	244
	Std. Deviation	1.037	1.063	.895	.855	1.061	.920	1.169	1.453
	Median	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	3.00	4.00
Uncertified	Mean	3.77	4.18	3.86	4.02	3.93	3.86	3.41	4.01
	Ν	203	203	203	202	202	202	201	201
	Std. Deviation	.975	.927	.809	.785	1.012	.841	1.069	1.356
	Median	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	3.00	4.00
Total	Mean	3.69	4.09	3.88	4.03	3.93	3.85	3.44	3.80
	Ν	526	526	523	524	525	523	523	521
	Std. Deviation	1.018	1.011	.856	.843	1.053	.904	1.127	1.380
	Median	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	3.00	4.00

Table 4.16: Mean, Standard Deviation, and Median of "Air Quality" Questions



Independent-Samples Kruskal-Wallis Test

The test statistic is adjusted for ties.
 Multiple comparisons are not performed because the overall test does not show significant differences across samples.

Figure 4.31: Boxplot of "Air Quality" Question 1 with Respect to Certification Class



Independent-Samples Kruskal-Wallis Test

The test statistic is adjusted for ties.
 Multiple comparisons are not performed because the overall test does not show significant differences across samples.

Figure 4.32: Boxplot of "Air Quality" Question 2 with Respect to Certification Class



The test statistic is adjusted for ties.
 Multiple comparisons are not performed because the overall test does not show significant differences across samples.

Figure 4.33: Boxplot of "Air Quality" Question 3 with Respect to Certification Class



Independent-Samples Kruskal-Wallis Test

The test statistic is adjusted for ties.
 Multiple comparisons are not performed because the overall test does not show significant differences across samples.

Figure 4.34: Boxplot of "Air Quality" Question 4 with Respect to Certification Class



Independent-Samples Kruskal-Wallis Test

The test statistic is adjusted for ties.
 Multiple comparisons are not performed because the overall test does not show significant differences across samples.

Figure 4.35: Boxplot of "Air Quality" Question 5 with Respect to Certification Class



Independent-Samples Kruskal-Wallis Test

The test statistic is adjusted for ties. Multiple comparisons are not performed because the overall test does not show significant 1. 2. differences across samples.

Figure 4.36: Boxplot of "Air Quality" Question 6 with Respect to Certification Class



Independent-Samples Kruskal-Wallis Test



Figure 4.37: Boxplot of "Air Quality" Question 10 with Respect to Certification Class



### Pairwise Comparisons of Certification Class

Each node shows the sample average rank of Certification Class.

Sample1-Sample2	Test Statistic	Std. Error	Std. Test Statistic	Sig.	Adj.Sig.
Good-Uncertified	-5.435	13.878	392	.695	1.000
Good-Excellent	52.316	19.155	2.731	.006	.019
Uncertified-Excellent	46.881	19.654	2.385	.017	.051

Each row tests the null hypothesis that the Sample 1 and Sample 2 distributions are the same.

Asymptotic significances (2-sided tests) are displayed. The significance level is . 05.

Figure 4.38: Pairwise Comparisons Post-Hoc Test of "Air Quality" Question 10 with Respect to **Certification Class** 



#### Independent-Samples Kruskal-Wallis Test

1. The test statistic is adjusted for ties.

Figure 4.39: Boxplot of "Air Quality" Question 11 with Respect to Certification Class



### Pairwise Comparisons of Certification Class

Each node shows the sample average rank of Certification Class.

Sample1-Sample2	Test Statistic	Std. Error	Std. Test Statistic	Sig.	Adj.Sig.
Good-Excellent	15.306	19.341	.791	.429	1.000
Good-Uncertified	-42.601	14.024	-3.038	.002	.007
Excellent-Uncertified	-27.295	19.826	-1.377	.169	.506

Each row tests the null hypothesis that the Sample 1 and Sample 2 distributions are the same. Asymptotic significances (2-sided tests) are displayed. The significance level is .

Asymptotic significances (2-sided tests) are displayed. The significance level is 05.

## Figure 4.40: Pairwise Comparisons Post-Hoc Test of "Air Quality" Question 11 with Respect to Certification Class

"Air Quality" questions 8 and 9 were analyzed by putting their data in cross tabulations and by the chi-square test for association. Tables 4.17 and 4.19 are the cross tabulations, and Tables 4.18 and 4.19 show the chi-square test results.

				AQ8		
			Better	Similar	Worse	Total
Certification	Excellent	Count	7	6	3	16
Class		Expected Count	5.4	8.2	2.3	16.0
		% within Certification Class	43.8%	37.5%	18.8%	100.0%
		% within AQ8	18.9%	10.7%	18.8%	14.7%
		% of Total	6.4%	5.5%	2.8%	14.7%
	Good	Count	24	37	8	69
		Expected Count	23.4	35.4	10.1	69.0
		% within Certification Class	34.8%	53.6%	11.6%	100.0%
		% within AQ8	64.9%	66.1%	50.0%	63.3%
		% of Total	22.0%	33.9%	7.3%	63.3%
	Uncertified	Count	6	13	5	24
		Expected Count	8.1	12.3	3.5	24.0
		% within Certification Class	25.0%	54.2%	20.8%	100.0%
		% within AQ8	16.2%	23.2%	31.3%	22.0%
		% of Total	5.5%	11.9%	4.6%	22.0%
Total		Count	37	56	16	109
		Expected Count	37.0	56.0	16.0	109.0
		% within Certification Class	33.9%	51.4%	14.7%	100.0%
		% within AQ8	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%
		% of Total	33.9%	51.4%	14.7%	100.0%

Table 4.17: Cross Tabulation of "Air Quality" Question 8 and Certification Class

	Value	Df	Asymp. Sig. (2-sided)
Pearson Chi-Square	2.984	4	.560
Likelihood Ratio	3.013	4	.556
Linear-by-Linear Association	1.154	1	.283
N of Valid Cases	109		

Table 4.18: Chi-Square Test of "Air Quality" Question 8 with Respect to Certification Class

### Table 4.19: Cross Tabulation of "Air Quality" Question 9 and Certification Class

				AQ9		
					Don't	
			Yes	No	Know	Total
Certification	Excellent	Count	47	13	15	75
Class		Expected Count	55.3	10.8	8.9	75.0
		% within Certification Class	62.7%	17.3%	20.0%	100.0%
		% within AQ9	12.2%	17.3%	24.2%	14.4%
		% of Total	9.0%	2.5%	2.9%	14.4%
	Good	Count	188	39	19	246
		Expected Count	181.3	35.4	29.3	246.0
		% within Certification Class	76.4%	15.9%	7.7%	100.0%
		% within AQ9	49.0%	52.0%	30.6%	47.2%
		% of Total	36.1%	7.5%	3.6%	47.2%
	Uncertified	Count	149	23	28	200
		Expected Count	147.4	28.8	23.8	200.0
		% within Certification Class	74.5%	11.5%	14.0%	100.0%
		% within AQ9	38.8%	30.7%	45.2%	38.4%
		% of Total	28.6%	4.4%	5.4%	38.4%
Total		Count	384	75	62	521
		Expected Count	384.0	75.0	62.0	521.0
		% within Certification Class	73.7%	14.4%	11.9%	100.0%
		% within AQ9	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%
		% of Total	73.7%	14.4%	11.9%	100.0%

	Value	Df	Asymp. Sig. (2-sided)
Pearson Chi-Square	11.963	4	.018
Likelihood Ratio	11.842	4	.019
Linear-by-Linear Association	1.185	1	.276
N of Valid Cases	521		

Table 4.20: Chi-Square Test of "Air Quality" Question 9 with Respect to Certification Class

The test showed that there was not a statistically significant association between certification class and question 8,  $\chi^2(4)=2.984$ , p=0.560. The chi-square test for question 8 might not be reliable because 22% of the expected counts were less than five and the chi-square test assumes no more than 20% of the expected counts to be less than five (Weaver, 2013). The chi-square test revealed that there was a statistically significant association between certification class and question 9,  $\chi^2(4)=11.963$ , p=0.018. More people thought that the IAQ in 'Excellent' malls was unsatisfactory than in 'Good' or uncertified malls. Also, when asked if the IAQ was satisfactory, more people were unsure in 'Excellent' malls than in 'Good' or uncertified malls.

Statistical tests showed that there were no statistical differences in the certification classes for the weighted-score sum and "Air Quality" questions 1-6 and 8. The results for question 8 might be unreliable since it violated a test assumption. There were differences in certification classes for "Air Quality" questions 9, 10, and 11. For question 11, there was more distribution toward the better outdoor air quality rating for good malls than for uncertified malls, and there were no differences between 'Excellent' and 'Good' malls and between 'Excellent' and uncertified malls. However, the results for question 11 could be skewed. For question 9, more people thought that the IAQ was unsatisfactory at 'Excellent' malls than at uncertified and 'Good' malls. For question 10, the IAQ at 'Excellent' malls was rated lower than the IAQ at
'Good' and uncertified malls, and the IAQ at 'Good' malls was ranked the same as the IAQ at uncertified malls. It seemed that people thought the IAQ of 'Excellent' malls was worse than the IAQ at 'Good' and uncertified malls.

#### 4.1.5. Comparisons of Malls – Mall 1 – 10

The malls were ranked to determine which mall had the best IAQ according to people's perception by analyzing the weighted-score sum. The median and mean of the weighted-score sum with respect to the malls are located in Table 4.21. Since the data of the weighted-score sum had outliers (see Figure 4.41), the ANOVA test could not be performed so the Kruskal-Wallis test was performed instead. The Kruskal-Wallis test showed that there were statistical differences between the malls,  $\chi^2(9)=10.912$ , p=0.282. The post-hoc test, seen in Figure 4.42, revealed that there were differences between Mall 10 (Mdn=-2.00) and Mall 9 (Mdn=-0.50) (p<0.001), between Mall 1 (Mdn=-2.00) and Mall 9 (p=0.049), and between Mall 3 and Mall 9 (p=0.025). The post-hoc test also revealed that there were no statistical differences between the other combinations of malls. Since Mall 9 had the highest median (better overall IAQ-score median) and had statistical differences between malls, it seemed that people perceived Mall 9 to have the best IAQ. The other malls could not be ranked because there were no statistical differences between them. Mall 9 was an uncertified mall yet it was rated higher than 'Good' and 'Excellent' malls. This implied that, based on people's perceptions, uncertified malls can have good IAQ even though they have not gone through certification.

Mall	Mean	Ν	Std. Deviation	Median
Mall 1	-2.27	49	3.200	-2.00
Mall 2	-2.00	24	2.126	-2.00
Mall 3	-2.07	100	2.471	-2.00
Mall 4	-1.88	48	2.922	-1.00
Mall 5	-1.83	48	2.337	-2.00
Mall 6	-2.25	48	2.547	-2.00
Mall 7	-1.74	50	2.302	-1.00
Mall 8	-2.00	50	2.821	-2.00
Mall 9	56	50	2.032	50
Mall 10	-2.82	51	2.242	-2.00
Total	-1.95	518	2.570	-2.00

Table 4.21: Mean, Number, Standard Deviation, and Median of the Sum of the WeightedScores with Respect to the Malls

Independent-Samples Kruskal-Wallis Test



1. The test statistic is adjusted for ties.

Figure 4.41: Boxplot of the Sum of the Weighted Scores with Respect to the Malls

Pairwise Comparisons of MallNumber

Mall 10 203.33

Mall 9 340.37



Mall 6-Mall 5	23.802	30.294	.786	.432	1.000
Mall 6-Mall 7	-30.148	29.990	-1.005	.315	1.000
Mall 6-Mall 9	-96.068	29.990	-3.203	.001	.061
Mall 2-Mall 3	-5.324	33.734	158	.875	1.000
Mall 2-Mall 8	-13.299	36.855	361	.718	1.000
Mali 2-Mali 4	-19.615	37.103	529	.597	1.000
Mall 2-Mall 5	-21.833	37.103	588	.556	1.000
Mall 2-Mall 7	-28.179	36.855	765	.445	1.000
Mall 2-Mall 9	-94.099	36.855	-2.553	.011	.480
Mall 3-Mall 8	-7.975	25.706	310	.756	1.000
Mall 3-Mall 4	-14.290	26.060	548	.583	1.000
Mall 3-Mall 5	-16.509	26.060	634	.526	1.000
Mall 3-Mall 7	-22.855	25.706	889	.374	1.000
Mall 3-Mall 9	-88.775	25.706	-3.454	.001	.025
Mall 8-Mall 4	6.315	29.990	.211	.833	1.000
Mall 8-Mall 5	8.534	29.990	.285	.776	1.000
Mall 8-Mall 7	14.880	29.682	.501	.616	1.000
Mall 8-Mall 9	-80.800	29.682	-2.722	.006	.292
Mall 4-Mall 5	-2.219	30.294	073	.942	1.000
Mall 4-Mall 7	-8.565	29.990	286	.775	1.000
Mall 4-Mall 9	-74.485	29.990	-2.484	.013	.585
Mall 5-Mall 7	-6.346	29.990	212	.832	1.000
Mall 5-Mall 9	-72.266	29.990	-2.410	.016	.718
Mall 7-Mall 9	-65.920	29.682	-2.221	.026	1.000

Each row tests the null hypothesis that the Sample 1 and Sample 2 distributions are the same. Asymptotic significances (2-sided tests) are displayed. The significance level is .05.

### Figure 4.42: Pairwise Comparisons Post-Hoc Test for the Sum of the Weighted Scores with Respect to the Malls

#### 4.1.6. Analysis of "Air Quality" Questions 7, 7a, 12, 12a, and 13

Based on the 510 responses for question 7, a little bit more than a quarter of respondents (28.2%) have heard of the IAQ Certification Scheme. From discussing with a specialist in IAQ and environmental education, the expected percentage of people who have heard of the IAQ Certification Scheme was around 10% (V. Chan, Personal Communication, February 2014). Of the 144 respondents who said that they have heard of the scheme, 140 of them responded to question 7a (what is the certification class of this mall?). About one-third of the 140 respondents (33.6%) got the certification class of the mall they were in correct, 42.8% got the certification class incorrect, and 23.6% did not know the certification class. The results for question 7 and 7a demonstrated that people, especially the younger people, have learned about the IAQ Certification Scheme.

Based on the 516 responses for question 12, about two-fifths of respondents (40.5%) said that the IAQ of shopping malls affected the amount of money they spent. One hundred nineteen (119) of the 209 respondents that answered yes to question 12 answered question 12a which asked the amount of increase in spending should the IAQ of the mall improve. For question 12a, the average percentage of more money they would spend was +15.5%, the median was +20%, and the mode was +20%. This illustrated that IAQ was pertinent to malls and improvement of IAQ in malls would generate more sales.

For question 13 which asked about interest in courses on IAQ, out of the 526 responses, 12.9% were interested in management, 23.6% in improvement, 4.8% in principle, 9.9% in standards, 16.0% in malls, and 8.4% in offices. About two-fifths (40.9%) were not interested in any IAQ courses. Courses on IAQ in hotels and homes were suggested. The results revealed that a majority of people had some interest in learning about IAQ.

#### 4.2. Comparing Hong Kong's IAQ Objectives & International IAQ Guidelines

Objective 2 consisted of reviewing current Hong Kong IAQ Objectives and performing comparisons with five countries' IAQ guidelines. The guideline values of Hong Kong's IAQ Objectives are all given as eight hour time averages. Guidelines have units of parts per million (ppm) or parts per billion (ppb) of the parameter measured, microgram per cubic meter ( $\mu g/m^3$ ), or becquerel per cubic meter  $(Bq/m^3)$ . If Hong Kong provided guideline values for the same parameter in two different units, both guidelines were included in the tables. Even though the units are different, the guideline values were assumed to represent the same concentration and are equivalently converted by the EPD. For the comparison, of the two classes ('Excellent' and 'Good') the guideline values of the parameters for 'Good' class were used. 'Good' class guidelines values were used because the values represent the maximum allowable values for each of the parameters before the parameter is considered unsatisfactory. As with Hong Kong, if any parameter guidelines from WHO, Canada, Singapore, Malaysia, Australia, or China were given in two different units, both guidelines were included in the tables. The guidelines were again assumed to be equivalently converted and represent the same concentration. International guidelines are all given as eight hour time averages unless specified differently in the tables.

Carbon monoxide concentrations can be measured in units of ppm or  $\mu g/m^3$ . Hong Kong's carbon monoxide guideline value for 'Good' class is 8.7 ppm or equivalently 10,000  $\mu g/m^3$ . Canada's guideline values for carbon monoxide are 25 ppm and 10 ppm for one hour and 24 hours respectively. Alternatively, Canada's carbon monoxide guideline values in units of  $\mu g/m^3$  are 28,600 and 11,500 for one hour and 24 hours respectively. Despite having guidelines in the same units, it is difficult to compare Hong Kong's carbon monoxide guideline to Canada's because the relationship between the concentration of carbon monoxide over time is unknown. It can be observed that Hong Kong's eight hour time average guideline is between Canada's

guidelines for one hour and 24 hours. WHO, Singapore and Australia share the same guideline value of 9 ppm or equivalently 10,000  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> for carbon monoxide. Similarly, Malaysia, China, and Canada share the same guideline value of 10 ppm or equivalently 11,500  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> except for a minor difference from Canada. The carbon monoxide guideline from Canada was specified as a 24 hour average rather than an eight hour average like Malaysia and China. Comparisons indicate that Hong Kong's guideline is on par with three of the countries and better than the guidelines of two countries. Table 4.22 below shows the carbon monoxide guidelines for each country and WHO. Values with an asterisk (\*) were converted and are equivalent to guidelines established by the country or organization.

Country / Organization	CO Gu	Time Average (if not eight hrs)	
Hong Kong <sup>48</sup>	8.7 ppm	10,000 µg/m <sup>3</sup>	
WHO <sup>127</sup>	*8.7 – 9 ppm	10,000 $\mu$ g/m <sup>3</sup>	
Canada <sup>18, 19</sup>	25 ppm	28,600 $\mu$ g/m <sup>3</sup>	1 hr
	10 ppm	11,500 $\mu$ g/m <sup>3</sup>	24 hrs
Singapore <sup>62</sup>	9 ppm	10,000 µg/m <sup>3</sup>	
Malaysia <sup>89</sup>	10 ppm	*11,500 µg/m <sup>3</sup>	
Australia <sup>14</sup>	9 ppm	10,000 µg/m <sup>3</sup>	
China <sup>14</sup>	10 ppm	*11,500 µg/m <sup>3</sup>	

Table 4.22: Carbon Monoxide (CO) Guidelines

Respirable suspended particulate (RSP) guideline values were all provided in units of  $\mu g/m^3$ . RSP guideline values for Hong Kong, Singapore, Malaysia, and Australia are 180, 50, 150, and 90  $\mu g/m^3$  respectively. Singapore's guideline was changed from 150  $\mu g/m^3$  to 50  $\mu g/m^3$ 

in 2009, a relatively low concentration in comparison with Hong Kong, because the government of Singapore believed that this could be achieved with better air filtration systems (National Environment Agency, 2010). No RSP guideline values were recommended by WHO, Canada, and China (see Table 4.23). Hong Kong's RSP guideline value is the highest followed by Malaysia, Australia, and Singapore.

Country / Organization	RSP Guideline
Hong Kong <sup>48</sup>	$180 \mu g/m^3$
WHO <sup>127</sup>	N/A
Canada <sup>18, 19</sup>	N/A
Singapore <sup>62</sup>	$50 \ \mu g/m^3$
Malaysia <sup>89</sup>	$150 \mu g/m^3$
Australia <sup>14</sup>	90 μg/m <sup>3</sup>
China <sup>14</sup>	N/A

Table 4.23: Respirable Suspended Particulates (RSP) Guidelines

Ozone concentrations can be measured in units of ppb, ppm, or  $\mu g/m^3$  depending on the country. The Hong Kong guideline value for ozone 'Good' class is 61 ppb or 150  $\mu g/m^3$ . Canada's recommended ozone concentration is 20 ppb or 50  $\mu g/m^3$ , three times lower than Hong Kong's guideline. Malaysia and Singapore have established 120  $\mu g/m^3$  as the guideline value for ozone which can be considered on par with Hong Kong with a difference of 30  $\mu g/m^3$ . Australia's ozone guideline value is 240  $\mu g/m^3$  while China's is 384  $\mu g/m^3$ , both of which are higher than Hong Kong's ozone guideline. Hong Kong's ozone guideline value is the third highest among guidelines compared after China (384  $\mu g/m^3$ ) and Australia (240  $\mu g/m^3$ ). Hong Kong's guideline values along with international guidelines converted to their equivalent values in units of ppb, ppm, and  $\mu g/m^3$  are presented in Table 4.24 marked with an asterisk (\*).

Country / Organization	O <sub>3</sub> Guideline		
Hong Kong <sup>48</sup>	61 ppb	*0.061 ppm	$150 \ \mu g/m^3$
WHO <sup>127</sup>	60 ppb	0.06 ppm	$150 \mu\text{g/m}^3$
Canada <sup>18, 19</sup>	20 ppb	*0.020 ppm	$50 \ \mu g/m^3$
Singapore <sup>62</sup>	*49 ppb	0.05 ppm	$120 \mu\text{g/m}^3$
Malaysia <sup>89</sup>	*49 ppb	0.05 ppm	*120 $\mu$ g/m <sup>3</sup>
Australia <sup>14</sup>	*98 ppb	*0.1 ppm	$240 \ \mu g/m^3$
China <sup>14</sup>	*156 ppb	0.16 ppm	$*384  \mu g/m^3$

Table 4.24: Ozone (O<sub>3</sub>) Guidelines

The guideline value for formaldehyde 'Good' class in Hong Kong is 81 ppb equivalent to  $100 \ \mu g/m^3$ . WHO also recommends a guideline value of  $100 \ \mu g/m^3$  while Canada recommends a guideline value half of Hong Kong and WHO's guideline. Singapore and Australia established a guideline value of  $120 \ \mu g/m^3$  for formaldehyde which when converted to units of ppm, is equivalent to Malaysia and China's recommended guideline value of 0.1 ppm. Comparisons indicate that Hong Kong's formaldehyde guideline is on par with WHO, worse than Canada, and better than Singapore, Malaysia, Australia, and China formaldehyde guidelines. Table 4.25 below shows the recommended formaldehyde guidelines for each country and WHO. Guidelines that were converted to units other than that provided by the country are marked with an asterisk (\*).

Country / Organization	Formaldehyde Guideline		
Hong Kong <sup>48</sup>	81 ppb	*0.081 ppm	$100 \ \mu g/m^3$
WHO <sup>127</sup>	*81 ppb	*0.081 ppm	$100 \mu\text{g/m}^3$
Canada <sup>18, 19</sup>	40 ppb	*0.040 ppm	$50 \mu g/m^3$
Singapore <sup>62</sup>	*96 ppb	0.1 ppm	$120 \ \mu g/m^3$
Malaysia <sup>89</sup>	*96 ppb	0.1 ppm	$*120  \mu g/m^{3}$
Australia <sup>14</sup>	*96 ppb	*0.1 ppm	$120 \mu\text{g/m}^3$
China <sup>14</sup>	* 96 ppb	0.1 ppm	*120 µg/m <sup>3</sup>

Table 4.25: Formaldehyde (HCHO) Guidelines

Radon's guideline value for 'Good' class in Hong Kong is set at 200 Bq/m<sup>3</sup>. Canada established a recommended guideline value of 200 Bq/m<sup>3</sup> as well making it on par with Hong Kong's. Australia's radon guideline of 200 Bq/m<sup>3</sup> is established as the annual average rather than an eight hour average making it difficult to accurately compare and draw conclusions. Hong Kong and Australia's radon guideline of 200 Bq/m<sup>3</sup> is double the WHO recommended radon guideline of 100 Bq/m<sup>3</sup>. Singapore, Malaysia, and China currently have no recommended guideline values for radon. Below, Table 4.26 lists the radon guidelines for each country and WHO.

Table 4.26: Radon (Rn) Guidelines

Country / Organization	Rn Guideline
Hong Kong <sup>48</sup>	$200 \text{ Bq/m}^3$
WHO <sup>127</sup>	$100 \text{ Bq/m}^3$
Canada <sup>18, 19</sup>	$200 \text{ Bq/m}^3$
Singapore <sup>62</sup>	N/A
Malaysia <sup>89</sup>	N/A
Australia <sup>14</sup>	200 Bq/m <sup>3</sup> (annual avg.)
China <sup>14</sup>	N/A

Total volatile organic compounds (TVOC) concentrations can be measured in units of ppb, ppm, or  $\mu g/m^3$ . Hong Kong's 'Good' class guideline value for TVOC is set to 261 ppb or  $600 \,\mu \text{g/m}^3$ . Canada provides two guideline values for TVOC, one for target level and one for action level. Canada's target level, the TVOC concentration that should be aimed for, is 100  $\mu g/m^3$ . Canada recommends that action be taken at a TVOC concentration greater than 500  $\mu g/m^3$ . The two Canadian TVOC guidelines taken from the Canadian government department Health Canada were observed to be relatively low in comparison with Hong Kong. Hong Kong's TVOC guideline is above Canada's target and action guidelines. TVOC guidelines for Singapore and Malaysia were taken from Singapore government Standard SS554-Code of Practice for Indoor Air Quality for Air-Conditioned Buildings and Malaysian government document Guidelines on Indoor Environmental Quality (IEQ) for Government Office Buildings and it was observed that the guidelines were high compared to Hong Kong. A TVOC concentration guideline value of 3,000 ppb is set for Singapore and Malaysia which is over ten times higher than Hong Kong's TVOC guideline, a significant difference. The TVOC guideline value for Australia is  $250 \,\mu \text{g/m}^3$ . When compared to Australia's TVOC guideline, Hong Kong's guideline is more than double the concentration. WHO and China do not provide TVOC concentrations for guidelines. Table 4.27 shows the recommended TVOC concentration for each country and WHO in the three different units. Guidelines converted to different units are marked with an asterisk (\*).

Country / Organization	TVOC Guideline		
Hong Kong <sup>48</sup>	261 ppb	*0.261 ppm	$600 \mu g/m^3$
WHO <sup>127</sup>		N/A	
Canada <sup>18, 19</sup>	*44 ppb (target level)	*0.044 ppm (target level)	100 μg/m <sup>3</sup> (target level)
	*218 ppb (action level)	*0.218 ppm (action level)	500 μg/m <sup>3</sup> (action level)
Singapore <sup>62</sup>	3,000 ppb	*3 ppm	*6897 μg/m <sup>3</sup>
Malaysia <sup>89</sup>	*3,000 ppb	3 ppm	*6897 $\mu$ g/m <sup>3</sup>
Australia <sup>14</sup>	*109 ppb	*0.109 ppm	$\frac{250 \mu g/m^3}{(target)}$
China <sup>14</sup>		N/A	

Table 4.27: Total Volatile Organic Compounds (TVOC) Guidelines

Carbon dioxide concentrations can be measured in ppm or mg/m<sup>3</sup>. A concentration of 1,000 ppm for carbon dioxide is used for the Hong Kong 'Good' class guideline which is the same as Malaysia's recommended guideline value. China's recommended carbon dioxide concentration is 1,800 mg/m<sup>3</sup>. Since neither Hong Kong nor Malaysia provide their guideline in mg/m<sup>3</sup>, the conversion rate between mg/m<sup>3</sup> and ppm is unknown. WHO, Canada, and Australia currently do not have quantitative guideline values for carbon dioxide but recommended keeping carbon dioxide levels as low as possible. Table 4.28 below shows the recommended carbon dioxide concentration for each country and WHO.

Table 4.28: Carbon Dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) Guidelines

Country / Organization	CO <sub>2</sub> Guideline
Hong Kong <sup>48</sup>	1, 000 ppm
WHO <sup>127</sup>	N/A
Canada <sup>18, 19</sup>	N/A
Singapore <sup>62</sup>	700 ppm above outdoor concentrations
Malaysia <sup>89</sup>	1, 000 ppm
Australia <sup>14</sup>	N/A
China <sup>14</sup>	$1,800 \text{ mg/m}^3$

Units for nitrogen dioxide concentrations can be ppb, ppm, or  $\mu g/m^3$ . Hong Kong's 'Good' class guideline value for nitrogen dioxide is 80 ppb or equivalently 150  $\mu g/m^3$ . WHO recommended concentrations for nitrogen dioxide at one hour and annually are 200  $\mu g/m^3$  and 40  $\mu g/m^3$  respectively. Canada also provides short term and long term nitrogen dioxide guidelines at one hour and 24 hours. At one hour, Canada recommends a nitrogen dioxide concentration of 0.25 ppm equivalent to 480  $\mu g/m^3$ . At 24 hours, Canada recommends a nitrogen dioxide concentration of 0.05 ppm equivalent to 100  $\mu g/m^3$ . Again, a direct comparison cannot be made between Hong Kong, WHO, and Canada because of the difference in the time averages but it is noted that Hong Kong's guideline for eight hours is between the one hour and 24 hour guideline from WHO and greater than Canada's one hour and 24 hour guidelines. There are currently no recommended nitrogen dioxide guideline values for Singapore, Malaysia, Australia, or China. Each countries' and WHO's nitrogen dioxide guidelines are presented Table 4.29. Asterisked values (\*) represent values that were equivalently converted.

Country / Organization	NO <sub>2</sub> Guideline			Time Average (if not eight hrs)
Hong Kong <sup>48</sup>	80 ppb	*0.080 ppm	$150 \mu g/m^3$	
	*107 ppb	*0.107 ppm	$200 \mu g/m^3$	1 hr
WHO <sup>127</sup>	*20 ppb	*0.02 ppm	$40 \mu g/m^3$	Annual
Canada <sup>18, 19</sup>	*250 ppb	0.25 ppm	$480 \mu g/m^3$	1 hr
Canada	*50 ppb	0.05 ppm	$100 \mu\text{g/m}^3$	24 hrs
Singapore <sup>62</sup>	N/A			
Malaysia <sup>89</sup>	N/A			
Australia <sup>14</sup>	N/A			
China <sup>14</sup>	N/A			

Table 4.29: Nitrogen Dioxide (NO<sub>2</sub>) Guidelines

Hong Kong dictates a maximum level of 1,000 CFU/m<sup>3</sup> for airborne bacteria count in order to be considered satisfactory. In Singapore and Malaysia, the maximum allowable concentration for airborne bacteria is 500 CFU/m<sup>3</sup>, half of the concentration dictated by Hong Kong. WHO, Canada, Australia, and China currently do not provide guidelines for airborne bacteria count. Table 4.30 summarizes the airborne bacteria guidelines for each country and WHO.

Country / Organization	ABC Guideline
Hong Kong <sup>48</sup>	$1,000 \text{ CFU/m}^3$
WHO <sup>127</sup>	N/A
Canada <sup>18, 19</sup>	N/A
Singapore <sup>62</sup>	500 CFU/m <sup>3</sup>
Malaysia <sup>89</sup>	500 CFU/m <sup>3</sup>
Australia <sup>14</sup>	N/A
China <sup>14</sup>	N/A

Table 4.30: Airborne Bacteria Count (ABC) Guidelines

Airborne fungi is the new parameter promised to be included in the next revision of the IAQ Objectives by the EPD so currently Hong Kong has no guideline value for airborne fungi. WHO, Canada, Australia, and China also do not have guideline values for airborne fungi. Singapore's guideline value for airborne fungi is 500 CFU/m<sup>3</sup> and Malaysia's is 1,000 CFU/m<sup>3</sup> (see Table 4.31).

Table 4.31: Airborne Fungi Guidelines

Country / Organization	Airborne Fungi Guideline
Hong Kong <sup>48</sup>	N/A
WHO <sup>127</sup>	N/A
Canada <sup>18, 19</sup>	N/A
Singapore <sup>62</sup>	500 CFU/m <sup>3</sup>
Malaysia <sup>89</sup>	$1,000 \text{ CFU/m}^3$
Australia <sup>14</sup>	N/A
China <sup>14</sup>	N/A

#### 4.3. Recent IAQ Technology

The third and final objective of this project was to research and provide information on the latest IAQ technology that seemed useful for Hong Kong shopping malls to use. This section includes information on three different technologies: Enhanced Media Filtration (EMF) technology, Photocatalytic Oxidation, and the Honeywell IAQPoint2.

Mechanical Ventilation Air Conditioning (MVAC) systems are used in commercial buildings throughout Hong Kong, including shopping malls. These MVAC systems typically use High Efficiency Particulate Arresting (HEPA) air filters to capture particles from the air. In 2003, the *Guidance Notes for the Management of Indoor Air Quality* (GN) suggested that HEPA filters be used in the MVAC systems that cool Hong Kong buildings (The Government of the HKSAR IAQ Management Group, 2003b). HEPA air filters are able to remove 99.97% of airborne microorganisms as small as 0.3 microns. The standard size of particles air filters are tested with is 0.3 microns because typically, the smallest sized microorganisms in the air are approximately 0.3 microns (IEQ Global, 2013b; HubPages, 2014). Despite HEPA filter's impressive performance, it is useful to investigate if there are more up-to-date air filters or other products that could enhance the performance of MVAC systems. This section discusses three products that came up when investigating IAQ technology: Enhanced Media Filtration (EMF) technology, Photocatalytic Oxidation, and the Honeywell IAQPoint2.

#### 4.3.1. Enhanced Media Filtration (EMF) Technology

EMF technology is more recent than HEPA technology and there is a lack of professional reviews done on the technology. However, from what manufacturing companies that produce and sell products with this technology have said, the technology seems worth learning more about. The following is a synopsis on the information gathered about EMF technology from manufacturers' websites and from sites where people are able to buy products utilizing the technology. EMF technology was developed with the U.S. Department of Defense in response to the threat of germ warfare. EMF technology produces a media filter efficiency of 99.99% at 0.3 microns, while HEPA filters have an efficiency of 99.97% at 0.3 microns. EMF filters also kill microorganisms, getting rid of them for good (IEQ Global, 2013c; HubPages, 2014). The difference between HEPA and EMF filters is in the EMF filter's sealed off filter chamber. HEPA filters use a dense paper medium that can allow airborne contaminants to build up around a poorly sealed filter. A build-up of contaminants occurs if the blower motor of the air handling unit does not have enough power to effectively push unfiltered air through the HEPA filter. These contaminants are then able to enter back into the air we breathe (HubPages, 2014). EMF filters create airflow inside of a sealed filter chamber so that air particles get trapped inside of the chamber, with no chance of escaping back into the breathable air. After the chamber traps the airborne contaminants, EMF Germicidal technology treats the contaminants. During the germicidal treatment of the microorganisms the EMF filter takes advantage of the high energy field created by the air purification system to kill fungi, bacteria, mold, and viruses by breaking through their DNA (IEQ Global, 2013c; HubPages, 2014).

EMF technology has progressed from being a military technology to being used in clean room manufacturing processes where it is important for the air to be completely free from chemicals. Now, EMF technology is available for home, office, and commercial use. The United States Food and Drug Administration classified purification systems that utilize the EMF technology as Class II Medical Devices. That means the technology is advanced enough to remove airborne particles for health and medical purposes. HealthWay is a company that produced the first air purification system with EMF technology (IEQ Global, 2013c). HealthWay tested its air purifier and real-time particle counters displayed reduction of airborne pollutants in a room when the purifier was in use (IEQ Global, 2013c).

Independent laboratories and organizations have also tested EMF technology, such as Mount Elizabeth Hospital's Intensive Care Unit in Singapore and the National Indoor Environmental Quality Research and Innovation, Inc. in the United States (IEQ Global, 2013b). IEQ Global is the corporation that tested an EMF purification system for Mount Elizabeth Hospital. IEQ Global designs, manufactures, and supplies energy efficient products that adhere to global standards (IEQ Global, 2013a). In response to the test the hospital's Chief Infection Control Officer said:

The test results of the comprehensive air purification trial and demonstration for our Neonatal Intensive care unit proved that the EMF air purification systems are able to improve the indoor air quality by significantly reducing small airborne particles and TVOC. The systems are able to trap and kill airborne organisms which are most beneficial to our patients and staff working in the ICU setting (IEQ Global, 2013b).

The National Indoor Environmental Quality Research and Innovation, Inc. is a for-profit firm that researches IAQ and products meant to improve IAQ (NIEQRI, 2004). The corporation tested EMF Air Purification Systems to achieve 99.99% efficiency in the elimination of all virus-sized (0.3 microns) airborne contaminants. The firm also proved that EMF technology is capable of breaking down the molecular structures of contaminants, rendering them inert (IEQ Global, 2013b).

EMF filters can be purchased for about £68 online without buying an entire EMF Air Purification System and they only need to be replaced once a year (Allersafe, 2014a; BestBuysGroup, 2013). The EMF filter is 30 centimeters or 12 inches in diameter (Allersafe, 2014b; Healthy Air, 2014).

#### 4.3.2. Photocatalytic Oxidation

Photocatalytic Oxidation is another new IAQ technology. It has been examined in and written about in peer-reviewed journals (Destaillats et al., 2012; Kim & Yu, 2013). Photocatalytic oxidation is a process in which UV light rays are aimed at an air filter coated with titanium oxide or another type of catalyst. When the UV light rays hit the titanium oxide or catalyst, hydroxyl radicals and super-oxide ions form. The super-oxide ions are electrons that are highly reactive. The ions hit other particles in the air, such as bacteria and volatile organic compounds (VOCs) and immediately combine with them. After the ions combine with their targets, chemical reactions take place that oxidize the pollutant. This breaks down the pollutant's chemical structure and results in by-products of carbon dioxide and water molecules, making the air less contaminated (PeakPureAir, 2013).

Photocatalytic oxidation is now the focus of Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory's Indoor Environment Department in the United States. The department's research aims to reduce both VOCs in the air and energy use. The department is experimenting with using the Photocatalytic technology inside of HVAC systems and plans on doing studies with different catalysts, other than the standard titanium oxide (Environmental Energy Technologies Division, 2014).

Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, in conjunction with Arizona State University in the United States, did a research study on the oxidation technology. The goal of the study was to evaluate the performance of a Photocatalytic Oxidation air cleaner prototype under realistic conditions such as, the presence of a VOC mixture similar to what is typically found in indoor environments. The air cleaner prototype was also exposed to flow conditions similar to those experienced inside of buildings, i.e. the air velocities created by heating, ventilating, airconditioning (HVAC) systems. The study reported the removal efficiencies of the major VOCs that reside inside of buildings. Photocatalytic oxidation was reported to remove different VOCs from the air with as much as 90 - 100% efficiency. This efficiency may be increased after more studies are done using different types of filters. The study also supported the feasibility of using the oxidation technology inside of HVAC systems (Destaillats et al., 2012).

A downside to the photocatalytic oxidation technology is that the chemical reactions may result in harmful byproducts. However, this technology is continuously being studied and improved to address this setback (Destaillats et al., 2012).

#### 4.3.3. Honeywell IAQPoint2

Honeywell IAQPoint2 is a monitoring device capable of communicating with MVAC systems released by Honeywell Analytics in 2012. The manufacturers of the product provide information on the specifications and abilities of the IAQPoint2. Although this product is not peer-reviewed, the information provided by the manufacturers is a source Hong Kong shopping malls may use to determine if looking more into the product is advantageous. IAQPoint2 offers simultaneous triple monitoring capabilities with built-in sensors to detect temperature, relative humidity, and either carbon dioxide ( $CO_2$ ) or volatile organic compounds (VOCs). The temperature, relative humidity, and  $CO_2$  or VOCs can be set to a specified level. When the IAQPoint2 detects a level greater than the specified level, the IAQPoint2 can send signals to the MVAC system to turn on or increase ventilation. On the other hand, if levels are lower than the specified level or the building is closed, IAQPoint2 can send signals to turn off the MVAC system. This allows for energy efficient MVAC systems that only need to be turned on when there is a demand for it. IAQPoint2 can be set to increase ventilation during peak hours of the day as well. IAQPoint2 communicates with MVAC systems through either Building Automation

Control network (BACnet) or Modbus (Honeywell, 2012). BACnet is also referred to as ANSI/ASHRAE standard 135-2008 or ISO 16484-5 and was developed by the American Society of Heating, Refrigerating, and Air-Conditioning Engineers (ASHRAE) in 1995 (ASHRAE, n.d.). BACnet is a "data communication protocol developed...to standardize communications between building automation devices from different manufacturers, allowing data to be shared and equipment to work together easily" (BACnet International, 2013). Modbus was developed by Modicon in 1979 as a messaging structure "to communicate between intelligent devices and sensors and instruments" (Modbus Organization, 2014).

IAQPoint2 is flexible and can be installed on the wall or in the air ducts of ventilation systems. IAQPoint2 not only meets the ASHRAE 62.1 Standards on demand-controlled ventilation and energy efficiency but also OSHA and state of California regulations on air quality/safety and volatile organic compounds monitoring. ASHRAE 62.1 Standards are internationally recognized and accepted standards for designing ventilation systems and achieving satisfactory IAQ (ASHRAE, n.d.). IAQPoint2 can be ordered online and costs approximately \$215 USD.

## 5. Conclusions and Recommendations

Conclusions drawn from questionnaire results appear to demonstrate that the IAQ Certification Scheme is ineffective for shopping malls and that the Scheme makes no noticeable difference in IAQ from a mall patron's point of view. However, this may not be true since all of the conclusions of this study are based on public opinion and not from scientific observations. Due to the fact that the gases and bacteria monitored through the Scheme were not physically measured for this study, it is unknown if the Scheme is helping to lower levels of harmful gases and bacteria in malls that people cannot detect such as radon, nitrogen dioxide, and carbon monoxide. Nevertheless, the IAQ of 'Excellent' malls were subjectively rated the worst even though they were supposed to have better IAQ than 'Good' malls objectively. This might show that the 'Excellent' malls do not maintain the upkeep of IAQ after being certified, and it is recommended that the indoor air of the 'Excellent' malls be physically measured to verify this claim. If this claim is true, then the IAQ Certification Scheme should implement more stringent and frequent post-certification measures to ensure that the certified malls maintain satisfactory IAQ. After showing the survey results to a representative of this project's sponsor, Business Environment Council Limited, it was concluded that people's awareness for the IAQ Certification Scheme was higher than expected. Also, it was found that many people are interested in learning more about IAQ. The EPD should strive to raise more awareness of the Certification Scheme and take initiatives to make the IAQ Information Centre more publicized and accessible. This way, people who want to learn more about IAQ can be informed about the resources available for them to do so.

Another recommendation results from a large percentage of people surveyed who said that they would spend more money in malls if the IAQ in the mall were improved. This should be motivation for shopping malls to improve their IAQ and become certified through the IAQ Certification Scheme. Not only could improving the mall's IAQ increase the amount of money many of the mall's customers spend, being certified could allow the mall to advertise that they have satisfactory IAQ, and possibly attract more customers. Uncertified malls that have not gone through the certification process before should attempt to become certified, since the public perceives the IAQ of uncertified malls to be as good as that of 'Good' class and better than that of 'Excellent' class malls. The public's opinions of the IAQ in uncertified malls may indicate that uncertified malls meet the requirements to become certified through the IAQ Certification Scheme though this cannot be proven without physically measuring the IAQ parameters. If uncertified malls were to become certified, they could potentially increase their revenue by advertising their certification and attracting more customers. In addition, becoming certified could increase the malls' profits by awarding them with BEAM credits.

From the comparisons of the Hong Kong IAQ Objectives with WHO, Canada, Singapore, Malaysia, Australia and China, it is recommended that the EPD update the Hong Kong IAQ Objectives. For the most part, Hong Kong's IAQ Objectives are on par or better than the guidelines compared but there are a few parameters that should be improved. Namely the parameters that justify an update of the IAQ Objectives are respirable suspended particulates (RSP), total volatile organic compounds (TVOC), and airborne fungi.

Comparisons showed that Hong Kong's guideline value of  $180 \ \mu g/m^3$  for 'Good' class RSP parameter is higher than RSP guidelines in Singapore, Malaysia, and Australia. Hong Kong's RSP guideline value is twice the guideline suggested by Australia and over three times the Singapore guideline. Keeping the RSP guideline value at  $180 \ \mu g/m^3$  could lead to negative consequences such as reduced lung function and other health effects as described in the Background section. It would be wise for the EPD to conduct investigations and consider lowering the maximum allowable concentration of RSP permitted in order to be considered satisfactory.

Another parameter that should be considered updating by the EPD is TVOC. TVOC causes respiratory tract irritation and increases the chances of cancer so exposure to high concentrations is not recommended. Hong Kong's TVOC guideline value for 'Good' class is  $600 \ \mu g/m^3$ . The Canadian government considers a concentration over  $500 \ \mu g/m^3$  for TVOC to be concerning and recommends that action be taken to lower the TVOC concentration.

Buildings in Hong Kong are certified as satisfactory and awarded 'Good' class if the building complies with the Hong Kong TVOC guideline value of 600  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>. This means that by Canadian standards, all certified 'Good' class buildings that are supposed to have satisfactory IAQ need to investigate and eliminate sources of TVOC. Canada's target concentration for TVOC is 100  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> which is six times the current TVOC guideline value in Hong Kong. Hong Kong's TVOC guideline value is also over two times the Australian recommended guideline of 250  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>. It is recommended that the EPD determine a safe and appropriate TVOC concentration for Hong Kong in order to properly protect its people from increased risk of cancer.

Lastly, it is recommended that the EPD update Hong Kong's IAQ Objectives to include airborne fungi as an IAQ parameter as promised in 2003. The EPD stated that in the next revision of the IAQ Objectives, a guideline value of 500 CFU/m<sup>3</sup> would be included for airborne fungi. Research on international airborne fungi guidelines provided Singapore's guideline of 500 CFU/m<sup>3</sup> and Malaysia's guideline of 1,000 CFU/m<sup>3</sup> as references. From these two countries' guidelines, a concentration of 500 CFU/m<sup>3</sup> seems to be an appropriate concentration of airborne fungi to be considered satisfactory. Airborne fungi should be included in Hong Kong's IAQ Objectives as soon as possible to prevent health effects from the harmful toxins of airborne fungi.

Furthermore, it would be advisable for Hong Kong shopping mall owners to look into whether using EMF filters instead of HEPA filters in MVAC systems is feasible. Switching to EMF filters would be achievable if the dimensions of the filter fit that of MVAC systems and if the EMF filter would be able to function the same way in a MVAC system as it does in an EMF air purification system. If a shopping mall does not find that it is feasible to use EMF filters in MVAC systems as of the beginning of year 2014, the mall should continue to stay updated on the latest developments in EMF filtration in case the filters are adjusted such that it becomes feasible in the future.

The mall owners should also keep an eye on the photocatalytic oxidation technology, especially regarding the next research studies done by Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratories. Once the technology is improved to release less unwanted by-products and is adjusted so that it can be used inside of MVAC systems, mall owners could perform a cost analysis study and decide if they want to invest in photocatalytic oxidation technology.

Furthermore, it would be advisable for the mall owners to perform a cost analysis study for the Honeywell IAQPoint2. They should determine if investing in the Honeywell IAQPoint2 or other devices that utilize Building Automation Control network (BACnet) or Modbus communication technology is worthwhile for them.

This project was an evaluation of two tasks under Hong Kong's IAQ Management Programme, the IAQ Certification Scheme and IAQ Objectives. These tasks were evaluated through the distribution of questionnaires, analyzation of questionnaire data, and research on IAQ Objectives and recent IAQ technology. The conclusions and recommendations drawn from this study will hopefully serve as resources for the improvement of the Certification Scheme and IAQ Objectives which in turn will help to improve the IAQ in Hong Kong.

# References

- Adams, R. J., & Landry, E. R. Student authors, & Zeng, A.Z. Faculty advisor. Worcester Polytechnic Institute. (2010). *Novartis Energy and Utility Utilization* [MQP (Major Qualifying Project)]. Call number: 10D041M
- Allersafe. (2014b). *Healthway 20600-3 EMF Air Purifier*. Retrieved from an online shopping website for allergy needs: http://www.allersafe.co.uk/healthway-20600-3-emfair-purifier/p23 This is a website used to order EMF filters: provided information on size of the filter.
- Allersafe. (2014a). Replacement Filters for the Healthway 20600-3 EMF Air Purifier. Retrieved from an online shopping website for allergy needs: http://www.allersafe.co.uk/replacement-filters-for-the-healthway-20600-3-emf-airpurifier/p82 This is a website used to order EMF filters: provided information on replacement requirements and price of filter.
- 4. Armonk, New York, United States. IBM Corp. (2013). *IBM SPSS Statistics Version* 22. Retrieved from an online manual from IBM Corp. (a provider of computer products and services worldwide) providing information on how to access assistive technology software when using the computer software IBM SPSS Statistics: ftp://public.dhe.ibm.com/software/analytics/spss/documentation/statistics/22.0/en/client/I nstallationDocuments/MacOS/Accessibility.pdf
- ASHRAE (American Society of Heating, Refrigerating and Air-Conditioning Engineers). (n.d.). ASHRAE BACnet. Retrieved from the official website of ASHRAE SSPC 135: http://www.bacnet.org/index.html
- 6. ASHRAE (American Society of Heating, Refrigerating and Air-Conditioning Engineers), US EPA (Environmental Protection Agency), & US Green Building Council. (2009). *Indoor Air Quality Guide: Best Practices for Design, Construction, and Commissioning.* Retrieved from an online government guide on indoor air quality: http://cms.ashrae.biz/iaqguide/pdf/IAQGuide.pdf?
- Atencio, C. V. Student author, & Savilonis, B. J. Faculty advisor. Worcester Polytechnic Institute MQP. (1999). *Higgins Labs HVAC design* [Major Qualifying Project (MQP)]. Call number: 99D019M

 Australia. CRC (Cooperative Research Centres) Association. (2012). Nano Solution to Sick Building Syndrome. Retrieved from http://crca.asn.au/nano-solution-to-sickbuilding-syndrome/ This is a website of the Australian CRC Association. The CRC is a collaboration between businesses, industry associations, universities, and government research

agencies.

- BEAM Society Limited. (2012). *BEAM Plus New Buildings Version 1.2.* 2012, July. Retrieved from an online manual from the Hong Kong Green Building Council (a non-profit organization): http://www.beamsociety.org.hk/files/BEAM\_Plus\_For\_New\_Buildings\_Version\_1\_2.pdf
- 10. BestBuysGroup. (2013). *HealthWay 10600-9 EMF Air Purifier*. Retrieved from an online shopping website for allergy needs: <u>http://www.allergybestbuys.com/ebuttonz/ebz\_product\_pages/healthway10600-9emfairpurifier-903313m.shtml</u> This is a website used to order EMF filters: provided information on the price of the filter.
- 11. Bhattacherjee, A. (2012). Social Science Research: Principles, Methods, and Practices (Vol. 3). Retrieved from http://scholarcommons.usf.edu/oa\_textbooks/3/ This is an online book providing information on how to do a social science research project from the Open Access Textbooks Catalog of the University of South Florida (USF), Tampa, Florida, United States. Bhattacherjee is a professor of information systems at USF and was ranked the eighth top researcher in the world based on his publications. He holds PhD and MBA degrees from University of Houston, Texas, United States.
- 12. Birkett, S. (2012). Guide: Indoor air quality can be worse than outdoor [newspaper article]. *PoliticsHome*. 2012, November 24. Retrieved from <u>http://cleanairinlondon.org/hot-topics/indoor-air-quality-can-be-worse-than-outdoor/</u> This is a newspaper article posted by Clean Air in London, a non-profit organization.
- 13. Boone, H. N. J., & Boone, D. A. (2012). Analyzing Likert Data. *Journal of Extension: Sharing Knowledge, Enriching Extension*, 50(2). Retrieved from <u>http://www.joe.org/joe/2012april/tt2.php</u> This is an online journal explaining likert data for statistical analysis. It was published by the Journal of Extension, the official refereed journal of the United States Cooperative Extension System (the government system, funded by the United States Department of Agriculture, and that provides research-based information to people such as youth and small business owners.

- Brandys, R. C. & Brandys, G. M. (2010). International Indoor Air Quality Standards and Guidelines for over 2, 000 Chemicals and Biological Substances (1<sup>st</sup> edition). Las Vegas, Nevada: OEHCS Publications Inc.
- 15. Bruce, N., Perez-Padilla, R., & Albalak, R. (2002). *The health effects of indoor air pollution exposure in developing countries* (Report no. WHO/SDE/OEH/02.05). Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization (WHO). Retrieved from http://whqlibdoc.who.int/hq/2002/WHO\_SDE\_OEH\_02.05.pdf?ua=1
- 16. Burnett, J. (2005). Indoor air quality certification scheme for Hong Kong buildings. *Indoor and Built Environment*, 14(3-4), 201-208.doi:10.1177/1420326X05053788
- Butala, V., & Muhič, S. (2007). Perception of Air Quality and the Thermal Environment in Offices. *Indoor and Built Environment*, 16(4), 302-310. doi: 10.1177/1420326X06079886
- 18. Canada. City of Toronto. (2012). Indoor Air Quality (IAQ) Policy for Office Environments [Canadian online government document]. Retrieved from <u>http://wx.toronto.ca/intra/hr/policies.nsf/9fff29b7237299b385256729004b844b/a3733fa3</u> 001b4d0a852579bb004b2f98?OpenDocument
- 19. Canada. Health Canada. (2014). *Residential Indoor Air Quality Guidelines* [Canadian government website]. 2014, February 13. Retrieved from http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/ewh-semt/air/in/res-in/index-eng.php
- 20. Carroll, J.M. (2007). *A Concise History of Hong Kong*. Lanham, Maryland: Rowman & Littlefield Publishers Inc.
- 21. Chan, W. Y., Dissertation. The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. (2012). A Study of Bio-risk Assessment, Control and Evaluation (BRACE) for Indoor Environment. Retrieved from ProQuest, UMI Dissertations, http://hdl.handle.net/10397/5512
- 22. Clean Air Asia. (2011). Air Quality Monitoring in Asian Cities: Gaps and Way Forward [website]. 2011, June 17. Retrieved from http://cleanairinitiative.org/portal/node/7371. This is a website providing a description of the research done by two Hong Kong Polytechnic University professors.
- 23. Collier, W. G. Independent Variables & Dependent Variables. Retrieved from <a href="http://www2.uncp.edu/home/collierw/ivdv.htm">http://www2.uncp.edu/home/collierw/ivdv.htm</a> This is a website from Dr. William Collier at the University of North Carolina in the United States used for understanding the difference between independent and dependent variables for statistical analysis. Dr. Collier is a PhD in Experimental Psychology and specializes in Cognitive Psychology and is currently an Assistant Professor in the Department of Psychology and Counseling at the University of North Carolina, North Carolina, United States.

- 24. Crossman, A. (2014). Descriptive vs. Inferential Statistics Sociology. Retrieved from <u>http://sociology.about.com/od/Statistics/a/Descriptive-inferential-statistics.htm</u> This is a website from Ashley Crossman used for understanding the difference between descriptive and inferential statistics. Ashley Crossman has a Masters and PhD in sociology from Arizona State University, Arizona, United States and has had several articles published in peer-review sociology journals.
- 25. Cross Validated. (2012). What to do when assumptions are not met in a chi squared test?. Retrieved from <u>http://stats.stackexchange.com/questions/44622/what-to-do-when-assumptions-are-not-met-in-a-chi-squared-test</u> This is a question and answer site for questions on statistics and data analysis.
- 26. Destaillats, H., Sleiman, M., Sullivan, D. P., Jacquiod, C., Sablayrolles, J., & Molins, L. (2012). Key parameters influencing the performance of photocatalytic oxidation (PCO) air purification under realistic indoor conditions. *Applied Catalysis B, Environmental*, *128*, 159. doi:10.1016/j.apcatb.2012.03.014 (Destaillats et al., 2012).
- 27. Easton, V. J., & McColl, J. H. (n.d.a.). Hypothesis testing. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.stats.gla.ac.uk/steps/glossary/hypothesis\_testing.html#sl">http://www.stats.gla.ac.uk/steps/glossary/hypothesis\_testing.html#sl</a> This website is a statistic glossary aimed at Business, Biology, Geography, and Psychology students from Professors Valerie Easton and John McColl from the University of Glasgow in the UK. This website is a part of the Statistical Education through Problem Solving consortium that develops problem-based modules to support the teaching of Statistics in Biology, Business, Biology, and Geography. The consortium was developed by around thirty academic statisticians and programmers from seven different universities. [n.d. in "n.d.a" refers to "no date" and "a" refers to the first of two sources with the same author]
- 28. Easton, V. J., & McColl, J. H. (n.d.b.). Random variables and probability distributions. Retrieved from <u>http://www.stats.gla.ac.uk/steps/glossary/probability\_distributions.html#variance</u> This website is a statistic glossary aimed at Business, Biology, Geography, and Psychology students from Professors Valerie Easton and John McColl from the University of Glasgow in the UK. This website is a part of the Statistical Education through Problem Solving consortium that develops problem-based modules to support the teaching of Statistics in Biology, Business, Biology, and Geography. The consortium was developed by around thirty academic statisticians and programmers from seven different universities
- 29. Environmental Energy Technologies Division News: Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory. (2014). *Photocatalytic Oxidation (PCO) Air Cleaners: Reducing Energy Use While Clearing the Air*. Retrieved from http://eetd.lbl.gov/newsletter/nl29/eetd-nl29-4pco.html

This is a website from the Environmental Energy Technologies Division of Lawrence Berkeley that posts news on the latest research being done at the Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory.

- 30. Europa: Summaries of European Union legislation. (2005). European Environment and Health Strategy. Retrieved from the official website of European Union: <u>http://europa.eu/legislation\_summaries/public\_health/health\_determinants\_environment/l\_28133\_en.htm</u>
- 31. European Commission. Institute for Health and Consumer Protection. (2013). Indoor Air 2013, July 31. Retrieved from the official website of European Union: <u>http://ihcp.jrc.ec.europa.eu/our\_activities/public-health/indoor\_air\_quality</u>
- 32. Fernald, C. D. (2012). Post hoc Test Instructions. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.psych.uncc.edu/cdfernal/Post%20hoc%20Tests%20Instructions%204%2010%2012.pdf">http://www.psych.uncc.edu/cdfernal/Post%20hoc%20Tests%20Instructions%204%2010%2012.pdf</a>
  This is a website with instructions on how to do statistical tests from Dr. Denny Fernald, a Professor of Psychology Emeritus at the University of North Carolina at Charlotte in the United States. Dr. Denny Fernald has a PhD in Psychology from Indiana University in Indiana, United States.
- 33. Fong, K. F., Hanby, V. I., & Chow, T. T. (2003). Optimization of MVAC systems for energy management by evolutionary algorithm. *Facilities*, 21(10), 223-232. doi: 10.1108/02632770310493599
- 34. Fantech Intelligent Ventilation: Manufacturing company for fans and acoustics that is ISO (International Organization for Standardization) accredited. ISO is an organization that published international standards. ISO certification is a process manufacturing companies can go through to establish that they have quality products according to ISO standards. (2009). *Fantech: Product Showcase – Demand Control Ventilation*. 2009, November 14. Retrieved from http://www.fantech.com.au/news.aspx?id=21
- 35. Graphpad Software, Inc. (2013). Interpreting results: Mann-Whitney test *GraphPad Statistics Guide*. Retrieved from <a href="http://graphpad.com/guides/prism/6/statistics/index.htm?how\_the\_mann-whitney\_test\_works.htm">http://graphpad.com/guides/prism/6/statistics/index.htm?how\_the\_mann-whitney\_test\_works.htm</a>
  This is a website providing guides on how to use and interpret tests on Graphpad, a statistical software program. Graphpad is used by more than 200,000 social and physical scientists in over 110 countries.
- 36. Godish, T. (1995). *Sick buildings: definition, diagnosis, and mitigation*. Boca Raton: Lewis Publishers.

- 37. Greene, R. E., Casey, J. M., & Williams, P. L. (1997). A proactive approach for managing indoor air quality. *Journal of Environmental Health*, 60(4), 15-21.
- 38. Harring, J. (2014). Quantitative Research Methods 1 Test of the Mean Two Samples. [PDF format]. Retrieved from <u>http://www.education.umd.edu/EDMS/fac/Harring/Past-Classes/EDMS645/Notes/Test-Mean-II.pdf</u> Statistical lecture notes from Professor Harring at the University of Maryland. Professor Harring has a M.S. degree in Statistics and a PhD in Quantitative Methods Program and teaches Measurement, Statistics, and Evaluation at the University of Maryland.
- 39. Healthy Air. (2014). 20600-03 Enhanced Media Filtration Specifications. [website]. Retrieved from <u>http://www.healthyair.net/pages/20600-03-Specifications.aspx</u> This is a website providing specifications of EMF filters: provided information on size of the filter.
- 40. Hole, G. (2011). Graham Hole Research Skills Mann-Whitney test handout. [PDF format]. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.sussex.ac.uk/Users/grahamh/RM1web/MannWhitneyHandout%202011.pdf">http://www.sussex.ac.uk/Users/grahamh/RM1web/MannWhitneyHandout%202011.pdf</a> This website that provides lecture notes on the Mann-Whitney U Test from Professor Graham, the Senior lecturer in psychology, at the University of Sussex in the UK. Professor Graham has a B.S. in Psychology and a PhD from University College London in London, UK.
- 41. Honeywell Analytics. (2012a). *IAQPoint2* [online brochure]. Retrieved from http://iaqpoint2.com/collateral/IAQPoint2\_Brochure(DS011041-V2-EN).pdf
- 42. Honeywell Analytics. (2012b). *IAQPoint2 Frequently Asked Questions* [company online FAQs sheet]. Retrieved from http://iaqpoint2.com/collateral/IAQPoint2\_FAQ(FQ011041-02-EN).pdf
- 43. Honeywell International Inc. (2012). Touchscreen IAQPoint2 IAQ Monitor Features. *IAQPoint2*. Retrieved from Honeywell IAQPoint2 website: http://iaqpoint2.com/features.html
- 44. Hong Kong. Department of Audit Commission. (2011). *Government Initiatives to Improve Indoor Air Quality* [Hong Kong government report]. 2011, March 31. Retrieved from http://www.aud.gov.hk/pdf\_e/e56ch04.pdf
- 45. Hong Kong. Department of Audit Commission. (2005). Vision, mission and values [Hong Kong government website]. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.aud.gov.hk/eng/aboutus/about\_vision.htm">http://www.aud.gov.hk/eng/aboutus/about\_vision.htm</a>
- 46. Hong Kong Department of Building Services Engineering, Mui, K. W., Chan, W. Y., Wong, L. T., & Hui, P. S. (2008). Thermal Environmental Interference with Airborne

Bacteria and Fungi Levels in Air-Conditioned Offices. *Indoor and Built Environment*, 17(2), 122-127. doi: 10.1177/1420326X08089260

- 47. Hong Kong, EPD (Environmental Protection Department). (1989). A White Paper: Pollution in Hong Kong – A Time to Act [Hong Kong government report]. Retrieved from <u>http://www.epd.gov.hk/epd/english/resources\_pub/policy/files/White\_Paper-A\_time\_to\_act.pdf</u>
- 48. Hong Kong. EPD (Environmental Protection Department). (2013). Air Quality Objectives [Hong Kong government website]. 2013, December 31. Retrieved from http://www.epd.gov.hk/epd/english/environmentinhk/air / air\_quality\_objectives/air\_quality\_objectives.html
- Hong Kong. EPD (Environmental Protection Department), & Environment Bureau. (2005). A Time to Act, 1986 – 1989 [Hong Kong government feature article]. *EPD website*. Retrieved from <u>http://www.epd.gov.hk/epd/misc/ehk11/en/chapter2a.html</u>
- 50. Hong Kong. HKSAR (The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region) Indoor Air Quality Management Group. (2003a). A Guide on Indoor Air Quality Certification Scheme for Offices and Public Places [government document]. Retrieved from http://www.iaq.gov.hk/cert/doc/CertGuide-eng.pdf
- 51. Hong Kong. HKSAR (The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region) Indoor Air Quality Management Group. (2003b). Guidance Notes for the Management of Indoor Air Quality in Offices and Public Spaces [Hong Kong government document]. Retrieved from http://www.iaq.gov.hk/cert/doc/GN-eng.pdf
- 52. Hong Kong. Home Affairs Department Building Management. (2007). *Database of Private Buildings in Hong Kong*. [Hong Kong government website]. Retrieved from http://www.buildingmgt.gov.hk/en/database\_of\_private\_buildings\_in\_hong\_kong/12.htm
- 53. Hong Kong. Home Affairs Department. (2002). Database of Private Buildings in Hong Kong. [Hong Kong government website]. Retrieved from <u>https://bmis.buildingmgt.gov.hk/eng/building.php</u>
- 54. Hong Kong. Hong Kong Economy Department. (2012). *The performance of Hong Kong's retail trade industry* [Hong Kong government report]. Retrieved from http://www.hkeconomy.gov.hk/en/pdf/box-12q4-1-1.pdf
- 55. Hong Kong. Hong Kong Housing Authority. (2004). Speakers. [Hong Kong government website]. Retrieved from <u>http://www.housingauthority.gov.hk/en/ihc/speaker/speaker02.html</u> This is a government website used as a resource to find the official title of the critic of the IAQ Certification Scheme, John Burnett, referred to in the Background section.

- 56. Hong Kong. Hong Kong Information Services Department. (2013). Population [Hong Kong government online facts sheet]. 2013, July. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.gov.hk/en/about/abouthk/factsheets/docs/population.pdf">http://www.gov.hk/en/about/abouthk/factsheets/docs/population.pdf</a>
- 57. Hong Kong. Mass Transit Railway (MTR) Corporation. (2011). *Shopping Malls*. Retrieved from official MTR website: http://www.mtr.com.hk/eng/properties/mtrshopping\_centres.html
- 58. Hong Kong. Planning, Environment and Lands Branch. (1993). Second Review of the 1989 White Paper Pollution in Hong Kong – A time to act [Hong Kong government report]. Retrieved from http://www.epd.gov.hk/epd/english/resources\_pub/policy/files/White\_Paper-A\_time\_to\_act-2nd\_review.pdf
- 59. HubPages. (2014). Air Purifiers With EMF Technology Overtake HEPA Air Filters As The Best Home Air Purification System. [website]. Retrieved from http://air-purifiers.hubpages.com/hub/Air-Purifiers-With-EMF-Technology-Overtake-HEPA-Air-Filters-As-The-Best-Home-Air-Purification-System This is a user review of Enhanced Media Filtration purification systems.
- Hui, P. S., Wong, L. T., & Mui, K. W. (2007). Evaluation of professional choice of sampling locations for indoor air quality assessment. *Building and Environment*, 42(8), 2900-2907. doi: 10.1016/j.buildenv.2006.10.039
- 61.Hui, P. S., Wong, L. T., & Mui, K. W. (2010). Occupant acceptance as a screening parameter for indoor environmental assessments. *Facilities*, 28(7/8), 338-347. doi: 10.1108/02632771011042446
- 62. IAQ Consultants: Indoor Air Quality Testing Specialists. (2011 2014). Indoor Air Quality Audit (IAQ). Retrieved from http://www.iaqsg.com/iaq-audit/ This is a website from IAQ Consultants, who are Green Building specialists in indoor air quality testing, sampling and auditing.
- 63. IAQUK (Indoor Air Quality UK independent organization). (2014). About IAQ UK. [website]. Retrieved from <u>www.iaquk.org.uk</u> This is a website from IAQUK, a non-profit organization.
- 64. IEQ (Indoor Environment Quality) Global: Green Solutions Provider. (2013a). *About IEQ Global*. [company website]. Retrieved from <u>http://www.ieqglobal.com/about/</u>This is a website page providing a description of the environmental company, IEQ Global.

- 65. IEQ (Indoor Environment Quality) Global: Green Solutions Provider. (2013b). *HealthWay EMF Air Purification Systems*. [company report]. Retrieved from <u>http://www.ieqglobal.com/2010/09/southeast-asia-building-2/</u> This is a report from IEQ Global on tests done on their purification system.
- 66. IEQ (Indoor Environment Quality) Global: Green Solutions Provider. (2013c). *HealthWay EMF Air Purification Systems Launched in Singapore: EMF Technology Traps and Kills Up to 100 of All Germs*. [press release]. Retrieved from <u>http://www.ieqglobal.com/2007/11/breathe-the-cleanest-air-with-healthway%C2%AE-emf-air-purification-systems/</u> This is a press release regarding a purification system manufactured by the company, IEQ Global.
- 67. IMB Corp.. (2013). IBM SPSS Statistics (Version 22.0). Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.
- 68. Indoor Air Quality Information Center. (2014). *Importance of IAQ*. Retrieved from Indoor Air Quality Information Centre website (maintained by the Hong Kong government): http://www.iaq.gov.hk/
- 69. Ipsos in Greater China website. (2010). *In Hong Kong, a Bayer Survey on Indoor Air Pollution was Completed*. Retrieved from http://www.ipsos.com.cn/en/In-Hong-Kong,-a-Bayer-survey-on-indoor-air-pollution-was-completed This is an online news report on research done by Ipsos, a non-profit company focused on survey-based market research.
- 70. Johns Hopkins Medicine website. (n.d.). Vital Signs (Body Temperature, Pulse Rate, Respiration Rate, Blood Pressure). Retrieved from <u>http://www.hopkinsmedicine.org/healthlibrary</u> /conditions/cardiovascular\_diseases/vital\_signs\_body\_temperature\_pulse\_rate\_respiratio n\_rate\_blood\_pressure\_85,P00866/
- 71. Kim, J., de Dear, R., Cândido, C., Zhang, H., & Arens, E. (2013). Gender differences in office occupant perception of indoor environmental quality (IEQ). *Building and Environment*, 70, 245-256. doi: 10.1016/j.buildenv.2013.08.022
- 72. Kim, J. T., & Yu, C. W. F., (2013). Photocatalytic oxidation for maintenance of indoor environmental quality. *Indoor and Built Environment*, 22(1), 39-51. doi:10.1177/1420326X12470282
- Koren, H. S., Graham, D. E., & Devlin, R. B. (1992). Exposure of humans to a volatile organic mixture. III. inflammatory response. *Archives of Environmental Health*, 47(1), 39-44. doi:10.1080/00039896.1992.9935942

74. Laerd Statistics. (2013a). Chi-square test for association in SPSS (aka Chi-square test for independence). Retrieved from <u>https://statistics.laerd.com/premium/cstfa/chi-square-testin-spss.php</u>

This is from a website founded by Dr. Adam Lund and Dr. Mark Lund, graduates from the University of Bath, UK. The website is a resource for students, academics, and researches and is kept up-to-date with the latest statistics software. The website was created for students taking statistics courses, doing research projects, or completing dissertations/theses.

- 75. Laerd Statistics. (2013b). Descriptive and Inferential Statistics. Retrieved from <u>https://statistics.laerd.com/statistical-guides/descriptive-inferential-statistics.php</u> This is from a website founded by Dr. Adam Lund and Dr. Mark Lund, graduates from the University of Bath, UK. The website is a resource for students, academics, and researches and is kept up-to-date with the latest statistics software. The website was created for students taking statistics courses, doing research projects, or completing dissertations/theses.
- 76. Laerd Statistics. (2013c). Independent-samples t-test in SPSS. Retrieved from https://statistics.laerd.com/spss-tutorials/independent-t-test-using-spss-statistics.php This is from a website founded by Dr. Adam Lund and Dr. Mark Lund, graduates from the University of Bath, UK. The website is a resource for students, academics, and researches and is kept up-to-date with the latest statistics software. The website was created for students taking statistics courses, doing research projects, or completing dissertations/theses.
- 77. Laerd Statistics. (2013d). Kruskal-Wallis H test in SPSS. Retrieved from <u>https://statistics.laerd.com/premium/kwht/kruskal-wallis-test-in-spss.php</u> This is from a website founded by Dr. Adam Lund and Dr. Mark Lund, graduates from the University of Bath, UK. The website is a resource for students, academics, and researches and is kept up-to-date with the latest statistics software. The website was created for students taking statistics courses, doing research projects, or completing dissertations/theses.
- 78. Laerd Statistics. (2013e). Mann-Whitney U test in SPSS. Retrieved from <u>https://statistics.laerd.com/premium/mwut/mann-whitney-test-in-spss.php</u> This is from a website founded by Dr. Adam Lund and Dr. Mark Lund, graduates from the University of Bath, UK. The website is a resource for students, academics, and researches and is kept up-to-date with the latest statistics software. The website was created for students taking statistics courses, doing research projects, or completing dissertations/theses.
- 79. Laerd Statistics. (2013f). One-way ANOVA in SPSS. Retrieved from <u>https://statistics.laerd.com/premium/owa/one-way-anova-in-spss.php</u> This is from a website founded by Dr. Adam Lund and Dr. Mark Lund, graduates from the University of Bath, UK. The website is a resource for students, academics, and researches and is kept up-to-date with the latest statistics software. The website was

created for students taking statistics courses, doing research projects, or completing dissertations/theses.

- 80. Laerd Statistics. (2013g). Types of Variable. Retrieved from <u>https://statistics.laerd.com/statistical-guides/types-of-variable.php</u> This is from a website founded by Dr. Adam Lund and Dr. Mark Lund, graduates from the University of Bath, UK. The website is a resource for students, academics, and researches and is kept up-to-date with the latest statistics software. The website was created for students taking statistics courses, doing research projects, or completing dissertations/theses.
- Lee, S.-C., Guo, H., Li, W.-M., & Chan, L.-Y. (2002). Inter-comparison of air pollutant concentrations in different indoor environments in Hong Kong. *Atmospheric Environment*, 36(12), 1929-1940. doi: <u>10.1016/S1352-2310(02)00176-0</u>
- 82. Lennox International Inc., a provider of HVAC controls and indoor air quality products for commercial use. (2014). *Demand Control Ventilation*. Retrieved from http://www.lennoxcommercial.com/products/indoor-air-quality/demand-control-ventilation/
- 83. Li, A. Newspaper article. (2013). 'Severe' air pollution hits Shanghai. South China Morning Post. 2013, November 7. Retrieved from http://www.scmp.com/news/chinainsider/article/1349626/severe-air-pollution-hits-shanghai This is a newspaper article posted by South China Morning Post News, a newspaper that has printed news for 111 years as of January 2014.
- 84. Li, W.-M., Lee, S. C., & Chan, L. Y. (2001). Indoor air quality at nine shopping malls in Hong Kong. *Science of the Total Environment*, 273(1), 27-40. doi:10.1016/S0048-9697(00)00833-0
- 85. Lowry, R. (2013a). One-Way Analysis of Variance for Independent Samples Concepts & Applications of Inferential Statistics. Chapter 14. Retrieved from <a href="http://vassarstats.net/textbook/index.html">http://vassarstats.net/textbook/index.html</a> This is from an online statistic textbook written by Dr. Richard Lowry, a PhD in Psychology and Professor of Psychology Emeritus at Vassar College in Poughkeepsie, New York, United States.
- 86. Lowry, R. (2013b). Parametric and Non-Parametric Concepts & Applications of Inferential Statistics. Chapter 14. Retrieved from <u>http://vassarstats.net/textbook/parametric.html</u> This is from an online statistic textbook written by Dr. Richard Lowry, a PhD in Psychology and Professor of Psychology Emeritus at Vassar College in Poughkeepsie, New York, United States.
- 87. Lowry, R. (2013c). The Mann-Whitney Test *Concepts & Applications of Inferential Statistics*. Subchapter 11a. Retrieved from <u>http://vassarstats.net/textbook/ch11a.html</u>

This is from an online statistic textbook written by Dr. Richard Lowry, a PhD in Psychology and Professor of Psychology Emeritus at Vassar College in Poughkeepsie, New York, United States.

- 88. Lowry, R. (2013d). The Kruskal-Wallis Test for 3 or More Independent Samples -*Concepts & Applications of Inferential Statistics*. Subchapter 14a. Retrieved from <u>http://vassarstats.net/textbook/index.html</u> This is from an online statistic textbook written by Dr. Richard Lowry, a PhD in Psychology and Professor of Psychology Emeritus at Vassar College in Poughkeepsie, New York, United States.
- 89. Malaysia. Jabatan Kerja Raya (Department of Public Works). (2013). *Guidelines on Indoor Environment Quality (IEQ) for Government Office Building* (Malaysian government report no. JKR 20500-0018-13 Edition 1). Retrieved from https://www.jkr.gov.my/cawmekanikal/images/stories/zoo/uploads/muat-turun/garispanduan/ckm/IEQ-Guidelines-2013.pdf
- 90. McLaughlin, J. (1996). Chi-Sqaure Test. Retrieved from <a href="http://www2.lv.psu.edu/jxm57/irp/chisquar.html">http://www2.lv.psu.edu/jxm57/irp/chisquar.html</a> This website that provides information on the Chi-Square Test for statistical analysis from Associate Professor of biology, Dr. Jacqueline McLaughlin, at the Pennsylvania State University Lehigh Valley Campus in Pennsylvania, USA. She has a M.S. and PhD in Cell and Developmental Biology from Florida State University, United States and Rutgers University, United States respectively.
- 91. Modbus Organization. (2014). *Modbus FAQ: About the Modbus Organization*. Retrieved from <u>http://www.modbus.org/faq.php</u> This is a website from the Modbus Organization, an independent, non-profit organization that supports the use of Modbus communication protocol and automation devices.
- 92. Mui, K. W., Chan, W. Y., Wong, L. T., & Hui, P. S. (2010). Scoping indoor airborne fungi in an excellent indoor air quality office building in Hong Kong. *Building Services Engineering Research & Technology*, *31*(2), 191-199. doi: 10.1177/0143624409359752
- 93. Mui, K. W., Wong, L. T., & Hui, P. S. (2008). Risks of unsatisfactory airborne bacteria level in air-conditioned offices of subtropical climates. *Building and Environment*, 43(4), 475-479. doi: 10.1016/j.buildenv.2007.01.012
- 94. NADCA (National Air Duct Cleaners Association) website. (2004). NADCA General Specifications for the Cleaning of Commercial Heating, Ventilating and Air Conditioning Systems. Retrieved from http://www.nadca.com/sites/default/files/userfiles/ NADCA\_ General\_Specifications.pdf This is a website from NADCA, a non-profit association of companies that clean and maintain HVAC (heating and ventilation air conditioning) systems.

- 95. Otto, D. A., Hudnell, H. K., House, D. E., Mølhave, L., & Counts, W. (1992). Exposure of humans to a volatile organic mixture. I. behavioral assessment. *Archives of Environmental Health*,47(1), 23-30. doi:10.1080/00039896.1992.9935940
- 96. PeakPureAir. (2013). How Titanium Oxide UV Photocatalytic Oxidation Works. Retrieved from https://www.peakpureair.com/how-tio2-uv-photocatalytic-oxidation-pco-works

This is a website from PeakPureAir, a company that sells air purifiers, that explains the science behind what is happening when each of their air purifiers is turned on.

- 97. Pommer, L., Fick, J., Sundell, J., Nilsson, C., Sjostrom, M., Stenberg, B., & Andersson, B. (2004). Class separation of buildings with high and low prevalence of SBS by principal component analysis. *Indoor Air*, 14(1), 16-23. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0668.2003.00203.x
- 98. Qualtrics. (2011). Cross Tabulation Analysis. Retrieved from <u>http://qualtrics.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/05/Cross-Tabulation-Theory.pdf</u> This is a website from Qualtrics, a global company that provides services for making and analyzing surveys. This is the company WPI (Worcester Polytechnic Institute) in Worcester, Massachusetts, United States uses to make its surveys.
- 99. Rao, C.Y., Burge, H.A., & Chang, J.C.S. (1996) Review of Quantitative Standards and Guidelines for Fungi in Indoor Air. *Journal of the Air & Waste Management Association*, 46:9, 899-908, doi: 10.1080/10473289.1996.10467526
- 100. Renze, J. (2014). Outlier: *MathWorld*. Retrieved from <a href="http://mathworld.wolfram.com/Outlier.html">http://mathworld.wolfram.com/Outlier.html</a>

  This is a website from Wolfram MathWorld, a company providing an online mathematical resource created by Eric W. Weisstein, who has a M.S. degree in physics and astronomy from Cornell University in New York, United States and a PhD from Caltech in California, United States.
- 101. Rose, A. (2013). China smog emergency shuts city of 11 million people [newspaper article]. *Cyprus Mail*. 2013, October 21. Retrieved from http://www.reuters.com/article/2013/10/21/us-china-smog-idUSBRE99K02Z20131021 This is a newspaper article posted by Cyprus Mail, a newspaper established since 1945.
- 102. Shao, H. (2013). Cleaner Indoor Air: A New selling Point For Employers in China? [newspaper article]. *Forbes Asia*. 2013, October 21. Retrieved from http://www.forbes.com/sites/hengshao/2013/10/21/cleaner-indoor-air-a-new-sellingpoint-for-employers-in-china/ This is an article posted by Forbes Asia, which formed from Forbes, Inc. (a privately owned publishing company founded in 1917).
Singapore. National Environment Agency (NEA). (2010). *Annual Report 2009/2010* [government report]. Retrieved from http://www.nea.gov.sg/cms/ar2010/Annual\_Report\_2010.pdf

- 103..Siu, B. (2010). City falls sick from indoor pollution menace [newspaper article]. *The Standard*. 2010, March 19. Retrieved from http://go.galegroup.com.ezproxy.wpi.edu/ps/i.do?id=GALE%7CA221583671&v=2.1&u =mlin\_c\_worpoly&it=r&p=ITOF&sw=w&asid=ede8220306e7cda24095d9e5cd7dd1d0 This is a newspaper article posted by The Standard, China's Business Newspaper, founded in 1949.
- 104. United States. California. Occupational Health Branch. (2014). *Recommending Workplace Standards*. [State of California government website]. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.cdph.ca.gov/programs/hesis/Pages/Standards.aspx">http://www.cdph.ca.gov/programs/hesis/Pages/Standards.aspx</a>
- 105. United States. CDPH (California Department of Public Health). (n.d.). Indoor Air Quality Program. [State of California government website]. Retrieved from <u>http://www.cal-iaq.org/</u>
- 106. United States. CDPH (California Department of Public Health). (2014). Indoor Air Quality Section. [State of California government website]. Retrieved from <u>http://www.cdph.ca.gov/programs/iaq/Pages/default.aspx</u>
- 107. United States. EPA (Environmental Protection Agency). (2013a). An Introduction to Indoor Air Quality (IAQ) [United States government website]. 2013, June 12. Retrieved from http://www.epa.gov/iaq/ia-intro.html
- 108. United States. EPA (Environmental Protection Agency). (2012). IAQ Design Tools for Schools: Heating, Ventilation and Air-Conditioning (HVAC) Systems [United States government website]. 2012, July 9. Retrieved from http://www.epa.gov/iaq/schooldesign/hvac.html
- 109. United States. EPA (Environmental Protection Agency). (2013b). *IAQ in Large and Commercial Buildings* [United States government website]. 2013, July 2. Retrieved from http://www.epa.gov/iaq/largebldgs/index.html
- 110. United States. HealthWay: providing home products to improve the indoor environment.
  (2014). *HealthWay*. [website]. Retrieved from <u>http://www.healthway.com/company/</u> This is a website page providing a description of the environmental company, HealthWay.
- 111. United States. Johns Hopkins Medicine website. (n.d.). Vital Signs (Body Temperature, Pulse Rate, Respiration Rate, Blood Pressure). Retrieved from http://www.hopkinsmedicine.org/healthlibrary /conditions/cardiovascular\_diseases/vital\_signs\_body\_temperature\_pulse\_rate\_respiratio

n\_rate\_blood\_pressure\_85,P00866/

This is a website from the United States' Johns Hopkins Medicine, a collaboration between the accredited Johns Hopkins University, Johns Hopkins Hospital, and Johns Hopkins Health System.

- 112. United States. NDSU (North Dakota State University) Indoor air quality website. (n.d.). *NDSU Indoor Air Quality*. Retrieved from http://www.ndsu.edu/vpfa\_apps/safety/Clientweb/ This is a website from North Dakota State University meant to provide the University employees with information on indoor air quality in general and in the University's facilities.
- 113. United States. NIEQRI (National Indoor Environmental Quality Research and Innovation, Inc.). (2004). National Research Center for Healthy Air Protection, Renewed at University at Buffalo. [press release]. 2004, July 1. Retrieved from http://webcache.googleusercontent.com/search?q=cache:ONCHAXyBbJkJ:wings.buffalo .edu/faculty/research/iucb/Prospectus01-24-05.doc+&cd=1&hl=en&ct=clnk This is a press release providing a description of the corporation (NIEQRI) that tested IEQ Global's purification system. NIEQRI chaired the board members of the peerreviewed National Research Center for Healthy Air Protection.
- 114. United States. OSHA (Occupational Safety and Health Administration). (2014a). California State Plan. [US government website]. Retrieved from https://www.osha.gov/dcsp/osp/stateprogs/california.html
- 115. United States. OSHA (Occupational Safety and Health Administration). (2004). Complete OSH Act of 1970. [US government website]. Retrieved from https://www.osha.gov/pls/oshaweb/owadisp.show\_document?p\_table=OSHACT&p\_id=2 743
- 116. United States. OSHA (Occupational Safety and Health Administration). (2014b). OSHA Enforcement. [US government website]. Retrieved from <u>https://www.osha.gov/dep/index.html</u>
- 117. United States. OSHA (Occupational Safety and Health Administration). (2014c). OSHA Law and Regulations. [US government website]. Retrieved from https://www.osha.gov/law-regs.html
- 118. United States. OSHA (Occupational Safety and Health Administration). (2014d). OSHA Training: Courses, Materials, and Resources. [US government website]. Retrieved from https://www.osha.gov/dte/index.html

- 119. United States. Texas Department of State Health Services. (2012). About Us- Indoor Air Quality Program. [State of Texas government website]. Retrieved from <u>http://www.dshs.state.tx.us/iaq/about.shtm</u>
- 120. United States. Texas Department of State Health Services. (2010). Texas Voluntary Indoor Air Quality Guidelines for Government Buildings - Health and Safety Code sections 297.1 – 297.10. [State of Texas government website]. 2010, July 23. Retrieved from <u>http://www.dshs.state.tx.us/iaq/SchoolsGuide.shtm</u>
- 121. United Technologies Corporation: A global company specializing in products for aerospace and building systems industries. (2013). Demand Control Ventilation: The Right Amount of Ventilation, at the Right Time and Place. Retrieved from <u>http://www.commercial.carrier.com/commercial/hvac/general/0,,CLI1\_DIV12\_ETI4470\_MID4438,00.html</u>
- 122. Varian, H. (2005). Bootstrap Tutorial. The Mathematica Journal, 9(4).
- 123. Verial, D., & Demand Media, What Is the Tukey HSD Test?. Retrieved from <a href="http://classroom.synonym.com/tukey-hsd-test-2611.html">http://classroom.synonym.com/tukey-hsd-test-2611.html</a> This is a website providing information on the Tukey HSD statistical test from Damon Verial, an applied psychologist who specializes in evolutionary psychology, relationships and attachment theory.
- 124. Wallace, L. (1987). The Total Exposure Assessment Methodology (TEAM) Study: Summary and Analysis: Volume I (United States government report no. EPA/600/6-87/002a). Chicago, IL: U.S. EPA (Environmental Protection Agency). Retrieved from http://exposurescience.org/pub/reports/TEAM\_Study\_book\_1987.pdf
- 125. Weaver, B. (2013). Assumptions/Restrictions for Chi-square Tests on Contingency Tables. Retrieved from https://sites.google.com/a/lakeheadu.ca/bweaver/Home/statistics/notes/chisqr\_assumption s This is a personal website from Bruce Weaver providing information on statistics and

Weaver's published works and journals. Bruce Weaver has a M.S. in Experimental Psychology and is now a Research Associate at Lakehead University in Canada.

126. White, E. (2009). HEPA and ULPA filters. Journal of Validation Technology, 15(3), 48.

- 127. WHO (World Health Organization). (n.d.). *Indoor Air Pollution, Health and the Burden of Disease: Indoor Air Thematic Briefing* 2. Retrieved from official website of World Health Organization: http://www.who.int/indoorair/info/briefing2.pdf
- 128. Yeh, A. G. O. Indoor air quality conference newspaper article. (2011). High-Density Living In Hong Kong. *Hong Kong: Cities, Health and Well-Being*. 2011, November.

Retrieved from <u>http://lsecities.net/media/objects/articles/high-density-living-in-hong-kong/en-gb/</u>

This is an article written in a newspaper (Hong Kong: Cities, Health and Well-Being) for a conference held by LSE Cities, an international center at London School of Economics and Political Science that uses research, conferences, teaching and projects to improve urban living conditions.

129. Zaatari, M., Novoselac, A., & Siegel, J. (2013). The relationship between filter pressure drop, indoor air quality, and energy consumption in rooftop HVAC units. *Building and Environment*, doi:10.1016/j.buildenv.2013.12.010

# Glossary

# List of abbreviations

α	Significance Level
$\mu g/m^3$	Micrograms per cubic meter
ABC	Airborne Bacteria Count
AIDS	Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome
AIHA	American Industrial Hygiene Association
ANOVA	Analysis of Variation
ArchSD	Architectural Services Department
ASHRAE	American Society of Heating, Refrigerating, and Air Conditioning Engineers
BEAM	Building Environmental Assessment Method
Bq/m <sup>3</sup>	Becquerel per cubic meter
BRIs	Building Related Illnesses
°C	Degrees Celsius
CFU/m <sup>3</sup>	Colony Forming Units per cubic meter
CO	Carbon Monoxide
$CO_2$	Carbon Dioxide
DBRI	Danish Building Research Institute
EMSD	Electrical and Mechanical Services Department
EPA	Environmental Protection Agency
EPD	Environmental Protection Department
GN	Guidance Notes for the Management of Indoor Air Quality in Offices and Public
	Spaces
$H_0$	Null Hypothesis
$H_1$	Alternative Hypothesis
НСНО	Formaldehyde
HKSAR	Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
HVAC	Heating, ventilating air conditioning
IAO	Indoor Air Quality
m/s	Meters per second
MVAC	Mechanical ventilating air conditioning
NIOSH	National Institute of Occupational Safety and Health
NO <sub>2</sub>	Nitrogen Dioxide
$O_3$	Ozone
OIC	Ontario Interministerial Committee
D	p-value
$PM_{25}$	Airborne Particulate Matter with diameter less than or equal to 2.5 µm
ppb	Parts per billion
ppm	Parts per million
PWC	Public Works Canada
RH	Relative Humidity
Rn	Radon
RSP	Respirable Suspended Particles
SBS	Sick Building Syndrome
U	Mann – Whitney's U statistic
T	Temperature
	1

TVOC	Total Volatile Organic Compounds
VOC	Volatile organic compound
WHO	World Health Organization
Z	z-score

# Appendix A: Mission and Organization of the Sponsoring Agency

Business Environment Council Limited (BEC) is an independent, non-profit membership organization, established by the business sector in Hong Kong. Since its establishment in 1992, BEC has been at the forefront of promoting environmental excellence by advocating the uptake of clean technologies and practices which reduce waste, conserve resources, prevent pollution and improve corporate environmental and social responsibility. BEC offers sustainable solutions and professional services covering advisory, research, assessment, training and award programs for government, business and the community, thus enabling environmental protection and contributing to the transition to a low carbon economy.

The purpose of BEC is reflected in its mission statement: "To advocate environmental protection amongst our members and the broader community, the uptake of clean technologies and practices which reduce waste, conserve resources, prevent pollution, and improve the environment". BEC partners with the government to convince business leaders to implement changes that will improve the quality of air, energy efficiency, waste management, and the waterfront. BEC offers a variety of services such as advisory, research, assessment, training, and award programs to support member businesses. Various training courses are offered in subject topics of Green Building & Energy Efficiency, Indoor Air Quality, Environmental Management & Policy, Environment, Social and Governance Reporting, and Green Living. Specifically for indoor air quality (IAQ) is the first accredited Certificate Issuing Body (CIB) under the Hong Kong Inspection Body Accreditation Scheme (HKIAS) to conduct assessment, certify and audit premises under HKIAS003- IS017020.

BEC has a broad range of connections with networking opportunities with over 20, 000 businesses. BEC's strategic direction is governed by a board of directors drawn from leading

multinational and local corporations, which is under the leadership of Chairman, Prof. John Chai. The BEC's professional team is under the leadership of the Chief Executive Officer, Ms. Agnes Li. Throughout this project, we worked with Dr. Veronica Chan who is a specialist in IAQ and Programme Manager – Education. Dr. Chan teaches training courses to businesses to help improve their management of indoor air quality.

# Appendix B: Questionnaires

4. How much three did you special in this shopping mall affect you?         Very positively -1       2       3       4 - No effect       5       6       7 - Vetery positively -1         2. How is the air flow in this shopping mall?         Too strong -1       2       3       4 - Perfect       5       6         3. How are the odours in the air of this shopping mall?         Very fragrant -1       2       3       4 - No smell       5       6       7         4. How is the humidity in this shopping mall?       3       4 - Perfect       5       6       5         5. How does the temperature in this shopping mall affect you?       Very positively -1       2       3       4 - Perfect       5       6       7 - Vetery positively -1       2       3       4 - No effect       5       6       7 - Vetery positively -1       2       3       4 - Perfect       5       6       7 - Vetery positively -1       2       3       4 - Perfect       5       6       7 - Vetery positively -1       2       3       4 - Perfect       5       6       7 - Vetery positively -1       2       3       4 - Perfect       5       6       7 - Vetery positively -1       2       3       4 - Perfect       5       6       7 - Vetery Positively -1       0	)	
1. How does the air quality in this shopping mall affect you? Very positively - 1 2 3 4 - No effect 5 6 7 - Ve 2. How is the air flow in this shopping mall? Too strong - 1 2 3 4 - Perfect 5 6 3. How are the odours in the air of this shopping mall? Very fragrant - 1 2 3 4 - No smell 5 6 7 4. How is the humidity in this shopping mall ? Too humid - 1 2 3 4 - Perfect 5 6 7 4. How is the temperature in this shopping mall affect you? Very positively - 1 2 3 4 - No effect 5 6 7 - Ve 6. How does the temperature in this shopping mall affect you? Very positively - 1 2 3 4 - No effect 5 6 7 - Ve 6. How is the temperature in this shopping mall? Too warm - 1 2 3 4 - No effect 5 6 7 - Ve 6. How us the temperature in this shopping mall? Too warm - 1 2 3 4 - Perfect 5 6 7 - Ve 6. How us the temperature in this shopping mall? Too warm - 1 2 3 4 - No effect 5 6 7 - Ve 6. How us the temperature in this shopping mall? Too warm - 1 2 3 4 - No effect 5 6 7 - Ve 6. How us heard of the Indoor Air Quality Certification Scheme? Yes No a. If you answered yes to Q7, which class do you think this shopping mall belongs to? Good Excellent Uncertified Don't 8. TOURISTS ONLY: how does the air in this shopping mall compare to the indoor air of malls in your countre Better Similar Worse 9. According to your personal standards, is the air in this shopping mall satisfactory? Yes No Don't know 10. Rate the indoor air quality in this shopping mall (1 being the best & 7 being the worst): Best - 1 2 3 4 5 6 11. Rate the outdoor air quality of shopping mall affect the amount of money you spend? Yes No a. If you answered yes to Q12, if the indoor air quality were improved in this mall, how would it affect the money you spend? (circle one) -90% -20% -50% -50% -30% -10% +10% +30% +50% +70% +60% +60%		
Very positively - 1234 - No effect567 - Ve2. How is the air flow in this shopping mall?Too strong - 1234 - Perfect563. How are the odours in the air of this shopping mall?Very fragrant - 1234 - No smell5674. How is the humidity in this shopping mall?Too humid - 1234 - Perfect5674. How is the temperature in this shopping mall affect you?Very positively - 1234 - No effect567 - Ve6. How is the temperature in this shopping mall?Too warm - 1234 - Perfect5676. How is the temperature in this shopping mall?Too warm - 1234 - Perfect5676. How is the temperature in this shopping mall?Too warm - 1234 - Perfect5677Kave you heard of the Indoor Air Quality Certification Scheme? YesNoa.If you answered yes to Q7, which class do you think this shopping mall belongs to? GoodExcellentUncertifiedDon't8. TOURISTS ONLY: how does the air in this shopping mall compare to the indoor air of malls in your countr BetterSimilarWorse9. According to your personal standards, is the air in this shopping mall satisfactory? YesNo2611. Rate the indoor air quality around this shopping mall (1 being the best & 7 being the worst):3456	11	
2. How is the air flow in this shopping mall? Foo strong -1 2 3 4 - Perfect 5 6 3. How are the odours in the air of this shopping mall? Very fragrant -1 2 3 4 - No smell 5 6 7 4. How is the humidity in this shopping mall? Foo humid -1 2 3 4 - Perfect 5 6 7 - Ve 5. How does the temperature in this shopping mall affect you? Very positively -1 2 3 4 - No effect 5 6 7 - Ve 6. How is the temperature in this shopping mall? Foo warm -1 2 3 4 - Perfect 5 6 7 - Ve 6. How is the temperature in this shopping mall? Foo warm -1 2 3 4 - Perfect 5 6 7 - Ve 6. How is the temperature in this shopping mall? Foo warm -1 2 3 4 - Perfect 5 6 7 - Ve 6. How is the temperature in this shopping mall? Foo warm -1 2 3 4 - Perfect 5 6 7 - Ve 6. How is the temperature in this shopping mall? Foo warm -1 2 3 4 - Perfect 5 6 7 - Ve 6. How is the temperature in this shopping mall? Foo warm -1 2 3 4 - Perfect 5 6 7 - Ve 8. If you answered yes to Q7, which class do you think this shopping mall belongs to? Good Excellent Uncertified Don't 8. TOURISTS ONLY: how does the air in this shopping mall compare to the indoor air of malls in your countr Better Similar Worse 9. According to your personal standards, is the air in this shopping mall satisfactory? Yes No Don't know 10. Rate the indoor air quality in this shopping mall (1 being the best & 7 being the worst): 3est -1 2 3 4 5 6 11. Rate the outdoor air quality around this shopping mall (1 being the best & 7 being the worst): 3est -1 2 3 4 5 6 12. Does the indoor air quality of shopping mall affect the amount of money you spend? Yes No a. If you answered yes to Q12, if the indoor air quality were improved in this mall, how would it affect th money you spend? (circle one) -90% -70% -50% -60% -40% -20% no effect +20% +40% +60% +800 -100% -80% -60% -60% -40% -20% no effect +20% +40% +60% +800	ery negatively	
Image: 2 3 4-Perfect563. How are the odours in the air of this shopping mall?Very fragrant -1234 - No smell5674. How is the humidity in this shopping mall?Too humid -1234 - Perfect567Very positively -1234 - Perfect5677Very positively -1234 - Perfect567776. How is the temperature in this shopping mall?Too warm -1234 - Perfect5677776. How is the temperature in this shopping mall?Too warm -1234 - Perfect567777YesNoa. If you answered yes to Q7, which class do you think this shopping mall belongs to?GoodExcellentUncertifiedDon'tUncertifiedDon't8TOURISTS ONLY: how does the air in this shopping mall compare to the indoor air of malls in your countrBetterSimilarWorse9. According to your personal standards, is the air in this shopping mall statisfactory?YesNo123456 <td colspa<="" td=""><td>7 11-61</td></td>	<td>7 11-61</td>	7 11-61
2. How are the bodd is in the air of this shopping main very fragmant - 1 2 3 4 - No smell 5 6 7 4. How is the humidity in this shopping mall? Foo humid - 1 2 3 4 - Perfect 5 6 5. How does the temperature in this shopping mall affect you? Very positively - 1 2 3 4 - No effect 5 6 7 - Ve 6. How is the temperature in this shopping mall? Foo warm - 1 2 3 4 - Perfect 5 6 7. Have you heard of the Indoor Air Quality Certification Scheme? Yes No a. If you answered yes to Q7, which class do you think this shopping mall belongs to? Good Excellent Uncertified Don't 8. TOURISTS ONLY: how does the air in this shopping mall compare to the indoor air of malls in your countri Better Similar Worse 9. According to your personal standards, is the air in this shopping mall satisfactory? Yes No 10. Rate the indoor air quality in this shopping mall (1 being the best & 7 being the worst): 3est - 1 2 3 4 5 6 11. Rate the outdoor air quality of shopping mall affect the amount of money you spend? Yes No a. If you answered yes to Q12, if the indoor air quality were improved in this small, how would it affect the money you spend? Yes No a. If you answered yes to Q12, if the indoor air quality were improved in this small, how would it affect the money you spend? Yes No A torigot on the term of the shopping mall affect the amount of money you spend? Yes No A torigot the indoor air quality of shopping mall affect the amount of money you spend? Yes No A torigot the indoor air quality of shopping mall affect the amount of money you spend? Yes No A torigot the indoor air quality of shopping mall affect the amount of money you spend? Yes No A torigot the indoor air quality of shopping mall affect the amount of money you spend? Yes No A torigot the indoor air quality of shopping mall affect the amount of money you spend? Yes No A torigot the indoor air quality of shopping mall affect the amount of money you spend? Yes No A torigot the indoor air quality the you the torigot the indoor air quality were improve	7 - NO TIOW	
4. How is the humidity in this shopping mall? Foo humid $-1$ 2 3 4 - Perfect 5 6 5. How does the temperature in this shopping mall affect you? Very positively $-1$ 2 3 4 - No effect 5 6 7 - Ve 6. How is the temperature in this shopping mall? Foo warm $-1$ 2 3 4 - Perfect 5 6 7. Have you heard of the Indoor Air Quality Certification Scheme? Yes No a. If you answered yes to Q7, which class do you think this shopping mall belongs to? Good Excellent Uncertified Don't 8. TOURISTS ONLY: how does the air in this shopping mall compare to the indoor air of malls in your countr Better Similar Worse 9. According to your personal standards, is the air in this shopping mall satisfactory? Yes No Don't know 10. Rate the indoor air quality in this shopping mall (1 being the best & 7 being the worst): 3est $-1$ 2 3 4 5 6 11. Rate the outdoor air quality around this shopping mall (1 being the best & 7 being the worst): 3est $-1$ 2 3 4 5 6 12. Does the indoor air quality of shopping mall affect the amount of money you spend? Yes No a. If you answered yes to Q12, if the indoor air quality were improved in this mall, how would it affect the money you spend? (circle one) -90% $-70%$ $-50%$ $-40%$ $-20%$ no effect $+20%$ $+40%$ $+50%$ $+70%$	- Very smelly	
Foo humid - 1 2 3 4 - Perfect 5 6 5. How does the temperature in this shopping mall affect you? Very positively - 1 2 3 4 - No effect 5 6 7 - Ve 6. How is the temperature in this shopping mall? Foo warm - 1 2 3 4 - Perfect 5 6 7. Have you heard of the Indoor Air Quality Certification Scheme? Yes No a. If you answered yes to Q7, which class do you think this shopping mall belongs to? Good Excellent Uncertified Don't 8. TOURISTS ONLY: how does the air in this shopping mall compare to the indoor air of malls in your countre Better Similar Worse 9. According to your personal standards, is the air in this shopping mall satisfactory? Yes No 10. Rate the indoor air quality in this shopping mall (1 being the best & 7 being the worst): 3est - 1 2 3 4 5 6 11. Rate the outdoor air quality around this shopping mall (1 being the best & 7 being the worst): 3est - 1 2 3 4 5 6 12. Does the indoor air quality of shopping mall affect the amount of money you spend? Yes No a. If you answered yes to Q12, if the indoor air quality were improved in this mall, how would it affect the money you spend? (circle one) -20% -70% -50% -50% -30% -10% +10% +30% +50% +70% +70%	very sineny	
5. How does the temperature in this shopping mall affect you? Very positively - 1 2 3 4 - No effect 5 6 7 - Ve 6. How is the temperature in this shopping mall? Too warm - 1 2 3 4 - Perfect 5 6 7. Have you heard of the Indoor Air Quality Certification Scheme? Yes No a. If you answered yes to Q7, which class do you think this shopping mall belongs to? Good Excellent Uncertified Don't 8. TOURISTS ONLY: how does the air in this shopping mall compare to the indoor air of malls in your countr Better Similar Worse 9. According to your personal standards, is the air in this shopping mall satisfactory? Yes No Don't know 10. Rate the indoor air quality in this shopping mall (1 being the best & 7 being the worst): 3est - 1 2 3 4 5 6 11. Rate the outdoor air quality around this shopping mall (1 being the best & 7 being the worst): 3est - 1 2 3 4 5 6 12. Does the indoor air quality of shopping mall affect the amount of money you spend? Yes No a. If you answered yes to Q12, if the indoor air quality were improved in this mall, how would it affect the money you spend? (circle one) -90% -70% -50% -40% -20% no effect +20% +40% +60% +800	7 – Too dry	
Very positively $-1$ 2 3 4 - No effect 5 6 7 - Ve 6. How is the temperature in this shopping mall? Floo warm $-1$ 2 3 4 - Perfect 5 6 7. Have you heard of the Indoor Air Quality Certification Scheme? Yes No a. If you answered yes to Q7, which class do you think this shopping mall belongs to? Good Excellent Uncertified Don't 8. TOURISTS ONLY: how does the air in this shopping mall compare to the indoor air of malls in your countre Better Similar Worse 9. According to your personal standards, is the air in this shopping mall satisfactory? Yes No Don't know 10. Rate the indoor air quality in this shopping mall (1 being the best & 7 being the worst): Best $-1$ 2 3 4 5 6 11. Rate the outdoor air quality around this shopping mall (1 being the best & 7 being the worst): Best $-1$ 2 3 4 5 6 12. Does the indoor air quality of shopping mall affect the amount of money you spend? Yes No a. If you answered yes to Q12, if the indoor air quality were improved in this mall, how would it affect the money you spend? (circle one) -90% $-70%$ $-50%$ $-40%$ $-20%$ no effect $+20%$ $+40%$ $+50%$ $+70%$		
6. How is the temperature in this shopping mall? Foo warm -1 2 3 4 - Perfect 5 6 7. Have you heard of the Indoor Air Quality Certification Scheme? Yes No a. If you answered yes to Q7, which class do you think this shopping mall belongs to? Good Excellent Uncertified Don't 8. TOURISTS ONLY: how does the air in this shopping mall compare to the indoor air of malls in your countr Better Similar Worse 9. According to your personal standards, is the air in this shopping mall satisfactory? Yes No Don't know 10. Rate the indoor air quality in this shopping mall (1 being the best & 7 being the worst): Best -1 2 3 4 5 6 11. Rate the outdoor air quality around this shopping mall (1 being the best & 7 being the worst): Best -1 2 3 4 5 6 12. Does the indoor air quality of shopping mall affect the amount of money you spend? Yes No a. If you answered yes to Q12, if the indoor air quality were improved in this mall, how would it affect the money you spend? (circle one) -90% -70% -60% -60% -40% -20% no effect +20% +40% +60% +80	ery negatively	
Too warm − 1       2       3       4 − Perfect       5       6         7. Have you heard of the Indoor Air Quality Certification Scheme? Yes       No         a. If you answered yes to Q7, which class do you think this shopping mall belongs to? Good       No         8. TOURISTS ONLY: how does the air in this shopping mall compare to the indoor air of malls in your countre       Better       Similar       Worse         9. According to your personal standards, is the air in this shopping mall satisfactory? Yes       No       Don't know         10. Rate the indoor air quality in this shopping mall (1 being the best & 7 being the worst):       Go       Go         3est − 1       2       3       4       5       6         11. Rate the outdoor air quality or shopping mall affect the amount of money you spend?       Yes       No       So         3est − 1       2       3       4       5       6       Go         12. Does the indoor air quality of shopping mall affect the amount of money you spend?       Yes       No       So       So         a. If you answered yes to Q12, if the indoor air quality were improved in this mall, how would it affect th money you spend? (circle one)       -90%       -70%       -50%       -30%       -10%       +10%       +30%       +50%       +70%         -1000%       -80%       -60%       -40% </td <td></td>		
Nave you heard of the Indoor Air Quality Certification Scheme?         No         According to you sto Q7, which class do you think this shopping mall belongs to?         Good       Excellent       Uncertified       Don't         Better       Similar       Worse         9. According to your personal standards, is the air in this shopping mall satisfactory?       Yes       No       Don't know         10. Rate the indoor air quality in this shopping mall (1 being the best & 7 being the worst):       Gest - 1       2       3       4       5         3est - 1       2       3       4       5       6         11. Rate the outdoor air quality around this shopping mall (1 being the best & 7 being the worst):       3       6         12. Does the indoor air quality of shopping mall affect the amount of money you spend?       Yes       No         a. If you answered yes to Q12, if the indoor air quality were improved in this mall, how would it affect th money you spend? (circle one)       -90%       -70%       -50%       -100%       +10%       +40%        +60% <th co<="" td=""><td>7 – Too cold</td></th>	<td>7 – Too cold</td>	7 – Too cold
<ul> <li>8. TOURISTS ONLY: how does the air in this shopping mall compare to the indoor air of malls in your countribution of the shopping to your personal standards, is the air in this shopping mall satisfactory? <ul> <li>Yes</li> <li>No</li> </ul> </li> <li>10. Rate the indoor air quality in this shopping mall (1 being the best &amp; 7 being the worst):</li> <li>3est -1</li> <li>2</li> <li>3</li> <li>4</li> <li>5</li> <li>6</li> </ul> <li>11. Rate the outdoor air quality around this shopping mall (1 being the best &amp; 7 being the worst):</li> <li>3est -1</li> <li>2</li> <li>3</li> <li>4</li> <li>5</li> <li>6</li> <li>12. Does the indoor air quality of shopping mall affect the amount of money you spend? <ul> <li>Yes</li> <li>No</li> </ul> </li> <li>a. If you answered yes to Q12, if the indoor air quality were improved in this mall, how would it affect the money you spend? (circle one) <ul> <li>-90%</li> <li>-70%</li> <li>-50%</li> <li>-30%</li> <li>-10%</li> <li>+10%</li> <li>+30%</li> <li>+50%</li> <li>+70%</li> </ul> </li>	: know	
Better     Similar     Worse       9. According to your personal standards, is the air in this shopping mall staisfactory?     No     Don't know       10. Rate the indoor air quality in this shopping mall (1 being the best & 7 being the worst):     3est - 1     2     3     4     5     6       11. Rate the outdoor air quality around this shopping mall (1 being the best & 7 being the worst):     3est - 1     2     3     4     5     6       12. Does the indoor air quality of shopping mall affect the amount of money you spend?     Yes     No     1       a. If you answered yes to Q12, if the indoor air quality were improved in this mall, how would it affect the money you spend? (circle one)     -90%     -70%     -50%     -30%     -10%     +10%     +30%     +50%     +70%       -100%     -80%     -60%     -40%     -20%     no effect     +20%     +40%     +60%     +80%	ry?	
<ul> <li>9. According to your personal standards, is the air in this shopping mall satisfactory? Yes No Don't know </li> <li>10. Rate the indoor air quality in this shopping mall (1 being the best &amp; 7 being the worst): </li> <li>3est - 1 2 3 4 5 6 </li> <li>11. Rate the outdoor air quality around this shopping mall (1 being the best &amp; 7 being the worst): </li> <li>3est - 1 2 3 4 5 6 </li> <li>12. Does the indoor air quality of shopping mall affect the amount of money you spend? Yes No a. If you answered yes to Q12, if the indoor air quality were improved in this mall, how would it affect the money you spend? (circle one)  -90% -70% -50% -30% -10% +10% +30% +50% +70% +70% +10% +30% +50% +20% +80% +80%</li></ul>		
NoItesLon 1 this10. Rate the indoor air quality in this shopping mall (1 being the best & 7 being the worst):Best $-1$ 2345611. Rate the outdoor air quality around this shopping mall (1 being the best & 7 being the worst):Best $-1$ 2345612. Does the indoor air quality of shopping mall affect the amount of money you spend?YesNoa. If you answered yes to Q12, if the indoor air quality were improved in this mall, how would it affect the money you spend? (circle one)-90%-70%-50%-100%-80%-60%-100%-80%-60%-100%-80%-100%-80%-100%-80%-100%-80%-90%-100%-80%-100%-80%-100%-80%-100%-80%-100% <td colspa<="" td=""><td></td></td>	<td></td>	
Best -12345611. Rate the outdoor air quality around this shopping mall (1 being the best & 7 being the worst):Best -12345612. Does the indoor air quality of shopping mall affect the amount of money you spend?YesNoa. If you answered yes to Q12, if the indoor air quality were improved in this mall, how would it affect the money you spend? (circle one)-90%-70%-50%-30%-10%+10%+30%+50%+70%-100%-80%-60%-40%-20%no effect+20%+40%+60%+80%		
11. Rate the outdoor air quality around this shopping mall (1 being the best & 7 being the worst):         Best - 1       2       3       4       5       6         12. Does the indoor air quality of shopping mall affect the amount of money you spend? Yes       No         a. If you answered yes to Q12, if the indoor air quality were improved in this mall, how would it affect the money you spend? (circle one)       -90%       -70%       -50%       -30%       -10%       +10%       +30%       +50%       +70%         -100%       -80%       -60%       -40%       -20%       no effect       +20%       +40%       +60%       +80%	7 – Worst	
Best - 1     2     3     4     5     6       12. Does the indoor air quality of shopping mall affect the amount of money you spend?     Yes     No       A if you answered yes to Q12, if the indoor air quality were improved in this mall, how would it affect the money you spend? (circle one)       -90%     -70%     -50%     -30%     -10%     +10%     +30%     +50%     +70%       -100%     -80%     -60%     -40%     -20%     no effect     +20%     +40%     +60%     +80%		
12. Does the indoor air quality of shopping mall affect the amount of money you spend? Yes No a. If you answered yes to Q12, if the indoor air quality were improved in this mall, how would it affect the money you spend? (circle one) -90% -70% -50% -30% -10% +10% +30% +50% +70% -100% -80% -60% -40% -20% no effect +20% +40% +60% +80%	7 – Worst	
Yes         No           a.         If you answered yes to Q12, if the indoor air quality were improved in this mall, how would it affect th money you spend? (circle one)           -90%         -70%         -50%         -30%         -10%         +10%         +30%         +50%         +70%           -100%         -80%         -60%         -40%         -20%         no effect         +20%         +40%         +60%         +80%	100 CORRECTION AND A CORRECT	
a. If you answered yes to Q12, if the indoor air quality were improved in this mall, how would it affect th money you spend? (circle one)         -90%       -70%       -50%       -30%       -10%       +10%       +30%       +50%       +70%         -90%       -70%       -50%       -30%       -10%       +10%       +30%       +50%       +70%         -100%       -80%       -60%       -40%       -20%       no effect       +20%       +40%       +60%       +80%		
-90% -70% -50% -30% -10% +10% +30% +50% +70%	e amount of	
-100% -80% -60% -40% -20% no effect +20% +40% +60% +80	+90%	
-100% -00% -00% -40% -20% NO Ellect +20% +40% +60% +60	0% +100%	
12 Are you interested in courses on indoor air quality in (check all that apply):	0% +100%	
Management Improvement Principle Standar	rds	
Schools Shopping Malls Offices Others	Others	
dditional Comments (i.e. how to promote or improve indoor air quality):		

Figure B.1: Questionnaire English Version

# 宝内空氛問券調杏

人資	i料			<b>—</b> /			
1.	性別		. =				-
2.	平原	□ <2		」21-35 ∐ 30 ] 游安/圃安,	- 45	40-04 L	2 05
5. 4.	后 正地力 今 天 你 會 在	□ □ 盲個商場花名小	時間?	应召(國家:		)	
	77 <b>1</b> 7 <b>1</b> 7						
三氣質	(素	when the other from the state for	Let 1.1 m / she the				
1. 十分7	這個商場的	室闪空氣質紊怎 2	樣地影響您? 2	∧ 高冊影響	5	6	7 _ 十公刍而
2	□□ ± 室内空気的	流通程度?	5	4 <b>E</b> / ((1)) - <b>E</b>	3	0	,「万英田
大动_	王(J工小)(J	2	3	4_ 合谪	5	6	7_ 沒有任何流通
3	<b>室</b> 内空复的		3	4-12	5	U	7 - 仅用任何初期
泪禾	1	2	2	4 宣毎田吐	E	G	7 更吐器舌
<b>以由</b> 一	<b>室</b> 内空氫的	∠ 濕潤程度?	5	4- 笔無共外	5	0	7-共"水瓜里
生。		2	2	1 △海	c	E	7 北省志福
11-70-A	m孫−1 這商場的室	∠ 内泅度乍槎抽影	。 靈到您?	4 - 더 개혁	3	0	7
上公元		7 11皿/文心标/西水/	5 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	A 宣 毎 慰 郷	5	6	7_ 上公合而
6	「回-」 這商場的室	<b>人</b> 泅度是否過冷	J 可调数?	4- 毛黑影音	5	0	7-1万頁曲
<b>弱</b> 裁	1.	улш/ <u>с</u> , с ц л <u>э</u> , с	3	1 _ 今通	5	6	7. 뒚込
7	作有沒有麵	過安內容氫質素	協定計劃2	· L1.45	5	0	1 400.1.4
8.	良 如果你是遊	好 客,這商場的空	氣質素比貴國	卓越 國的商場的室內空氣質	未經 質素		不知道
0	3 相據你個人	于 運動通進 你谋	音言高揚的:	左个多 京山容复质事哺2			差
5,		리 / 100	100 x 101 101 - 30 11 1 3	否		7	下知道
10.	請給這商場	的室内空氣質素	評分 (1 代表	很好 & 7 代表很差):			
退好-	- 1	2	3	4	5	6	7 - 很差
11.	請給這商場	附近的室外空氣	質素評分(1	代表很好&7代表很	差):		
很好-	- 1	2	3	4	5	6	7 - 很差
12.	這個商場的	室内空氣質素會	否影響你的》	肖費嗎?		ment A	
	the FE day the	留 田安内水気所ま	ゆネフルーム	状態更な肥う		个曾	
a.	如朱曾,如	未至內全飛貝系 -70% -50	以音」,小曾· Ⅰ% -309	化質史夕吗? 6 -10% +10	0% +30%	+50%	+70% +90%
-1C	00% -809	% -60%	-40%	-20% 沒有效果	+20%	+40% +60	)% +80% +100
13.	您是否有興	趣以下有關室內	空氣質素的語	课程 (請選擇適合的):			
	□ 管理		□ 改善方	法	理論		標準
	□ 學校		□商場		辦公室		其他
		口油去古人主要由	穴岛啠 <del>昌</del> )·				
他意	見(例如:如何	促進或以音至內	工术员里广				
他意	見(例如:如何	促進或以苦至內	工术员里/·				

Figure B.2: Questionnaire Chinese Version

# Appendix C: Summary of Inferential Statistics

# **Explanation of inferential statistics**

"Inferential statistics are the statistical procedures that are used to reach conclusions about associations between variables" (Bhattacherjee 2012). They make conclusions, or inferences, about a population from observations of a sample. In inferential statistics, "the results of an analysis using a sample can [be] generalize[d]...to the larger population that the sample represents" (Crossman, 2014). Inferential statistics "are explicitly designed to test hypotheses" (Bhattacherjee 2012). Hypotheses can only be rejected with contrary evidence and also cannot be accepted. Because a hypothesis of interest, or an alternative hypothesis, cannot be accepted, a null hypothesis is created as the opposite of the alternative hypothesis. Evidence is used to reject the null hypothesis to support indirectly the alternative hypothesis. Inferential statistics are never deterministic but always probabilistic because the dependent variable could be affected by many extraneous factors (Bhattacherjee, 2012). The statistical tests described in the methodology are based on inferential statistics.

#### **Explanation of descriptive statistics**

Descriptive statistics are statistical procedures that visualize, describe, or summarize data (Crossman, 2014; Laerd Statistics, 2013b). Descriptive statistics include measures of central tendency and measures of spread. Measures of central tendency describe "the central position of a frequency distribution for a group of data" (e.g. mean, median, mode) (Laerd Statistics, 2013b). Measures of spread summarize "a group of data by describing how spread out the scores are" (e.g. range, quartiles, range, variance, standard deviation) (Laerd Statistics, 2013b). Descriptive statistics can only describe the data collected and cannot make any conclusions past the data (Crossman, 2014; Laerd Statistics, 2013b).

# **Explanation of statistical terms:**

#### Significance level ( $\alpha$ )

The significance level,  $\alpha$ , is "a fixed probability of wrongly rejecting the null hypothesis...if it is in fact true (Easton & McColl, n.d.a). In other words, it is "the maximum level of risk that we are willing to take that our inference is incorrect" (Bhattacherjee, 2012). The standard convention is to set the significance level to  $\alpha$ =0.05 (Easton & Mccoll, n.d.a).

#### p-value (p)

The p-value, or p, is "[t]he probability that a statistical inference is caused [by] pure chance." If the p-value is less than the significance level  $\alpha$ =0.05, there is "enough statistical evidence to reject the null hypothesis and thereby, indirectly accept[ing] the alternative hypothesis." If the p-value is greater than  $\alpha$ =0.05, there is not enough statistical evidence to reject the null hypothesis (Bhattacherjee, 2012).

#### Independent variable & dependent variable

"In an experiment, the *independent variable* is the variable that is varied or manipulated by the researcher, and the *dependent variable* is the response that is measured. An *independent variable* is the presumed cause, whereas the *dependent variable* is the presumed effect" (Collier, n.d). The dependent variable is a variable that depends on an independent variable (Laerd Statistics, 2013g).

# Independent sample & dependent sample

"Independent samples imply that the choice of subjects for one group, or sample, does not depend on who is in the other group, or sample. Dependent samples occur when there is a natural matching between the subjects in one sample and the subjects in the other sample." For example, if the same individual is surveyed at two different malls, the scores for the two malls would be dependent (Harring, n.d.).

Null hypothesis (H<sub>0</sub>) & alternative hypothesis (H<sub>1</sub>)

"The alternative hypothesis,  $H_1$ , is a statement of what a statistical hypothesis test is set up to establish." "The null hypothesis,  $H_0$ , represents a theory that has been put forward...because it is to be used as a basis for argument, but has not been proved" (Easton & McColl, n.d.a).  $H_0$  for Objective 1 of this project is that people cannot distinguish a difference in IAQ of certified and uncertified malls.  $H_1$  is that people can distinguish a difference in IAQ of certified and uncertified malls.  $H_0$  is either rejected in statistical tests are always shown in terms of the null hypothesis.  $H_0$  is either rejected in favor of  $H_1$  or is not rejected. If  $H_0$  is not rejected, "this does not necessarily mean that the null hypothesis is true, it only suggests that there is not sufficient evidence against  $H_0$ in favour of  $H_1$ ." If  $H_0$  is rejected, this means that the  $H_1$  might be true (Easton & McColl, n.d.a).

### Variance

"The (population) variance of a random variable is a non-negative number which gives an idea of how widely spread the values of the random variable are likely to be; the larger the variance, the more scattered the observations on average." Variance is the squared value of the standard deviation (Easton & McColl, n.d.b)

# Post-hoc test

Post-hoc is a Latin phrase meaning "after this." Post-hoc tests are performed after tests that determined the distribution of groups are statistically different. The post-hoc tests determine which pairs of values are statistically different from one another (Fernald, 2012)

Parametric test & nonparametric test

"A parametric statistical test is one that makes assumptions about the parameters (defining properties) of the population distribution(s) from which one's data are drawn, while a non-parametric test is one that makes no such assumptions." Some parametric tests, such as t-tests and ANOVA, assume that the source population is normally distributed. A non-parametric test does not make such assumptions. Some examples of non-parametric tests are the chi-square test for association, Kruskal-Wallis test, Wilcoxon-Mann-Whitney test (Lowry, 2013b).

# Outlier

"An outlier is an observation that lies outside the overall pattern of a distribution" (Renze, 2014)

# **Cross Tabulation**

A cross tabulation, also known as a contingency table, is used to analyze categorical data. It is a two dimensional table that records the frequency of response (Qualtrics, 2011). Examples of cross tabulations are Tables 4.17 and 4.19.

# Mean Ranks

Mean Ranks are used in the Mann-Whitney test. In determining mean ranks, all the values are ranked from low to high, disregarding to which group each value belongs. The lowest value is assigned a rank of "1." The greatest number is a signed a rank of "n," where "n" is the total number of values in both groups. The ranks are averaged in each group, and the averages are the mean ranks. If the mean ranks of both groups have a large difference, the p-value will be small (GraphPad Software, 2013).

### **Explanation of statistical tests**

#### Analysis of variance (ANOVA)

The one-way ANOVA a statistical test used to determine whether or not there are statistical differences among the averages of three more independent groups. However, the one-way ANOVA cannot determine which groups are statistically different, and Tukey's HSD test is required to do so (Laerd Statistics, 2013f). ANOVA assumes that the dependent variable has propertied of an interval scale; that the samples are randomly and independently collected from the population; that each group's data are normally distributed; that the groups have approximately variances; and that there are no outliers in any of the groups (Laerd Statistics, 2013a; Lowry, 2013a).

# Tukey's HSD test

The Tukey's HSD test is a post-hoc test that is conducted after there are statistical differences found among the groups by ANOVA. The Tukey's HSD test determines which two groups are statistically different (Laerd Statistics, 2013f).

# Kruskal-Wallis test & pairwise post-hoc test

"The Kruskal-Wallis test is the non-parametric alternative to the one-way ANOVA and is used to determine whether there are any statistically significant differences between the distributions [or medians] of three or more independent (unrelated) groups." The only assumption for the Kruskal-Wallis test to give a valid result is that "the shape of the distribution of scores in each group should be the same" or similar. If the Kruskal-Wallis test determined that there are significant differences, a pairwise comparisons post-hoc test was conducted to see which pairs differed (Laerd, 2013d). Similar to ANOVA, "[t]he independent-samples t-test is used to determine if a [statistical] difference exists between the means of two independent groups on a continuous dependent variable. The independent sample t-test assumes that the variable is continuous and dependent; that the independent variable is categorical with only two groups, that the samples were independently and randomly selected; that there are be no outliers in the two groups of the independent variable with respect to the dependent variable; that the dependent variable is approximately normally distributed for each independent group; and that the variance is the same in each independent group (Laerd, 2013c).

Chi-square test for association

"The chi-square test for association tests for whether two categorical variables are associated. Another way to phrase this is that this test determines whether two variables are statistically independent" (Laerd, 2013a). The assumptions chi-square test are that the two variables being tested are nominal; that there are two or more groups in each variable; that each sample is independent; and "that no more than 20% of the expected counts are less than 5 and all individual expected counts are 1 or greater" (Laerd, 2013a; Weaver, 2013). If the p-value is less than the significance level, then there is a statistically significant association between the variables (Laerd, 2013a).

# Mann-Whitney U test

The Mann-Whitney test is the non-parametric alternative test to the independent-samples t-test. The assumptions of the test are that there are only two variables, one dependent variable continuous or ordinal and one independent variable that has two categorical and independent groups; that the samples were independently and randomly drawn; and that the distributions for both independent groups have similar shape. The test determines if a statistical difference exists between the medians of two independent groups on a continuous dependent variable, if the assumptions are not violated. If the only assumption that distributions of the two groups are similar is violated, the test determines whether the mean ranks/distributions are statistically different (Laerd, 2013c).